
 

May 12, 2023 

 

To,  

National Stock Exchange of India Limited 

Exchange Plaza 

Plot no. C/1, G Block 

Bandra-Kurla Complex, Bandra (East) 

Mumbai 400051 

 

Dear Sir, 

 

NSE Symbol: IRBIT / Series: IV 

 

Subject: Outcome of the Board Meeting of Investment Manager of “IRB Infrastructure Trust” 

held on May 12, 2023 

 

This is to inform you that the Board of Directors of Investment Manager of IRB Infrastructure trust 

(“the Trust”) at its meeting held on May 12, 2023, has inter alia considered and approved the Audited 

Standalone and consolidated Financial Results of the Trust for the half year and financial year ended 

March 31, 2023 along with Audit Report. 

 

Pursuant to Regulation 10 of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulation, 2014, the Net Asset 

Value are disclosed in the financials of the Trust. 

 

The corporate presentation would be uploaded on the website of the Trust subsequently. 

 

Kindly take the same on record. 

 

For MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(in its capacity as Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

 

 

Kaustubh Shevade 

Company Secretary 

 

Encl.: As above. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE HALF YEA RLY AND YEAR TO 

DATE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS OF T H E IRE INFRASTRUCTURE 

T RUST 

(pllr~III1J/1 to nXlllafio ll 23 (!f f/,(' SFRI (/1I/m:,lrucfllrl' /1/(1(':; /1 111'111 T/"IIM~) /~('gll/rl l i{"l/I, lOH, 1/:­

III/II'lIdt'l l) 

To, 

T he Board of Directors, 

MMK Toll Road Pri vate Li mited, 

(" the Investmen t Manage r Lo the Trust") 

Off No-11th Floor/ 110'1, J-liranandani Knowledge Pa rk, 

Techno logy Sb'eet, Hi ll Side Avenue, 

Powai, Mumbai 400 076 Ma harashtra, India 

REPO RT ON TH E AUDIT OFTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS 

OPINION 

We ha ve aud ited the accompanying Sta tement of Consolidated financia l results o f IRB 

Infrastru cture Trus t ("the IllviT" or " the Trus t") and its su bsidiaries (the Trus t and its 

subsid iaries together referred to as " the G rou p") consisting of the Consolidated Sta tement 

of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, Exp lana tory No les thereto and 

the add itiona l disclosure as required in paragraph 6 of Annexu re A to the SEBI Ci rcu lar 

No. CIR/ IMD/ DF/ 127/ 2016 dated November 29,2016 ("SEBI Circular") fo r the half year 

and for the year ended March 31, 2023 ("the s tatement"), attached herewith, being 

submitted by the Trust pursuant to the req uiremen ts of Regulation 23 of the SEB! 
(Infras tructu re Inves tment Trusts) Regulation, 2014, as amended from time to time read 

with SEBI circu lar (" ln vIT Regulations"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations g iven 

to us, and based on the consideration of the reports of the o ther auditors on sepa ra te 

financial s tatements / financial information of subsidia ries (refer oUler matler paras), the 

Sta tement, 

a. includes the res ults of the Group comprising of followi.ng entities: 

Holding Entity, IRS Infrastructure Trust and its 

Subsidiaries audited by us 

'1. IRS Westcoast Tollway Limited 

2. Udaipur Tolhvay Lim.i ted 

3. CG TolJway Limited 

tet .. (022) 43484 242 1 office@gokhales3 theln 



-i . KishclllgiH h Gu labpuri'l To llway Lim ited 

5. IRB H apu !" Moradabild To ll wClY Limi ted 

togeth er w ith fo llowing Subsidiaries aud ited by Other Audi tors 

6. Yedeshi i\urilngabad Toll way Limited 

7. So lapul' Ycdeshi Tollway Li mited 

8. KaitlMI 1"ollwCl)' L imi ted 

9. A E TollwilY Limited 

10. Pals il Dallkuni Tollway Private Limi ted w.d. April 2, 2022 
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b. is presented in accord a nce wit h the rC(lu irements of Regulat ion 23 of the SEBI 

(Infrast rucl'll re In vestmen t Trusts) I~egu latio ll , 2014, as amendC(1 a nd read with SEBI 

Circular No. ClR/ IMDj DF / 127 / 2016 dated November 29, 20"1 6, in this regard; and 

c. gives a tru c and fair view in con fo rm ity wi th the a pplicable accou nting s l<lnda rds, a nd 

other i'lcco unli ng principles general ly accepted in India, of the Consolidated Net Loss 

and Co nsolidated Total Co mprehensive Loss and Other Financial Information of the 

Gro up (o r the ha lf year and year ended March 31,2023. 

BASIS FOR OPIN ION 

We cond ucted our audi t in accordance with the Sta ndards on Auditing (SAs) issued by 

Institute of Cha rtered Accou ntan ts of India (" ICAI"). Our respons ibilities under th ose 

Stan dards a re further d escribed in the" Auditor's Respons ibi lities fo r the Audit of the 

Consolidated Fi nancial Results" section of our repo rt. We are independent of the Group in 

acco rdance with the "Code of Ethics" issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

Ind ia together with the ethica l requirements that a re relevant to our (l udit of the financial 

statemenls und er the prov isions of the InvfT Regulations, and we have ful fi lled our othe r 

ethical responsibi lit ies in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics . We 

believe Ula t the a udit evidence we have obta ined is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

bas is fo r our audit opin ion. 

MANAGEM ENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT 

The Statement has bee n prepared on the basis of th e Conso lida ted Annual Financia l 

Sta tements. Management of the investment manager ('the Management') is responsible for 

the preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fai r view of the 

Consolidated Net Loss and Total Comprehensive Loss and othe r fina ncial in fo rmation of 

the Group in accordance with the requi rements of the InvlT regulations; Ind ian 

Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 20·15 (as amended ) and ot her accounting principles genera lly accepted 

in India, to the extent no t in co nsistent with th e InvlT Regulations. The respecti ve 

Management and 130ard of Directors of the companies induded in th e Group are 
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respo nsible for tllainle n <'lnce of "de...luate fl ccounting records for silfeguardi ng of the assets 

o f th e G ro up <t llci (or p reven ting and detecting frau ds an d o lher irregularities; sele.:tion 

a nd application o f <lppro p ria te accounting policies; maki ng judgments and estimates th a t 

are reasona ble and pru dent; and the dcsign, im p le men tation ilnd maintenance o f adequate 

inte rnal financia l co n t rols, thai were opera ti ng effectively for ens uring accuracy and 

co m p leteness o f the accollnting records, rcleviln t to the preparatio n and p resentat ion of 

the Sta te me n t thai g ive {l ITue a nd fa ir vicw ,m d are free fro m ma te ria l missta teme nt, 

whether du e to frCl ud or error, which have been used for the pur pose of p rep,1I"ation of the 

sta temen t by the Ma nagemen t, as aforesaid. 

In pre pa ring the Statement , the management and respecti ve Board of Directo rs of the 

companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 

continue as a going co ncern, disclosing, as ap plicable, matters re lated to going co ncern 

and using the go ing concern basis of accounting unless the respective HOMd of Directors 

e ither in tends to liq uida te the Group or to cease ope rations, o r has no realis tic alterna ti ve 

but to do so . 

The Manage ment an d the respective BOi1 rd of Directors of the co mpanies included in the 

Group a rc res ponsible for overseeing the fina ncia l reporti ng process of the Group. 

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBI LITI ES FOR T H E AUDIT OF TH E CONSOLIDATED 

FIN ANCIAL RESULTS 

O ur objectives are to obta in reasona ble assurance about whether the Sta temen t as a whole 

is free fro m materia l missta temen t, whether du e to fraud o r e rror, and to issue an 

aud itor's repo rt tha t incl ud es our opinion. Reasonable assu rance is a high level of 

assurance but is 110t a gua rantee that an aud it co nducted in acco rda nce with SAs w ill 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can a rise from fra ud 

or e rror and are considered mate ria l if, individua lly o r in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to in fluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these Statement. 

As part of an audit in accorda nce with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and 

main ta in profess ional skepticism thro ughou t the audit. We a lso; 

• Identify ,md assess th e risks of materia l missta tement of the Sta tement, whether due to 

frau d or error, design and perfo rm aud it proced ures responsive to those ris ks, and 

obta in a udi t evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis fo r our 

opinion. The risk of not detecting a ma terial misstatement resulti ng from fraud is 

higher tha n fo r one resulting from e rror, as frau d may involve coll us ion, forgery, 

intentiona l omiss ions, misrepresentations, o r the override of internal control . 

• Obtain an und ersta nd ing of in te rna l contro l re levant to the audit in order to design 

au dit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, bU l nOl for the purpose of 

expressing our opin ion on the effectiveness of the en tity's intern al contro ls. 



• 

• 

gokhale & sathe 
(regd.) 

chanered accountants 

Evaluate the f'lppropriatcncss of accounting policies used and the reasonableness o f 

Clccounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude o n the " pp ropriateness of the Management's use of the goi ng concern basis 

o f account ing and , based on the audit evidence obta ined , whe the r a mate ri el ] 

uncerta inty ex is ts re la ted to events or conditio ns tha I may cast sig nifi can t doubt on the 

<lbili !), of the G roup to conti nue as a going concern . If we conclud e tha t a material 

u ll cerl {l inly ex ists, we are requi red to draw attention in our audi tor 's repo rt to t he 

rel ated disc losures in the Sta tement or, i f such disclosures in c inadeq ua te, to modify 

our opinio n. O ur co nclus ions iHe based o n the audit evidence o bta ined up to the date 

of o u r a ud ito r's re po rt. Howeve r, future events o r conditions may ca use the Group to 

cease to con tinue as a going co ncern . 

• Eva lu ate the overa ll presentatio n, s tructure and content o f the Stateme nts, includin g 

the disclosures, and whether th e State ment represent the underly ing transactio ns a nd 

e vents in a ma nner tha t ach ieves fai r presentation. 

• Obta in suffi cient appro priate a udit evid ence regarding the finan cial info nnation of the 

en tities o r business activ ities with in the Group to express an opini on o n t he 

Consolidated Financial Statements. For co mpanies includ ed in the Consolidated 

Financial State me nl5 of w hich we arc the independe nt au ditors. For companies 

included in the Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been aud ited by othe r 

auditors, such othe r audito rs remain responsible fo r the d irection, s uperv ision and 

performance o f the audits carried ou t by them. We remain so lely res ponsible for ou r 

opinio n. 

We co mmun icate wi lh those cha rged with governance of the I llVIT and such othe r en til"ies 

included in the Statements of wh ich we arc the inde pendent audito rs regarding, among other 

ma tters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, incl ud ing 

any sign ificant deficiencies in in terna l contro llhat we identify during our aud it. 

We a lso p rov ide those cha rged w ith governance w ith a s tatement that we have complied with 

re levant ethical requ irements regard ing independence, and to communicate w ith them all 

relationships and o ther matters that may reasonably be thought to bea r on o ur independence, 

and where applicable, re lated safeguards, 

OTHER MAlTERS 

1. We did not audit the Fi nancial State ments of 5 subsidiaries audited by Othe r Auditors as 

lis ted at Sr. No, 6 to 10 of Clause (a .) of Opin ion Paragraph mentioned above o f whose 

Financial Statements reflect (befo re e li mina ting intra-group transactions); 

To tal Assets of lNR 1.1 3.238.70 Millio n, Net Assets of lNR 35,029.67 Million as at March 

31. 2023 and Total Revenues of INR 19,132.8"1 Million, Losses afte r taxes o f INR '1,657.28 

Million and Net Cash Inflows amountin g 1"0 INR 201 .07 Million fo r the yea r ended on 

Ma rch 3'1, 2023. as considered in Stateme nt. These Fi nancia l Stateme nts have been aud ited 
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by o lher ilUdito r whose reports IHlve been turnished to us by the management and our 

opinion on the SI<'I lemcnts, in so far as it rd il tes to the (lm oull\s and discl osures includ ed 

in respec t o f these 5ubs idiClries, is based solely on the repo rts of the other Cluci ilor. Our 

o pin ion alXlVe on the consolidated financia l results is no t modi fied in respect o f the above 

ma tte rs w ith res pLxl 10 our reliance on the wo rk done <lnd the re ports oi the o the r 

audito rs. 

2. T he s t<l tc ment includes t he consolidated financial results fo r the half yeilr and for the year 

ended M arch 31, 2023 being the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect 

of the ful l financia l year ended March 31, 2023 and rev iewed unaudited yea r to date 

fig ures up to Septe m ber 30, 2022, being the date o f the end of the firs t half of the current 

fina ncia l year, w h ich were subject 10 limited rev iew as requi red und er Regula tion 33 of 

the SEBI (List ing Obli gation and Disclosure Req u ireme nls)Rcgulation, 2015. 

For COKHALE & SATHE, 

Partner 

Dale: 12th May 2023 

P lace: Mumbai 



RB 
IRB Inf rastructure Trust 

SEBI Regd. No. : IN/ INV1TI19-20/001 2 

(Rs. in millions. un less oChe rwiu sCa led) 

Audited Consolidated Fina ncial Rtsuhs (or th t hil if 'tar lind u r ended ,\ lllrt h ll . 2023 

Six 1\100lh 
Six 1\lo nlh 

Six Month Year cnded 
t fltl ed 

YClir ended 
Sc. Pa rt icularll ended I\'larch ended March March] l , 

September 30. Ma rch 31. 
N • . l l .2023 ) 1, 2022 2023 2022 2022 

(A uditttl -
( UnaudiCetl) 

(Audi led -
(A udited) ( Audited) 

Rtfe r note 3(1)) Refn n Oll' 3(li» 

I. 1ntonlu a nd f: ains 
Revenue from 0 ralions 12,766.26 14, 146.33 6,442.43 26.912.59 12,404.84 
Interest 136.03 50.02 44 .1 4 186.05 81.69 

Profit on sale of inves tments/asSetS 38.63 24.33 1.10 62.95 13.93 

Other income · 11.09 2.99 290 \4.08 4.5 1 

Totfl llncome a nd a ips 12 952.00 14.223.67 6496.58 27, 175 .67 12,504.97 

II. Ex costS ano loutS 
mtion (:.'(pcnscs" 5,423.24 7,442.28 1.083.16 12,865.52 2,029.53 

Pro'eel mana ernenl fees ],320.49 1,327.21 984.45 2.6<17.70 1,960.27 
Valuation ex "" 1.69 0.98 0.44 2.67 J.46 
Trustee Fees 3.38 2.57 1.27 5.95 4.16 
Audit fees 2.94 2.09 1.38 5.04 3. 13 
Insurance & securit expenses 13.23 1.49 0.56 14.72 J.12 

Investment rn~nasemen t fees (refer note b) 28.26 28.26 22.20 56.52 42.48 

Depl\!eia tion on property, plant tlnd equipment 0.62 0.63 0.87 1.25 1.74 

Amortisation of in tan ible assets 1.579.00 1.230. 17 96<1.55 2,809.1 7 ],673. ]6 
Finance costs Interest) 4,6 17.04 4,388.24 4.402. 18 9,005.28 8,670. J3 
Finance costs Others) '" 608.38 6<11.03 526.42 1,249.41 868.58 
Legnl and professional fees 94.19 69.38 108.7] 163.58 186.84 
Custodian Fee - 0.09 - 009 0.18 
Loss on sale of assetS 0.01 - - 0.01 -
Fai r value loss on measurement o f other payable 271.04 289.49 2,152.42 560.53 2, 16 1.31 

Other expenses .... 9.07 83.65 30.43 92.71 48.22 
Total E~ conses and losses 13,972.58 15.507.56 10,279.04 29,480.14 17,652.31 

II I. 1..055 before t!l~ for the perioo! yu r(I) · (II) (1 ,020.58) (1,283.89) (3.782.47) (2,304.47) (5,147.34) 

IV. 
ax expenses (current tax ano oel"erred 

131.03 (163.9 1) (71 \.00) (32.88) (7 11.36) 

v. Loss after lal ro r the periodl)'C'l r (III) - (IV) (1,151.61) (1,11 9.98) (3,07 1.47) (2.271.60) (4,435.98) 

VI. ItemS of Other Comprehensive Income - - - -
VI1. Total Comprehensin Income (V) .. (VI) (1 ,151.61) (1,11 9.98) (3,07 1.47) (2,271.60) (4,435.98) 

• Olher income includes fair value gain and other non·operative income . 
•• Operation expenses includes provision for major maintenance . 

••• Finance costs (Others) includes Arnonisalion of Transaction COSi, Unwinding of discount on provision of MMR, Interest unwinding on 

loan/retent ion money and Interest unwinding of Trade payable - Associates . 
.... Other e.~penscs includes relll. rates and taxes. water charges, travell ing & conveyance, director sitting fees. corporate social 

(~S~I it'cs expenditure, donation, bank charges and other miscellaneous cxpenses. 

110" '\'-o MUM~AI \(\ . ~ -q "! ~ 1-

~~", 1 .~.-
~FbA(:ci"" 

Rc oistcrcd Office: 110 1. 11'" Floor. I\!ran.md,lnl Knowledge Park. Technology Street. HIll Stde Aven ue. 
g Powai. Mumbai - 400 076. Maharashtra. India.: Tel: 022 - 673364?O: .Fax: 022 - 40.53 6699: 

[ .mail : irb infr<lS lniClUretnlst@ irb.co.in Website: www. trbtnfralrust.co. ln : 
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Notes to consolidated financial results: 

Investors can view the res ults of the IRS Infrastructure Trust ('Trust') on the Trust's website 
(www.irbinfratrust.co.in)or on the website ofNSE (www.nseindia.com). 

2 The Audited Conso lidated Financ ial Results compri ses of the Consolidated Statement of profit and 
loss (including other comprehensive income), explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as 
requ ired in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI Circular no. CIRlIMD/DFIl27/2016 dated 
Novem ber 29, 2016 ('SEBI Ci rcular') of IRS Infrastructure Trust ('Trust') for the half year and year 
ended March 3 1, 2023 ("Consolidated Financial Results") being subm itted by the Trust pursuant to the 
requ irements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as 
amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

3 (i) The hal f yearly Consolidated Financial Results for the half year ended March 3 1, 2023 are the 
derived figures between the audited fi gures in respect of the year ended March 3 1, 2023 and the 
reviewed year-to-date figures up to September 30, 2022, being the date of the end of the first half of the 
current financial year, which were subject to lim ited rev iew. The consolidated financial results for the 
half year ended March 31, 2023 and year ended March 31, 2023 have been prepared on the basis of the 
consolidated financial resu lts fo r the half year ended September 30, 2022, the audited annual 
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended March 31, 2023, and the relevant 
requirements of the SEBI (lnfrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulati ons, 2014, as amended from time 
to time read with SEBI Circu lar. 

(ii) The half yearly conso lidated financial results for the half year ended March 31, 2022 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2022 and the reviewed year­
to-date figures up to September 30, 2021, being the date of the end of the first half of the prev ious 
financial year, which were subject to limited rev icvv. 

4 The Audited Conso lidated Financial Results for th e year ended March 31, 2023 have been reviewed by 
the Audit Committee of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 12, 2023 and thereafter 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 12,2023. 

5 IR B Infrastructure Trust was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Ind ian Trusts Act, 1882 on 
August 27, 2019 and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of 
Ind ia (Infrastructure Investment Tru sts) Regulations, 2014 on November 25 , 20 19. Units of IRB 
Infrastructure Trust have been li sted on NSE on April 03, 2023 . 



Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI Circulars No. CIRlMD/DF/127!2016 

a. Net Distr ibutable Clnh Flow for the half yea r cnded March 31, 2023 

(I) IRB Infrast ructure Trust 

Sr. No. Particu lars 

, Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the foml of Interest 

2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the fonn of Dividend 
Any other incollll: accruing al the Trust level and not captured above, 

3 including bul 110t limited to imerest/Telum on surplus cash invested by the 

Trost 

4 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs IOwards the repaymem (Net) 0 

the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust 

5 Totlll (:ash innow al lhe T rusllu'cI (A) 

Less: 

6 
Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at thc Trust level, 
including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 

7 Income tax (if 8 licable) at the Standalone Trust Level 

8 Re ayment of external debt 

9 Total cash OUlnOW!' n tention a t lhe T rusl levrl (8) 

to Net Dist ribu ta ble Cash Flows (C). (A+D) 

II The same is eannarkcd towards capex for ongoing projects. 

NOle: 

Six months Sb months 
ended ended 

March 31, Septembtr 
2023# JO, 2022 

\,190.00 907.00 

· · 

0.78 0.14 

(842.00) (1,086.34) 

348.79 (179.20) 

(68.81) (44.52) 

· · 
· · 

(68.8 1) (44.52) 

279.98 (223.72) 

,""a,;,rUc'.'ur. T'f. 

(Rs. in Millions) 

Si~ months 
ended 

Year ended Year ended 
1\l a r eh 31, l\Ia rch 31, 

March3!, 
2022 

2023# 2022 

365.00 2,097.00 825.00 

· · · 
0. 11 0.92 OAO 

(485.87) ( 1,928.34) ( 1,682.67) 

(120.7S) 169.58 (857.27) 

(29.55) (113.33) (63.38) 

· · · 
· · · 

(29.55) (113.J3) (63.38) 
(150.30) 56.2S (920.65) 

Excludes interest due but nOl r«ei\'ed of Rs.922.36, Rs. l ,202.41 millions,Rs. 1,729.24 millions,Rs. 2,124.77 millions and Rs. 3,375 Millions for the six 
months ended March 3 I, 2023, six months ended September 30, 2022, six months ended March 31. 2022. year ended March 3 1, 2023 and )'car ended 

March 31, 2022. 

2 Netted _ off with disbursement of shorl-term unsecured loan to project SPVs. (Refer RPT disclosures of standalolle financial results). 

f 

, 
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(ii) IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWC) 
(R . M·W ) S. 10 I Ions 

Six Months Six months Six months Yea r Year 

Sr. Description 
ended ended cnded ended cnded 

No. March 31, September March 3 1, March 31, March 31, 
2023 30,2022 2022 2023 2022 

I profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (526.73) (609.20) (369.09) ( 1, 135.93) (8 15.33) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement 0 

85.80 78.94 70.66 164.74 113.19 
Iprofit and loss 

Add/less : Any other item of non-cash expense I non 

3 cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), i 67.48 69 .83 47.26 137.31 64.76 

deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 264.60 265.58 246.79 530.1 8 491.3 7 

5 Add ;- Provision for resurfacing expe nses Net) · · 

6 Less: Principal repayment o f external debt 44 .26 26 .7 1 56.6 1 70.97) (86.97) 

7 Less: Tax oaid · · 

8 Less: Creation of MMRA · · 

9 Less: Caoital expenditure towards the oro"eet · · 
10 Total ad 'ustments (8) 373.62 387.64 308.10 761.26 582.35 

II Net Distributable Cash Flows (0 - A+Bl ftS3.11 (221.56 60.99 (374.67 232.98 
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(ii) Yedcshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 
(Rs. in Millions) 

Six j\'IQnth~ Six months Six months 
Year ended 

ended ended ended 
YearendI'd 

Sr. No. Description 
Murch 31, September March 3 1, 

March 31, March 31, 

2023 30,2022 2022 
2023 2022 

I Profit after lax as ()eT rofit and loss account A) ( 140.02 024.69 356.68 (264.7 1 (834.88 

2 
Add: Depreciation and anlortisation as per Statement of profit 336.33 223.66 156.73 559.99 305.02 
and loss 
Addlless: Any other item o f non·cash expense , non cash 

3 income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed 31.31 10.37 2.58 4 1.68 3.08 
ncccssarv by the Investment Manaocr 

4 Add: Interest aidl avable to the Trust 297.35 284.42 279.23 581.77 560.00 

5 Add :_ Provision for rcsurracin ex cnses Net) 54.53 54.53 51.33 109.06 102.67 

6 Less: Princi al reoayment of external debt 0.00 60.29) (210.38) 60.29) (361.08) 

7 Less: Tax aid - -
8 Less: Creation of MMRA (220.00) - (220.()0) 

9 Less: Ca ital ex nditure towards the project - -
10 Total Ad'ustments (B) 499.52 512.69 279.49 1,012.2 1 609.69 

I I Net Dist ributable Cash Flows C - A+8 359.50 388.00 77. 19 747.50 225. 19 

I . , 



InfrastructUre- Trf 

(iii) Solpaur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
(Rs. in M illions) 

Six l\Ionths Six months Six months 
ended ended rnded 

Year ended Year ended 

Sr. No. Description March 31, September March 31, 
March 31, March 31, 

2023 30,2022 2022 
2023 2022 

1 Profit af\cr tax as per rofH and loss acco unt A) 72.54 152.9 1 (2 18.25 225.45 543.70 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amort isation as per Statement of profit and 84.23 84.74 69.84 168.97 116.74 
loss 
Addfless: Any other item of non-cash e xpense I non cash income 

J (net of actual cash flows for these items), i f deemed necessary by 13.65 7. 15 3.2 1 20.80 7.61 

the Investment Manapcr 

4 Add: Interest aidloavablc 10 thc Trust 279.23 280.77 279.23 560.00 560.00 , Add :_ Provision for rcsurfacin expenses Net) 30.38 30.38 29.84 60.75 59.68 

6 Less: Princip: I re a ment of external debt 0.03 5.89 67. \0 5.86 11 1.88 

7 Less: Tax ;d . · 
8 Less: Creation of MMRA 80.00 · 80.00 

9 Less: Caoital ex nditure towards the ro·ect . · 

10 Total i\d·ustmenlS (8 327.5\ 397.15 315.02 724.66 632.15 

II Net Distributable Cas h Flows C ., (A+B 254.97 244.24 96.77 499.21 88.45 



(iii) ".ilb.1 Tollway L1 n,i t~d (KTL) 
(Rs. In Mllhons) 

Sil Montbs Sh months Sil montbs 
fndfd fndfd tnd td 

Ytar toded Yur t ud td 

Sr. No. 
Otscription 

MA rch 31, Stl,ttmhtr Marcb 31, 
Marcb31, Marcb 31. 

20ll 30 2022 2022 
2023 2022-

I profilllfter la" as , rofil lind loss aCCOllnl A 4)2.40 416.29 503.82 (848.69 896<12) 

2 Add: Dc cialion and amOf1isat ion as r Sta.l~menl of refit and loss 119.23 92.90 52.95 212 .13 52.97 

) 
Addlless: Any oth~r item of non-cash e"pense I oon cash income (nl.'l of actual cash 
flow.;; for these items), ifdecmed nCl:Cssary by th e Investment Manager 

48.51 48.46 38.4 1 96.97 77 30 

4 Add: Intere$1 aidl ble to the Trust 591.38 594.64 591 .38 1.1 8602 J 18602 

5 Add :_ I'rovision for resurfllcin " "~, Not 88.33 88.33 85.69 176.65 171 38 

6 Less: Princi al re a ment of e"ternal debt 62.96 51U9 34.98 121.25 66.45 

7 Less: Tax aid - -
S Less: Creation of MM RA -
9 LeSS: Ca ita l ~x nditur~ towards the ro'cel -
to TOlal Adustmcnt$ I) 

784.49 766.04 733.45 1.550.52 1 42 1.22 

II Net Distr ibutable Cuh Flows C - M D 352.09 349.75 229.63 70 1.83 524.80 

• Profit after lax is inclusive o f compcnsa1l0n income towa.rds toll suspensIon due to farmer.! agi tation amounLIIIS to Rs.900.90 millions. 



IRB 
IRB Infrastructure Trust 

(v) Agra Etawah Tollway Limited (AETL) 
Rs_ in Millions) 

Six l\lonths Six months Six months 
cnded cnded l'nllcd 

YClir ended Year c"tlNI 

Sr. No. 
Descript ion MaTch 31, September March 31, 

March 31, March 31, 

2023 30.2022 2022 
2023 2022· 

I Profit after lax as , roti! and loss account A) 828.97 920.161 847.90 I 749.13 1.669.85 

2 Add: De re('ialion and amortisat ion as er Statement of rollt and loss 161.97 147.74 150.20 309.71 262.06 

3 
Add/less: Any otller item of nOll-cash expense I non cash income (net of actual cash 
Oows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

16.16 1638 5.97 32.54 12.68 

4 Add: Interest aid! a 'able 10 the Trust 665.16 668.82 665.16 I 333 .98 [,333.98 

5 Add:. Provision for resurfacin ex cl1ses Not 92.91 92.91 89.29 185.82 178.57 

6 Less: Princi al re a ment of external debt 24.20 44.31 32.44 (68.51 37.63 

7 Less: Tax aid - -
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA - -
9 Less: ea ital ex nditurc towards the ro"eel - -
10 Total Ad'us\mcnts B 912.00 881.54 878.18 1.793.54 1.749.66 

1I NelDistribulable Cash "-lows (e = A+B 83.03 38.62 30.28 44.41 79.8\ 

• Profn after ta~ is inclusive of compensation income towards toll suspension due to farmers agitation amounting (0 RS.64.26 millions. 



RB 
Infrastructure Trust 

(vi) Ud.ipur Ton ... . y Limited (Ul'L) 
iI 

\'ur t ndtd Vu rcnded 
)XKriplion 

Sr. No. 
Mllrch J I, Ma rch 31, 

20B 2022 

) 
IlQ.39 164.27 



IRB 
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(v ii) Chittorgarh Gul~bpur" Toll way Limited (CGTL) 
Rs. in Millions) 

Six MO Bths Six month.' Sil month~ 
eluled elided cnded 

Year ended Year ended 

Sr. No. 
O~crilU i(ln 

Marth 31, SClllcmbcr 
Man:h 31, " larch l l, 

i\larch 31, 
2023 30,2022 2022 

2023 2022 

, ProfIt after tax as , rofil and loss a ccount A 489.94 446.73 87.19) 936,67 213.49) 

2 Add: De reeialion and amorlisation as r Statement o f rofll and loss 189.62 181 52 162.40 37U4 243.63 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non·cash expense I non cash income (ncl of aClual cash 
flows for these items), if deemed necc ssal)l by the investment Manager 

15.0S ( 125.84) 81.74 (110,79) 145.29 

, Add: Interest ;d! I'able 10 the Trus t - - - - -
5 Add :_ Provision for Resurf;!cin E, "~" Net 63.08 63.08 57.74 126. 16 76.99 

6 ~ss: Re a menl of e.~ternal debt ri nd " 43.52 35.92 46.29 79.44) 51 .48 

7 Less: Tax aid - -
8 Less: Creat ion of MMRA - -
9 Less: ea ital ex nditure towards the ro'ect -

" Total Ad' ustments B nU3 82.84 255.59 307.08 4 14.43 

11 Net Dislrlbutabl~ Cash Flow~ C -MD 26~.7 1 363.89 168.40 629.59 200.94 



IRB 
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(viii) Kishll ngarh G uL a bpura T ollw lI)' Limited (KGT L ) 
(Rs. in Millions) 

Six J\lolllhs Six months Six months 

Sr. No. 
Descri ptio ll 

f uded ended ended 
Year t rllkd Ycar elHktl 

March 31 , September March 31, 
Ma rch 31, March 31 , 

202311 30.2022# 2022 
202311 2022 

t Profi t lifter lax as rofi t and loss accoun t A 
" 

227.89 19.46 184.30 

2 Add: De recioliollllnd amort isation liS er SIMcmenl of rofil and loss 
247.35 405.09 

125.63 87.13 65.39 2 12.76 103.80 

Addlless: An)' olher item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of actual cash 
) flows for Ihese items), i f deemed necessary b y the Investment Manager 

136.95 112.40 J 12.39 249.35 174.35 

, Add: IntcrestOaid/ II -able to the Trust 
Add :_ Provision for Resurfacin E, NO' 

· . 

5 
IIses 

· . 

Less: Rc ;;;Vmcnt of external debt 

7).78 36.89 
. 

6 
rinci al 

· 110.67 

7 Less: T as a id 

20.58 15. 74) 12.5) 36.32 15.94) 

8 Less: Crcatioo of MMRA 

· · 

9 LesS: Ca ital ex nditure towards Ihe m 'eet 
· · 

to Total Ad'uSlmenlS " 
· · 

II N~I Oistrlbuta blr Cash flows 
_ A+ B 

l 15.78 220.68 165.25 536.46 262.2 1 
87.89 201.22 19.05 289. 11 142.88 

~ The sa1d funds arc earmarked towards N HAI premium pa}mcnt. 



(i,\) IRB IlR pur l\1uradllbad Tollway Li mited (IRBHI\'I) 
Rs. in Millions) 

Sil Months Six months Six months 

Sr. No. 
Oes~ripi i on 

rnd~d rndcd ended 
Year ended Year end~d 

March 31. Scplcrnhu IIlarch31, 
March 3 I, Mardi 31, 

202311 30,202211 2022 
202311 2022 

rofi l and loss accounl 
I Profi t a ner 13S (IS 

, A 2.40 

Add : Dc reciat ion and amortisation as r Sl£llemef1t or 
73.( 8) 195.05 75 .48 

2 
rofit and loss 20 1.84 

285.44 
149.94 115.89 351.78 210.21 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-l;;}Sh expense f non cash income (net of actual cash 
flows for these items), if de<:mtd necessary by the Investment Manager 

106. 18 13.84 78.60 120.02 87.52 

4 Add: Interest aidl avable to Ihe Trust 
Add :. Provision for Resurfacin E, N<I 

- - -
5 

nses 180.13 
- -

6 Less: Rcoa menl of external debt rinci al 
90.06 - 270. 19 

LesS: T(lxPaid 

65.32 69.58 II 10 134.90 

J 

11.1 0) 

Less: Creation of MMRA 

- -
• Less: Ca ita! e" nditu re towards the TO'eet 

- -
9 
10 Total Ad 'ustments B 

6 1.46 0.57 509 62.03 10.20 

" 
Net Distributable Cash Flows C - A+ B # 

361.J7 183.69 178.30 545.06 :176.43 
358.97 110.61 16.75 469.58 9.0 1 

1/ TIle said funds are eamltlrked towards balance Cape". 



IRB 
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(xl Palsit Dunkllni T ollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 
(R S. In I Ions 

Six Months 
Six months 

Description ended March 
cnded Year ended 

Sr. No. 
31,2023 

September 30, March 31, 2023# 
2022/1 

] Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (AI 622.8 1 807.88 1,430.69 

2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 76.4 1 \8.30 94.71 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of actual 
cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

106.90 86.27 193. 17 

4 Add: interest paid/payable \0 the Trust -

5 Add :_ Provision for Resurfacin Expenses (Net) -

6 Less: Repayment of external debt ( rincipa1) -
7 Less: Tax paid (256.70) ( 106.40) (363 .10) 

8 Less: Creation of MMRA -

9 Less: ea ital ex nditure towards the ro'ect (577.27) (755.72) ( 1,332.99) 

]0 Total Adjustments (8) 650.66 757,55) 1,408.21 

II Net Distributable Cash fl ows (C) A+B) 27.85) 50.33 22.48 

N The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex. 

b. Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the fees will be paid to the Investment Manager for the services 

provided by it (" Management Fees"). The Management Fees have been revised for the Financial Year with the approval of the 

Unitholders, where the votes cast by Unitholders so entitled and voting in favor of a resolution are not less than one..and-a-half times 

the votes cast against such resolution. Pursuant to a resolution of the Unitholders, the Managemcnt Fees for the Financial Year 2023 

has been revised to Rs.47.70 millions. 

] occordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration payable by the Project SPVs to the Project c. n .. 

Manager has been worked out and agrC\."'<lupon for the duration of current financial year, between the Project Manager, Investmcnt 

Manager and the respective Project SPY, on an arm's length bas is, after tak ing into account the extent of work to be done in respect of 

maintenance and other serv ices to be provided by the Project Managcr to such Projcct SPY. 



Iniraos,ruc,.,rn rf. 
d S Calemen I of Earnings per uni l 

(Rs. in M il lions,exce I for unil data) 

Six l\IOIlIhs ~ nd ~ d Sit M(""h~ r od,,, Sh Months ended Yur t nded I\br(h VUOt ended J\hrch 
PlIrlkuLan March 3 1. 2023 Septfmber 30.2022 March 31, 2022 3 1,2023 31,2022 

Loss (orlhe riod l M 
(1,15 1.6 1) ( 1.11 9.98) (3,071.41) (2,271.60) (4,43598) 

Number of units outsumding for . 
87,92,93.265 87,66,42,992 85,50,4),265 87.79,64,498 84.29,14,666 computation o(basic and diluted earnings 

hltr unit 
r unit (basic and diluted) (1.31 ) 1.28) 3.59) (2.59) (S 26) 

Uamill 

" Statement of continge nt lIabi litln . nd co "n"itrnrnts 
(Rs_ in millions) 

Contingf nt liab ilitits nol pro,'ided fur 

AS i t March 31, As a l Sfptf mbtr l O, As al J\hrfh 31 , 
p ,uliculan 202)' 21)22' 2022' 

Contingent liablliry - -

UTL, CGTL and KGTL hnvc filed Wnt petition with Hoo 'blc RIIJasth.ln High ~OUrl with p~yer to commence, paym~nt of Premium to NlIl10nal 
H' hwa s Authority of lodia (N HA1) Sl)t months post actual completion of tile prOjCl:t coostruchon wOI'k . The Hon ble High Coun prima fllCle agreed 
w:~h th: contention of Ihese companies lind had provided interim. relief from payment of pre~lum Vide judgement order daled .25th August , 202 I, the 
Hon'ble High Courl found merit In the con tention of the companies and has dlrCl:ted the pames 10 reso lve the dispute under Arbi tration. The said matter 

is currentl y pending under Arbitration. 

Comm;tm~nt5 

As ~ t Marth 31, As II I Stpttm~r 30, As at Mi rt h 31, 
P,IrI ;t ulll" 2023 2022 2022 

Estimated value of contruc:tS ;" capiUlI 14,295.07 17.199.75 625.98 
account remaining to be executed 

Tol~ l 14,295m 17 199.75 625.98 



RB 
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r. Statement of Related party t ransactions 

I. List or Rei lItcd par lies 

List (l r IIssocill lCS, p romote rs, di rectors a nd 1I1rlners of the "enons mentioncll in claose (I) a nd (ii) 

Particulars 
IRB Infrastructu re Dcnlopcrs Limited (Sponsor i\1 ,\1K Toll Road Priva te Li mi ttd (In"UIIIICn! 

lOBI T rusteeship Sen 'itt$ 
Lim ited ( Trustee of IRS 

Promoters 

Directors 

ASSOCIates 

and Proj t(1 M:m agcr) Manager) 
I nrraslru ctu~ T rusl) 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar IRa Inrrastructure De"elopers limited (lRIllDL) lOBI Balik Limited 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 
Mr. V irendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar M,. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Dcepali V. Mhaisknr M,. KunnaS3g3ran Chinniah 

Mr. lose Tamar!l Martel Goncer 
Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal 

Independent Directors indt'pt'ml rnt Directors 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kapl(ln Mr. K G Krishnamurthy 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape 

Mr. Sandcep J. Shah 
Mrs. Priti Savla 
A} lI olding Company of Sponsor! Projec t Manager 
IRB Holding Private Limited (Formerly Mhaiskar Ventures Private I.imited) 

8) Subsidiary Companies of Sporuo r I Project I\lanager 

ProjHt s r vs 
1.IRB WestcoastTollway Limited (lRBWTL) 
2. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
3. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 
4. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 
S. AE Toll\\"ay Limited (AETL) 
6. Udaipur Tollway Limited (\ITL) 
1. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 
9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tol\way Lilllited (lRBHMTL) 
10, Palsit Dankl.lni TollwlIv Private Limited (PDTPL) 

ue Corporntion Limited 
General lnsurace Co ration 

Mr. Samuel Joseph Jebaraj 
Mr. Pradeep Kumar lain 
Mrs. Jayashree Vijay Ranude 
Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra 

r \ .. 
( 

Ms. Baljinder Kaur Mandai 

" 



RD 
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Othe rs 
1. Ideal Road Builders Private Limited ( I RBPL) 

2 . MhaiskaT Infrastructure Private Limi ted (MIPL) 

3 . Modem Road Makers Private Limited (MR.J\1PL) 

4. Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (AT RPL) 

5. A TR Infrastructure Private Limi ted (A TRFL) 
6 . IRB Infrastructure PrivUIC Limited (lRBFL) 
7. Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited (TGTRPL) 

8. Aryan In frastructure Investments Priv ate Limited (AIlPL) 

9. lRB MP Expressway Privale Limited (fonncrly known as NKT Road and Tolll'ri"'8 lc Limi ted) 

10. MMK Toll Road Privale Limi ted (MMK) 
\ 1. IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Deve lopment Company Privale Limited (IRBK) 

12. Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (A HPL) 

13. IRB Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (IRBSA) 

14. IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited (I RB Goa) 
15. IRB PS Highway Private Limited (fonnerty kno\\1I as MR.\<! Highways Private Limited) (IRBPS) 

16. IRB Ahmedabad Vadodara Super Express Tollway Private Limited (IRBA V) 
17. MRM Mining Private Limited (FomJerly "J J PalellnfrastruclUml and Engineering Private Limited") (Subsidiary of MRMPL) 

IS. GE I Expressway Private Limited (formerly known as IRB PI' Project Private Limited) 

\9. VK I E.xpressway Private Limited (V K I) 

20. Modem Estate (Par1nership Firm) 

21. Palhankot Mandi Highway Private l imited 
22. Chittoor Thachur Highway Private limited 
23. Meerut Budaun Expressway Limited· Subsidiary uplO (ktober 14 , 2022 and Entity with Joinl Control w.e.f. October 15,2022 

24. VM7 Expressway Private Limmited 
25. Samakhivali Tollwav Private Limite d w.e.r 14.03.2023 

C) Olhrr Assodale Compa nies of Sponsor f Proj tfl Manager 

I. Virendra O. Mhaiskar (HUF) 
2. VCR Toll Services Private Limited 
3. VOM Ventures Privllte Limited 
4. DEUX Fanning Films Private Limited 

5. IRB Charitable Foundation 

Key Manllgerilll personntl of Project Spy Group (Only with whom Project Spy Group had transactions duril1S the yearf then; was balance 

outstanding at Ihe year end) 

I. Ms. Shilpa Todankar 
2. Mr. Abbay Phatak (w.e.f. March 09. 2022) 

3. Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 

4. Mr. Omprakash Singh 
5. Mr. Cholldrashekhar Kaplan 
6. Mrs. Ranjana Paranjapc (w.e.f Oclober 06, 2021 ) 

7. Mrs. Ar.lIi Taskar 
S. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 

9. Mr. Amitnbh Murarka 
10. Mr. Jitendra Sharma (UpIO February 2S. 2022) 
11. Mrs. Hccna Ra 'a (unto (ktober 0 I, 2021 ) 

) 



RB 
IRS Infrastructure Trust 

Relalffi rart )' T nuSlit liollS 
(Rs. in Millions) 

Sponsor and Project Manager Fd low subsidarits (If I' r(ljed SPY Group 

S, . Particulars Six " H>n lh. SI. month. Six Month, Six month. 
Six Mo nths Yurondrd 

SI>. "", nt h. 

No. tnd ed ended 
Yur endtd Voa r end ed Yur endtd 

<"dod cnded ondt<! 
e nd ed March S"plember ~l a rch 31, 

M. reh 31. M. rob 31, March 31, Ms«h 31, 

J I , 2023 
M a«h J t, Septem ber Ma rchl l , 

3(1, 21122 2022 
20n 2022 2023 2022 

20Z) 30,2022 l OU 

- - - - - 340.85 517.84 240.52 858.69 629.52 
I Cont ract ex enses 

IRE Infrastructure Develo rs Limited - - - - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - 340.85 517,84 240.52 858,69 629.52 

1 0 ra tion & Main. Ex , m 1.368.50 1,350.91 93M3 2,119.4 1 1.906.45 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Develo rs Limited \ ,368.50 1)50,91 930,63 2,719.4 1 1,906.45 - - -

Finance Cos t · Inlerest unwinding "' J 
- - - 347.IS 4 17.91 43 1.28 76S.1)6 65S.79 

TMl de payable 
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - 341.15 417.91 431.28 765.06 655.79 

4 Short. term borrowin s re avment - 180.47 - 180.47 - - - - - -
IRB InfrastruClUre Develo rs Limited 18047 180.47 - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - - -

, Mobilisation advantes r« ove red 
20S.38 303.69 39.1 1 5{19.Q1 743.02 - - - -

lRB Infrastructure Develo rs Limited 205.38 303.69 39. \ I 509.07 743.02 - - -

6 ~hte rial A , a te pu n:lla~ - - - - - 212.27 37S.78 714.03 588.05 l ,5!iS.19 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - 212.27 375.78 714.03 588.05 1,555.19 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - -

, Ad"anre giv(n including BG margin 896.12 - 165.89 8%. 12 451.03 - - 62.45 62.57 

gh'en 
-

IRS InfrastrucWfe Develo rsLimited 896.12 - 165.89 896,12 451.03 - - -
Modem Road Makers Privatc Limited - - 62.45 - 62.51 

8 Genera l ad.'a nce re;:o.'e red - [ PC - - 300.83 394.25 - - - 62.48 -
lRB Infrastructure De~lo rs LimIted - 300,83 394,25 - -
Modern Road Makers Private LImited - - - - - 62.48 

9 Construction cost 
7,434.67 3,737,05 1.479.32 11,1 71 ,9l 8,4S4.71 - - - - -

IRB Infrastructure Develo rs Limited 7,434,87 3,737.05 1,479.32 11. 17l.92 8,484.71 - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limned - -

10 Amount held u 
71.68 6.13 - 77.8 1 - 10.56 64.30 4.S9 74.86 66.]4 

lRB Infrastructure [)evelo rs Limited 71.68 6.13 - 77.81 -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - ]0.56 64.30 4.59 74.86 66. 14 

II Retention l Ucid np release du ring Yta r - - - - 45.63 - - 45.63 -
IRB Infrastructure [)evelo rs Limited - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - 45.63 - 45.63 

12 Ot ll er , 'ab le 
271 .03 289.49 2,152.42 560.52 2,16 1.3 1 24.3 1 24.42 24.29 48.7) 48.71 

IRB Infrastructure Develo rsLimited 271.03 289,49 2, \52.42 560,52 2 ,161.31 -
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited - 24,29 24,42 24.29 48.71 4871 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - 0.02 - 0.02 -

13 E. n~s ineurrffl on our behalf 1.77 - 1.77 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Develo rs Limited - 1.77 1.77 - -

14 Vn~cu~rI Loan recei>'erl 1,532.48 - SH .30 1,532.48 4.759.00 - - - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 1.53248 547,30 1,532 48 4,759 ,00 -

.. , 

~/\ ~+-f>.LE&~ ~ '4> 
~ '\~ il: 'U,', ~ 
~( , " ~ r z " .., 
C"> . • '" - , 
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R~lalcd Party TranSlic lions 
(It$. in Millions) 

Sponsor and Prujttl Manager F .. IIo ... ,uMidl ries or Prujttl SPV Grou p 

S,. 
No. 

r.rlicuhlr1 Six mon. hs Si> ... o~ 'h. 
Sh M onih. 

end '" ~brch 
ended "" .. " ur ... d«l l' .... udf'lll 

SI> MOD,h, Sis ...... h . Si ... on th. 

Stpteml>e. March 11. 
1\hrch ll. M ••• " 11, 

end'" • .. d...t ~ ... Yea r ... dool Vu r endnl 

l l ,lOn lD,1021 lOU 
lOlJ lOll 

M.rc~ 11, s.p' eml>e. Maroh l l , " " ""h JI . Manh 31. 

l OB 341, lOn 2011 '''' 21m 

15 Unsecurtd Loan ~ a id 
267.50 . 267.50 · 4,828.83 

IRB lnfraslfucture Develo rs Limited 267.S0 
- -

- 267,~O 4,828.83 
- - -
· 

J6 Units b sued 
1.236.75 - 1.236.75 

IRS Infrastructure Deve!o rs Limited 1.236, 75 
1 ,9~6.13 · -

1.23675 1.946.33 
- - -

· - · 

" T rade II " ble 
212.45 - 212.45 

IRO In frastructu re Develo IS Limited 212.45 
- 12.80 

- 21245 
- 12.80 

- · · -
MMK Toll Road Private l.imited - - -
M<Xkm Rood Makers private Limil~'(\ 

- · · 
- - - - 12.80 - - 12.80 

J8 Additionalln tl n ible As,el 5.742.43 3,003.23 · 8,745.66 

IRB infTllSlru~lule Deveio nl.imited 5.742.43 3,003.23 
- - · 3,722.33 

- 8.745.66 
- 7.148.39 

Modtm Road Mn\.:eB Plivale Limited 

. · 
- - - · 3.722.33 7.14839 

J9 Dtitlion or Inlan ible ASK! - - -
Modem Road Makers Pfivale Limited 

- - ·33.7J 57. 19 

- -
· 23.46 

. - .33.73 S7.19 
· 

- 23.46 

" 
Inlel'Hl unwi nding or Inllngiblt AU('t 

. - · - . J J .7.j · 33.74 · 
Modem Rood Makers Private Limite<! - · 33.74 - 33.74 -



Rdal~d Puty l'nDsaCl ion! 

InvtSlRIeRl Manager 

S,. Puticulan Sil roo nlhs Si1 Months SI ' mQfllh$ 
No. \ 'uruded Year ended 

tnded t nded t nded Marc lo 31, Mareh 31, 
March 31, $o:pttmber l\1arch 31, 

20ll 2022 

"" 30,2022 2022 

" Trade II '. bl t · · \l.88 · 12.88 

IRB lnfrastructurt [)evelo rs Limited · · · · · 
MMK To ll Road Pri-"ale Limited · · 12.88 · 12.88 

22 Innstmcnl Ma n~ emenll-en 28.26 28.26 22.42 56.52 42.411 
MMK Toll Rood PV! Limited 28.26 28.26 22.42 56.52 42.48 

2J T rUSltt Feu · · · · · 
lOBI Trusl~shi Services limited · · · · · 

24 Direclor s illin fus aid · · · · · 
Mrs. Arali Taskar · · · · · 
Mr. Darshan Sa_n~urdekar · · · · · 
MLOm kash Sin · · · · · 
Mr. Sudhir Hoshin!! · · · · · 
Mr. Ji lendra Sharma · · · · · 
Mrs. Hrena Ra 'a · · · · · 
Mr. C S Ka tnn · · · · · 
Ms. Shi l Todan~ar · · · · · 
Mrs.Ran·ana Parao 'a · · · · · 
Mr. Abha Palhak · · · · · 
Mr. Amilabh Murarka · · · · · 

Key l\hnage Rl~nt Penon"d of I'rojecl SPV Gro up 

Sil mQfltbs Sir montlos Six I\lollths ,""" ended March ~nded I\hrth 
J l ,2023 

Sl'ptcmber J I,2022 
]0,2022 

· · · 
· · · 
· · · 
· · · 
· · · 

· · · 
· · · 

1.18 0.65 0.72 
0.04 0.03 · 
0 .13 0.08 0 .10 
0.12 0.07 0 . 11 
0.04 0.03 · 

· · 0.13 

· · · 
0.25 0.08 0.19 
0.33 0.19 0.12 
0.08 0.05 0 .05 
0.17 009 0 .02 
0.04 0.03 · 

YH r cnded 
!'obrch 31, 

2023 

· 
· 
· 

· 
· 
· 
· 

1.8) 
0.06 
0.22 
0.19 
0.06 

· 
· 

0.33 
0.51 
0.13 
0.25 
0.06 

Yu rcnded Sil1\l0nlll5 
Ml rch 31, udw 1\Iarch 

2022 J1.2023 

· · 
· · 
· · 

· · 
· · 

· J.J8 
· lJS 

1.65 

· 
0.23 
0.23 

· 
0.4 1 
0.06 
0.39 
0.26 
0 .05 
0.02 

· 

.KLI", ,J ' 

~_o>'AUMSAI(~~ 't"~\ S""~ 
~ . \. 
~ 

· 
· 
· 
· 
· 
· 
· 
· 
· 
· 
· 
· 

(R.5. In Minions) 

Trustee of IRR Infrastructu re Trust 

SiI ",oalhs 
Sit months 

ended 
Seplem~r 

ud\>d March 
31,2022 

30,2022 

· · 
· · 

· · 

· · 
· · 

1.92 0.74 
1.92 0.74 

· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 

YH r ended YH rended 
Mlrch 31, Mardi13 1, 

2023 2022 

· · 
· · 
· · 

· · 
· · 

5.30 ),33 

5.30 ) .33 

· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 
· · 

I:;' 
1m 



II L Related party balanceS 
Amt in Millions 

Sponsor and Project Manager Fellow subsidaries of Project SPY 
Group 

S,. Particulars As on As on As on As on As on Ason 

No. March 31, September March 31, March 31, September March 31, 
2023 30,2022 2022 2023 30,2022 2022 

1 Short-term borrowings 477.81 477.81 477.81 - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 477.81 477.81 477.8 1 - . -

Trade payable 4,931 .60 2,240.64 1,189.05 12,475.69 11,996.54 
2 

11,888.28 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Lim ited 4,931 .60 2,240.64 1,189.05 -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - · 12,475.69 11,996.54 11,888.28 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited - - · . - -

3 Mobilisation advances 33.68 33.68 435.80 - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 33 .68 33.68 435 .80 - - -

Advance given 451.18 429.03 502.86 0.03 0.03 0.03 
4 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 451.18 429.03 502.86 -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - 0.03 0.03 0.03 

Retention payable - 35.48 281.35 267.12 
5 

- 256.49 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited . 35.48 - - - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - 28 1.35 267.12 256.49 

Other payable including BG margin 32,246.65 31,995.62 31,711.77 3,697.39 3,673.10 3,648.68 

6 payable 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 32,246.65 31,995.62 31,71 1.77 - - -

Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - 1,800.84 1,800.83 1,800.83 

IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited - - - 1,544.86 1,544.86 1,544.86 

Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited - - · 35 1.69 327.40 302.98 

Other payable ( Exp incurred on our 1.77 1.77 1.77 - - -

7 behalf) 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 1.77 1.77 1.77 - - -

8 Unsecured Loan I other payable 4,872.91 5,140.41 3,607.93 - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 4,872.91 5,140.41 3,607.93 - - . 

9 Trade Receivable - - - 0.61 0.61 0.51 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - 0.61 0.6 1 0.51 

Expense llayable 491.53 491.53 938.23 
10 - - -

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 491.53 49 1.53 938.23 - - -



RB 
IRS Infrastructure Trust 

111. ,,' par y (Rs, in mil1 i on~l 

I "" PUSllnnel or Projec t Trus tee or fRO 
SPV Group 

S. _ Pa rticulars M:~:~ l . "" .. ," A,," Asan AJ on Ason ,\ 5 on "," 
No. September MarTh J I, March 31, September March 31, Mirth 31, September Ma n:h li. 

2013 30.2022 2022 2023 30. 2022 2022 202l )0,1012 2022 

tJIw. - ~ ~ - - - - - - -
; ; 

, ~~ ~' t---,.i 
i ~it 

~. ;, 

; § 

; ; 

, 

~ 



RB 
IRB Infrastructure Trust 

g. On Apri l 7, 2022, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementation of Palsit 
Dankun; Tollway Private Limited ('SPV') by the Trust and accordingly, the project is being executed by 
the SPY and the Trust. 

For MMK Toll Road Privale Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman 

Place: Mu mbai 
Date: May 12, 2023 



gokhaJe & sathe 
(regd.) 

chartered accountants 

30413081309, lKIyog manchr no 1, 
7-e, bhagoji keer margo 

mahim, mumbai 400 01 6. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE I-IALF YEARLY AND YEAR TO 

DATE STANDALONE FI N ANCIAL RESULTS OF THE Inn INFRASTRUcrURE 

TRUST 

(l'/l r~1II1111 10 regll/alioll 23 IlJ /II!' SEBI (I/1fm~/rll(ll/n.' l/ln:~tlllcJ/1 Tm~I~) RCglllilfioll, 20H, n;-: 

rllllt'IUieli) 

To, 

The Board of D irectors, 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited, 

(" the Inves tmen t M<mager to the Trust") 

Off No-11 th Floor / 1101 , Hi ranandani Knowled ge Pa rk, 

Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue, 

rowai, Mumb<l i 400 076 Maha rashtra , India 

REPORT ON TI-IE AUDIT OF THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL RESULTS 

OPINION 

We ha ve <'Iu dited the accompanying Sta tement o f Standalone Financial resuit of IRB 
Infrastructure Trus t ("the InvIT" or " the Trus t") consisting of the Statemen t of Profi t and 

Loss indudine O ther Comprehensive Income, Explanatory notes thereto and the 

addi tional disclosure as reguired in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEB] Circular No. 

ClR/ IMD/DF/ 127/2016 dated November 29,20]6 ("SEBI Circular") for the half yea r and 
for the year end ed March 31, 2023 ("the statement"), attached herewith, being submitted 

by the Trust pursuant to the req uirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructu re 

Investment Trusts) Regulation, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEB! 

circu lar (" Inv iT Regu lations"). 

In our opinion and to the bes t of o ur information and accord ing to thc explanations g iven 

to us, the Statemenl: 

a. are presented in accordance with U1C requi remen ts of Regulation 23 of the SEBI 

(I nfrastructure Investment Trusts) Regula tion, 2014, as amended and read vvith SEB! 

Ci rcu lar No. ClR/I MD/DF/ 127/2016 d ated November 29, 2016, in this regard; and 

b. gives a true and fair view in conform ity \'I' ith the applicable accounting s tandards, and 

other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the Net Profit and Tota l 

Comprehensive Income and 

ended March 3"1 , 2023. 

other financial information for the haH yea r and yea r 

- . . . 

leI. (022) 4J484242 I offltt@gokhalesalhe.1n 



BASIS FOR O PI N ION 

gokha\e & sathe 
(regd.) 

chartered accountants 

We conducted ou r au d it in i'lccordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by 

Institu te of Chmtered Accountan ts of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities under those 

Sta nda rds il re fu rther described in the" Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Stand alone Financia l Results" section of our report. We arc in dependent of the Trust in 

Clccord ance w ith the "Code of Ethics" iss ued by th e Ins ti tu te of Chartered Accou ntants of 

India together wi th the ethica l requiremen ts tha t are re levant to our audit of the financial 

statements u nder the p rovisions of the lnvIT Regu lations, and we have fu lfill ed ou r other 

e th ica l responsibili ties in accordance w ith these requ irements and the Code of Ethics. We 

believe tha t the audit evidence we have ob tained is sufficien t and ap propria te to provide a 

basis fo r ou r aud it opinion. 

MANAG EMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STAT EMENT 

The Sta tement has been p repmed on the basis of the Standalone Annual Financial 

Statements. Management of the Investment Manager (' the Management') is responsible 

fo r the prepara tion and presenta tion of the Standalone financial resu lts tha t give a true 

and fair view of Ule Net Profit and Total Comprehensive lncome and O ther financi al 

in formation of the Trust in accordance with the requ irements of the Inv lT regu la tions; 

Ind ian Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the com panies (Ind ian 

Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) and other accoun tin g principles 

generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent w ith the Inv lT Regulations . 

The Managemen t is responsible for main tenance of adequate accoun tin g records in 

accord ance wilh the provisions of the Act for sa feguard ing of the assets of the Trust and 

for p reven ting and detectin g fra uds and other irregulari ties; selection and application of 

appropria te accoun ting policies; making judgmen ts and estimates tha t are reasonable and 

prudent; and the design, implementa tion and main tenance of ad equate internal financial 

controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness o f the 

accoun ting records, relevan t to the prepara tion and presentation of the Sta tement tha t give 

a tru e and fai r view and are free from materia l misstatemen t, whether d ue to frau d or 

error, wh ich have been used fo r the pu rpose of prepara tion of the statemen t by the 

Management, as aforesaid . 

In p reparing the Statement, the Management is responsible for assessing the abili ty of the 

trust to conti nue as a going concern, disclosing, as app licable, matters rela ted to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accountin g u nless the Managemen t e ither 

intends to liquidate the Trust or to cease opera tions, or has no real istic alternative but to 

do so. 

The Managemen t is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Trus t. 



gokha\e & sathe 
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AuorrOH'S RESPONS IBILITI ES 

FI NANCI AL RESULTS 

FOR THE AUDIT OF TH E STA N DALONE 

QUI' o bjectives a re to o b tain reasonable assurance about whe ther the s ta tement as it who le 

,He free from mate rial misstatement, whethe r due to fraud or erro r, ;'I nl! to issue an 

audito r's repo rt tha t includes our o pinion. Reasonable assurance is a hig h level of 

ass u ran ce but is no t a guarantee tha i <ltl aud it conducted in accorda nce with SAs will 

illways detect a materia l misstatement wh en it ex is ts. Misstate men ts GIn a rise {rom frilud 

o r e rror and arc considered material if, indi vidually o r in the aggregate, they cou ld 

reasonably be expected to infl uence the eco nomic decis ions o f users taken on the basis of 

these Statement . 

As part of a n a ud it in accorct ,lnce w ith SAs, we exercise professional jud g men t <lnd 

ma inta in p rofessio n<ll s kept icis m th roug hout the au dit. We <lIsa , 

• Id ent ify and assess the risks of mate rial missta le ment of the Stalldalo ne Financia l 

Stateme nt, whether due to frau d o r error, d esig n and perform aud it procedu res 

responsive to those ris ks, and obta in aud it ev idence tha t is su ffic ient an d a pprop ria te 

to provide a bas is fo r o ur op in ion . The risk of not detecting a materia l m issta teme nt 

resu lti ng fro m fraud is higher th Cln fo r one resu lti ng from error, as frau d may invo lve 

co llu s ion, forge ry, in l'entiona l om issions, misrepresentations, or the ove rri de of 

internal contro l. 

• O btai n an unde rs tanding o f in ternal control relevant to the audit in o rde r to d esign 

a udi t procedures that are a pp ropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pu rpose o f 

ex p ressing ou r opinion o n the effectiveness of the e nti ty's internal contro ls . 

• Evaluate the appropri<lteness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and rela ted disclosu res made by the management. 

• Co nclude on the appropriateness of the Managements' use of the goi ng co ncern basis 

o f accounting and, based on the aud it evidence obtained , wheLhe r a mate rial 

uncertai nty exis ts related to events or co ndition s that may cast s ignifican t doubt on the 

abi lity of th e T rus t to con tinu e as a go ing concern. If we conclude that a mater ial 

uncertainty exis ts , we are required to draw allention in our auditor's re port to the 

related d isclosures in the Statement or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opin ion. Ou r co nclus ions are based on the audit ev id ence obtained up to the date 

o f ou r aud itor's report. However, futu re events or conditio ns may cause the T rust to 

ccase to contin ue as a going concern. 

• Evalua te the overall presentation, s tru cture and co ntent of Standalone Financial 

Results, including the disclosures, and whether the Standalone Financial Results 

re present Ihe unde rly ing transactions and events in a manner thai ach ieves fair 

presentation . 



gokhaJe & sathe 
(regd.) 
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• Obta in sufficie nt appropriate audit ev idence reg,mling th e finClllc iClI info rm<llion of the 

Trust to express rln o pinio n on the Standalone Financia l Statements of w hich we are 

the independen t audil'ors. 

We com llUlIlicate with those charged wi lh governa nce o f the Jn vJT o f which we are the 

inde pendent auditors rcgarl.l ing, among o the r matters, the planned scope a nd timing of the 

{ludil and significClnt a udit findings, including any s igni ficant deficiencies in inter nal control 

tlMI we identify during our <ludit. 

We a lso prov ide those charged w ith governance with a s tatement that we ha ve co mpl ied with 

relevant ethica l req uiremen ts regard ing independence, and to com mun icate w ith them all 

relationsh ips and othe r ma tt'Ns that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 

and w he re applicable, related safegua rds. 

OTHER MATIERS 

The s tatement includes the Standalone financial results fo r the ha lf yea r and for the year 

ended March 31, 2023 being the ba lancing figures between the aud ited fig ures in res pect of 

the full financial yea r ended March 3'\, 2023 and reviewed unaudited yea r to date figures up 

to September 30, 2022, being the dale of the end of the firs t half o f the current financ ial yea r, 

wh ich were subject to lim ited review as required und er Regulation 33 of the SEBI (Listing 

Obligation and Disclosure Requiremen ts) Regulation, 2015. 

For GO KliALE & SATHE, 

Chartered Accoun tants 

Firm Registration ~ 1 03264 W 

tJ\ 
CA Kauslubh Deshpande, 

Partner 

Date: 12th May 2023 

Place: Mumba i 
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VI 
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RB 
IRB Infrastructure Trust 

SE B! Rcgd. No.: IN/INV ITl19-20/00 12 

Audited Standalone Fi nancial results for the hair year and yur ended March 31, 2023 
(Rs. in millions) 

5i" months 
Six months 

Six months 
ended March 

ended 
ended March Year ended Year ended 

Particulars 
31,2023 

September 30, 
31.2022 March 31, March 31, 

{Audited -
2022 

(Audited - 2023 2022 
Refer note 5 

(Unaudited) 
Refer noll' 5 (Audited) (Audited) 

(i» (ii» 

Incomes and 2!lins 
Interest on loan 2. 112.36 2, 109.4 1 2,094.25 4,221.77 4,200.00 
Profit on sale of investments 0.78 0.[4 0. 11 0.92 0.40 

Olher incomc (changes in fair value gain I (loss)) 0.18 - 0.04 0. 18 0.04 

Total income and 2ains 2,113.32 2,109.55 2,094.40 4,222.87 4,200.44 

Expenditure 
Valuation expenses 1.69 0.98 0.44 2.67 1.46 

Audit fees 1.1 3 0.49 0.25 1.63 0.64 
Investment management fees (refer note b 
below) 

28.26 28.26 22.20 56.52 42.48 

Trustee fees 2.53 - 0.21 2.53 0.38 

Legal and professional ex ~nses 34.52 14.48 10.75 48.99 13 .64 

Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 211.04 289.49 2, 152.42 560.53 2, 161.]1 

Other expenses' 0.68 0.31 4.54 0.99 4.17 

Total Ex penses 339.85 JJ4.01 2,190.86 673.86 2,224.69 
ProfitJ(loss) from ordinary activities before 

'" (I) ~ III ; 
1,773.41 1,775.54 (96.46) 3,549.01 1,975.75 

Tax expense (current tax and deferred tax) I - - - - -
reversal 
ProfitJ(loss) for Ihe period fifter income tax 
III) - (IV) 

1,713,47 1,775.54 (96.46) 3,549.01 1,915.75 

Items of Other Comprehensive Income - - - - -
Total Com prehensive Income (after lax) (V) + 

1,113.47 1,775.54 (96.46) 3,549.01 1.915.15 
VII 

• Other expenses include bank charges, rates and taxes and miscellaneous expenses. 

Registered Office: 1 [01. [I " Floor. Hiranandani Knowledge Park. Technology Street. Hi ll Side Aven ue. 
Powai. Mumbai - 400 076. Maharashtra. India. : Tel: 022 - 67336400: Fax: 022 - 4053 6699: 

[.mail: irbinfrastruc turetrust@irb.co.in Websill': www. irbinfratrust.co.in: 



IRB 
IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes: 
Investors cnn view the results of the IRS Infrastructure Trust CTrust') on the Trust's website (www.irbinfnitruSLCQ,in) or on the 

website ofNSE (www.nseindia.com). 

2 1ne Audited Standalone Financial Results comprises of the Standalone Statement of profit and loss, explanatory notes thereto 
and additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI Circular 00. CIRlIMD/DF/ 127nOl6 dated 
November 29, 20 16 ('SEI3I Circular') of IRB Infrastructure Trust (Trust') for the half year ended March 31, 202) and for the 
year ended M[lTCh 31, 2023 ("Standalone Financial Results") being submitted by the Trust pursuant 10 the requ irements of 
Regulation 23 of the SEBI ( Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from lime 10 time read with SEBI 

Circular. 

3 The Standalone Financial Results for the half year endcd March 3 L 2023 11I\IIc been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the 
Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 12, 2023 and thereafter approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment 

Manager at their meeting held on May 12,2023 . 

4 IRB Infrastructure Trust was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on August 27, 2019 and as an 
infrastructure investmentlrust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
20 14 on November 25, 2019. Units oflRB Infrastructure Trust have been listed on NSE on April 03, 2023. 

5(i) 

5(ii) 

The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2023 are the derived ligures between the audited 
ligures in respect of thc year ended March 31, 2023 and the reviewed figures up to September 30, 2022, being the date of the end 
or the lirst halfofthe current financial ycar, which were subjeclto limited review. llle Standalone Financial Results for the half 
year ended March 31, 2023 and year ended March 31 , 2023 have been prepared on the basis of the Standalone Financial Results 
for the half year ended September 10, 2022, the audited annual standalone linancial statcments as at and for the year ended 
March 31, 2023, and the relevant requirements of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 

from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31. 2022 are the derived ligures between the audited 
figures in respect of the year ended Murch 31, 2022 and reviewed linancials year.to·date ligures up to Septcmber 30, 2021, being 
the date of the end of the lirst half of the previous financial year, which wefC subject to limited review. 



Additiona l Oisd o,u r es a~ r cqu irt'll by Pa rag ... ,>" 6 o r AnnUure A to s .: nl Circu la r NIJ. CIRiIMomF/ 127121)t6: 

R) Ne t Di!i tri bul ablc C~s" Flows as ~I th e SIMn,1810ne T ru" l le\"C1 
(Rs, in nlillion.) 

Sil mont • • Si . mon llt. Si. mORtll, 
t ndetl ended t ndetl "nr cndctl l'nr t n!ltd 

Sr, No, Particula rs ~Iarch Jl. Septembu J(J, March JI, March 11, March 31, 
202,). 2022 2021 2021~ 2022 

, C.sh f10W$ rccc:i"Cd from Proj«1 SPVs in lhe form of 1.190,00 
Inle resl (Refer note I) 

901,00 16S,OO 2,09100 82S 00 

2 
Cash flows received fro m Project SPY. in the form of - - -
Dividend 

Any other iucome accrui ng al the TruS! level and nol 

) e.pI~ above, inc luding but not limited 10 0.78 0.14 0.11 0.92 0.40 
interest/return o n surplus cash invested by lhe TrI.ISl 

CMh flows received from Ihe projccl SPVs towards Ihe 

• repayment of the debt issued to the Projecl SPVs by tht (842.00) (1,086.34) (485.87) ( 1.928 34) (1,682.67) 

Trust (Nel){Refer IlOte 2) 

5 TOlal cull inflow . llhe Trust Ie" t l (A) 3~8.78 (17~UO) ( 12OO7S) 169.58 (857.27) 

Les,: 
Any payment of fees, imerest and expense incurred I t 

6 I:i>e Trosl lc...:I, inc lud ing but not limiled to tile fees of (68 81) (4452) (29 .55) (113 33) (63.38) 

tM Invcstment Manager 

, " \Come tax (ifapphcab1e) at the Standalone Trust uyc l - - -

• Rcpay ment ofe~ l crna! debt - - -
, Total ca,h ou tno..-s l r<1C"';On allhc T r ust Ic\ 'cl ( B ) (68.81) (~~.52) (19.~) (1!).J3) (6U8) 

" Net I)ist r ibulub lc Cuh Flows (C) · (/\+8) 179.98 (223.72 ) (150.30) 56.25 (920.65) 

Notes. 
Excludes in terest d ue but nO! received of Rs.922.36. Rs. I,202.41 mi!l inm,Rs. 1,729.24 mili ions,Rs. 2, 124.77 mi llions and Rs. 3,375 
Miltions for the si ~ months en~ed March 31, 2023, si.x months ended September 30, 2022, si~ months ended March 31, 2022, year ended 

MilK" 3 I. 2023 and year ended March 31, 2022, 

2 Netted _ orr..-;th dIsbursement oful1S« ured loan to J'II'ojcct SP\' , 

b) pursuant to tile tenns of Ihe Inyestlnent Manasement Agn:cmtnt , the r~es \V~ 1l be paid 10 the Investment Manager for the services prov ided by it 
[" Management f eesH

) . The Management Fees have oo.:n reVIsed f()r I~ FIMl\Clll Year "11l! IIIe apP'0val of lhe Unitholders, where the votes caSI by 
Unitholdoer5 $0 entiHed and \'Oting in favor o f a resolution a re nOt lcss lhan one·and·a-""lf timc:s the votes tl$t aea-inS! such resol utlun. Pursuant to a 
resolul1on oflhe Uniloolders, the: Management Fee. for IIIe Finarw;ial Year 20231w b«n rtvi$oed to Rs.47 70 mill ions 

'" ." . In ml Ions. ueepl Of unit data) 

Si~ nlonths 
Si., nlon ths 

S i~ monlhs 
fndetl "ur(nde~ Yeufndetl 

Partkulars eodro March 
September 30, 

endro March March 31, March 31. 
31. 202J 

2022 
Jl,2022 202J 2022 

Profit fOl the pc rioo I year 1,773.47 1,7H .54 96.46 3,549.0 I 1,971n 
Number of units outstandm ' for computat ion of basic and d iluted 87,92,93265 87 .66.~ 2,992 85,50,43.265 87,79.64,498 M ,29. 14,666 

Earnin!;$ pcr unit in Rs (bU lt and dIluted) 202 2.03 (0 II ) ' .0< 2.34 

d) SI. lemen' of contingrnl li.bilities and commitments 
(Rs. in mill ions) 

As al 
Parlkalars Stptt mber 30, J\brch 31. 

M • ...,h J I, 2021 
20U 2022 

Refer Note 
Nil Nd Conl ingcn\ liabilities below 

,d). \ E Commitments Nil Nil Nil 

*"\'>~ 'V ~/ N~~ e TrUSI h~ pro.,\d~ Cofpo<.lle guafilntee fOf the subsidi;WYtompanits I.e. SYfl .... d VAll In reSpe 

~I '" l theFY2~2-23. 
~ t',. ~ rt! 

~~O1~'~~ 
~~~(t.'I 

o of Iht NeOs issued dUlin, 

Infras,ruc,UrE- Tr! 



e ) Statement of Related party transactions 

I. Subsidiaries' SPV> AE Tollway limit e d 

CG Tollway Limited 

i1apur Muradabad Tollwly timitO<l 

IRS West coast Tollwav limitO<l 

Kishan ga rh Gulabp ura Tollwav l imiled 

KaltNI Tollwav Pr ivllie Limited 

Solapur Vedeshi Tollway UnIltO<l 

Udaipur Toll way Limited 

Ved esh l Aur"ngab ad To llway Umit ad 

Palslt Dankutli To llwav Prillate Limited 

ii. Partl" to the Futld ' IRS Infrastructur e Developers Umited (Sponsor and P,ojKt Mana$e<) 

MMK Tell Road prlva le Limited [lnve.tment Manaler) 

1D81 1rLHleeship ~rvice< LimilO'd (TruSI"" of the IRa InfraUrUClure Trun) 

III. Subsidiaries Company of Sponsor and Project Manal" 

'As ptr Invll Reeulallon 

Mhai,l<a , Infra"ru~lure p,;"ale lImlled 

Mode. n Road Mal<e<, P,,,,ale limited 

IRS Goa Tollwav pr ivale \.lmil<'ll 

iii . P,omote<'" l)irt(ton of lhe parlle, 10 the Fund l\l«i1l0<l in (II) above 

IRB Inl.Ull uctu,e Dltllelope"limlted 
P."kula" (Spon.at atld p,o lett Manaie) 

Mr. Vketldra D. Mhihu, 

p,omOler' 
Mr>. OI"'p.II V. Mhll.k.r 

Vire<><!r. O. Mh.~kar HUF 

Mr. VimMlra D. MIw$br, Ourin",n.oo 

MOIl,",i"g D" .. c • .,.. 

Mrs. De.pali V, Mllai' .... '. Whol~ T;Jr.c 

Dir«.'" 
Mr. Jot< Tan,ariz "'anel GotI«r 

Mr. R:I"indn! DI\ari .. ,.1 

DirKlon 

Indeptndent director. 

Mr. Cha"",.,hel<ha' S. Kaptln 

Mr, Sun~ H. 1,1,li 

Mr. SandeepJ. Shah 

!o.b, Prili Sa.la. 1O>(k~1I<k"1 Drr"".", (wef 
Febnwy 10. 2022) 

Mrs HecNl fUJj.., 11Idf1"""l ..... 1 O'~t'" (Ulpo 
F.bru>ry 10,2022) 

"- ~ 0 ., .' • MU ;f 
~1::3, .. I~ 
11!:~ ",'<i~ 
~ +1) tit'-> ~'" 
(C"<9~~'" 

MMk Toll Road p,lvale lImitO<l 
Inv .. lm.nl M ....... 

IRS Inl'.<t'UCl u'e ~Iope<. 
Limited 

VI.end" 0 Mh,r"'iI' 

Mr. K ........ "'II ..... C ........ i.h 

Indtp"ndent di, ector< 

KG Krlshn. murthy 

Ranj.n. P,,;onjape 

IDBI Trusl«Jlrip Sef\'ices Li",ited (Tnlltee Oflhc 
IRIl Infrastruc:rure Trust) 

1D61 Sank Umil:ed 

Life Insu",r.ct Corpor.tron 01 Indi. 

Geoe,aI Imu, ar.ce Corporltiotl olll\d~ 

M, Samotl Jose"" JebaraJ 

Mr. Prad~~p KUHIlII' Jain 

MIl. Jayashroc Vij,,), Ra"adc 

Mr. Pndftp Kumar M~I~ra 

M •. B.ljind~r h.ur Maud,1 

~I'UC~ 

~8s 
~ ~ CoY" .. ~ 



A.sociates A) Holdin K Co m p any orSpon, o. ' r .oje<l l\bn1ku 

IRS Ho1din8 1'.-. ... ,< Lim;ted (Form.fly MI~;sbr V'flOU' " P1i'",elimi,ed) 

H) Subsldi • .,. C.ml'u i., or Spo<UO' I 
Ideal RMd BuildeR Priv".limite<i( IRBPL) 

Mh3iskar Infrutrueturt Pn,'ltt Limittd 
Modern Road Malon Private limited 
Aryan Tull Road Pri~I{.l;miled(ATRPl) 
ATR 1nfra.lruClur. P,;"3t. limited (ATRFl) 
IRS Inf .. \Structure Priv31e Limited (IRBFt) 
Thane Ghodbunde, roll Road Pri"al. Limited (TGTRPL) 
Aryan lnfrastruc:tur. In.'estrnen!, Private Um".d (Al1 l'l) 
JRS MI' ExP",UWIY Priv ... Umiled 

MMK Toll Road !>riYal.limited (MMK) - En1icy .... ith.loinl Control 
1M Kolhopur Imegnted Rood Dcvelopo .... u Company Pm"ale LimIted (lRBK) 

Aryan Hospitality Privace Umited ("HPl) 
lRB SindhOJdura Airport Priv'le limited (IRMA) 

IRB Goa Tollway 1',;".,. Lim;ted (lRB Goa) 
IRS PS Hijlhwly Priv"e Limited (IRBPS) 
IRB Ahmedabad Vadodara 5uf"" E, pll'si TolI .. 'ay Pri,'ale Limiled ( IRElAV) 

MRM Mining Pri~'lle Lirniled (Sul><idilry ofMRMPL) 
GEl Ex", •• sway Pri~ale L,mil«l (fOllllOrly known as IRB PP Projecl Prj,'ale limil.d) 

VKI E><",~ .. ay P,;'''le Limil«l(VK I). UploOclober 12.2022 

IRB lnfrulrucl ..... T ..... - Emily ";Ik JowiI COIIlrol 
VM7 EJ<preuwly Pn, .. ,. Limiled 

Pal.il O .. "kun; Toll ... ·ly Pri',,'e Limil«i· Up'o April 1.1022 

PalhankOi Mlndi t lighwlY Priv3ie Limiled 
Chil100r Thacl,ur Highw.y Prj,·.,e Limil.d 

RB 
IRS Infrastructure Trust 

Meerul lIudaun ""p",",,'ay Limil«1· Subsidinry "Vlo O<loo.:r 14. 1022 ,"d Enmy wilh Jo;nl Conlml ,,",.,f. Oclober 1 S)022 

S,"wdl,)";I1i Tollway Pri,-aje Lim,l«1 w.e r 14 OJ 2023 

C) Olhu A_i. ,. C""'panies or s ...... so. I ProjH I Man",,,. 

I . V;m>dra 0, MI .. islw (HUFI 

2. VCR Toll Services Private limited 

3. VO M Ve"tu,ol Private Limited 

4. DEUX Flm,ing Films Private Limited 

S. IRB Clwil.blc F""""",ion 

Key M ••• I.rill .... rwa n. 1 Of ProjH I Sp y C ...... , (Only "j,h "hom Pro,ecl Spy Group had lnmacllonsd""ng Ihe"J<'MIlbere wItS 

balanc<: oulstlflding Ilihe ye,.. end) 

I . Ms. Shilil" Todanw 
2. Mr. Abhay Phallk (w.d . March 09. 2022) 

J, Mr. Darshan Sa llll"rd"kar 

4, Mr. Omprakuh Singh 

S. "lr. Ch.r.drashck/w" Kaplan 

6. Mrs. Raoljana Paranj""" (w.~ r O<lObcr 06. 2(121) 

7. Mrs. AnI" T .. kar 

S. Mr. SudIlir Rao lIos1ling 
9. Mr A,ni •• bh MIII'lI'ka 

10 , Mr. Jilend ... Shann. (upto Febru.ry28. 2022) 

II. Mrs. H.,,"" R~j. (upto O<lok,OI. 202 1) 



IRB 
IRS Infrastructure Trust 

II) Rel~tod parlytran.aCllon du,In81he yur 

R. , in Mill ion, 

SI. mOflthsended 5i. month, en(led 51 . months ended Yea, ended Yur ended 
Pullcula r. Relation 

M."h 31, 2023 September 10, 20 22 Mardlll,20 U M •• ch3l, 20n March 31, 20 22 Sr. No. 

un.oo 1.212.00 615.00 , Eq uitY In .... strn.nt 
Subsid iary 615.00 IRS Hapu. Murad.bad Tollway limited -

pal,h it Dankun; Tollway p,iv3le Limited SubSidiary - 1,212.00 1.212.00 

S"bordi na le d Debt 
2,232.64 381.S9 2,28 2.64 2.264.49 , 

Subs idiary - 240.30 
CO Tollway Limited 
lRB Hap'" Muraci.bad Tollway Limited 

Subsidiary - 38].76 162.50 383.76 1-765,00 

IRS We$lcoast Tollway Limited 
Subsidiary 

Kish""garh Gulabpura Tollway Limited 
Subsid iary 685.88 685.&8 

UdnipurToliway Limited 
Subsid iary 219.09 259.19 

Palshil Dan!.:""i Tollway f't;vate Limited 
Subsidiary 1,<13.00 1.213.00 

~ong te ,m lo~n jlnte,eSl n ee) 
24.29 24.42 24.29 48.71 43.71 , 

Subsidiary 24.29 24 .42 24.29 48.71 48.71 
K,'thal'ollway Limited 

Short Te. m l""n given 
1,367.10 1,276.10 704.96 2.643.20 1,682.67 , 

Subsid iary '.00 2lUO 
liE Tollway Limited 
IRS Hapu' Muradabod Tollway limited Subsidiary - 46.50 21.76 46.50 33.76 

IRB Weste""st Tollway Limited 
Subsidiary 40S.S0 825.&0 1,131. )0 158.00 

Kaithal Tollway limited 
Subs idia ry 114.40 502.40 

Solopu, Vedeshi Tollway limited 
Subsidiary '.00 

Udaipu, Tollway limited 
Subsidiary 719.40 40LSO 267.00 1, 120.90 214 .41 

CG Tollway Limited 
SubSidiary 242.20 222.30 242.20 314.30 

Kishanga,h Gu labpu,. Tollway Limited Subsid iary 76.00 

Yedesh i lIurangabad Tollway lim ited Subsid iary ,~ 74.50 2.50 148.50 

Short Term loan , epald 
525.10 525.10 , 

Subs idiary IR B Hapu, Mu,adabad Tollway limited -
Kaitha l Tollway Limited 

Sub,jdiary 525.10 525.10 

KI, h.ngarh Gulabpura Tol lway Li mited Subsidiary 

Unit Ca pital Issued 
1,236.75 . 1,236.75 1.946.33 • Sponsor and P'oject 

IRS Int,astr\rcture Develop'rs limited 1,236.75 1.236.75 1,946.33 
Ma nage, 

tnte , est Income 
2,112.36 2.109.41 2,094.25 4,221.77 4 .200.00 , 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Lim ited 
SubSidiary 279.23 280.77 279.23 5&0.00 560.00 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Li mited Subsid iary 297.35 284.42 279.23 ~1.77 560.00 

Subsid iary 591.39 594.64 591.39 1,186.02 Ll86.02 
Kaithal Tollway Limited 

\:RB Westcoast Tollway limited 
Subsidiary 279.23 280.77 279.23 560.00 560.00 

AE l"ollway Li mited 
Subsidiary 665.16 6&&.82 665.16 1, 333.98 1,333.98 



IRB 
IRS Inf rastructure Trust 

I R •. In Mi llion.1 

Relation 
SI. """'ttI •• n ...... SUe month. end"' SUc months _ ... ye .... nded Yu,,..,ded 

50'. No. Partlcul~ .. ... ... <1,31. 2023 SeptemNr 30, 20ll M;I« " 31, zon Mk,h 31, lOU Ma,," 31, 20n 

• In • • tme ... 1 fvlanq;e ment Fu • 28.26 28.l6 2M2 S6.~Z 4~ .48 

MMK Toll ROiod Pvt limit ,"" InveStme'l\t Ao"rwg 28.26 28.26 22.42 Sti.52 42.48 

, Expenses l ... cu rred on beh" lf of others 
89.88 268.09 2.93 n l.05 0.89 

AE Tollway limited 
SUboldi.lry 0.01 UO 0.00 1.11 

CG Tollway Urnlted ~- 9.35 39.10 , ... 48.45 

Kishangarh Gul"bpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 30.66 1GB" 0,41 I9UXI 

IRB H"i>'Jr Muradabad TolI ... ay Urniled SUb,ldiuy 2.93 29.10 n.6] 

IRS weSlCoast Tollway Limited 
Subsldllry .... 2.77 0." 7.61 · 

Udaipur Toll way Umited 
Sub.ldlary 14.11 1.97 · 16.08 0 .89 

So/apu' Ved~1 Tollway limited 
Sub$ldil<y 3.77 0.01 0.00 3.18 · 

Yedeshi Auransabad Tollway Limited SUmldl • ..., 1.17 0.S2 '.00 8.69 

Uit"~! To1!wilY Umited 
Sub.ldlary 0.01 0.01 0.00 om 

Pil s!l oan~unl Tollway Pr;wilte limited 
Subsldl..., 16.01 29.S7 · 45.60 · 
Inw.tment 

0.08 MM K Toillload Pvt limited Mana,,, 0.08 · 

Reim bu rseme nt rl'"Cei~ on expensn incu rred on 
59.08 69.Z_ Z.91 12'.)2 · " beh~lf of others 

Subsldl. ry 0.00 '" 0.00 1.10 
A£ Tollway limited 

Subsidi..., 1.10 
CG Tollway li mited 

, ... 1.10 

Kishangarh Gulabp ura Tollway Limited Subs ldl.ry 22.68 0.41 22.68 

IFIS Hapur Mur"dabifd ToNwiY limited "" ... ~ 0.00 9.71 9.B 

IRS westcoast Toll way limited 
Subs idiary '00 2.77 0." 7.77 

Udaipur ToUwilY limited 
SUbsldl ..... ,." ,." 

Sola pur Yedeshi Tollway limited 
S<Jbsldlary 21.aa 0.01 0.00 27.89 

Yedeshl Auraogabad Tollway Umited 
Subsidiary 10.SO 0.52 0.00 11.02 

h ithal Tollway limited 
Sub$ldilry 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01 

Pals;t Oan~un; Tollway Prlwate limited 
Subsldi;try t4.58 29.48 ~." 

" 
Un_iii l,.Oan .~ei .... d 1,512." SU. JO I,SU." 4,7S9.00 

1~8I nlra.u u'lufe DewelOllef, lim ited 
Spon..." and ProjKl 

1.532.48 
MonaStl S47.30 l,SlU8 4.759.00 

" Un""""red Loon paid 267.SO . 267.S0 .,alB.8) 

IR8 tnffulfuttufe o.welopefl Limited 
Spon"'" and I'toj«t 

267. SO 267.!>(i 4.828.8J Man agt< 

U t_n_ lrKurred on our behalf of (relmburMment! · '. n 

IRB lnffaSUut\Ufe ~ limited 
Sponsor and Pfoject 

1.77 "-.. 
.. Othe. "''1able 29 U 2 l U .91 U 76.71 609.23 2,210.02 

IRB In frastrueture ~Illmite<l 
Span..." and ProjKt 

271.03 
M, n .. er 

289 .• 9 2.IS2.42 ~.n 2,16Ul 

Subs ldla rlc. 

Compln'lol 
24.29 24.42 24.29 48.71 Mh.i<kaf Inlfa.t".octure _'I~ Limited Span..." and PfojKl 48.71 

Man.,er 

" TnlSl" f e .. Ul 0 .27 2.S) 0.38 

IOBlllUI!~t e<l T,u.tee 2.53 . 0.27 2.S3 0.18 

r - -..; ; 
~~~RU~ I J. I: 

~B • ~, . . "- MUMBA, I" ~~ ,< z .., 
!'>ge ACr.~f;,"\"" - ~ 

~ & VI . ' ~~ 



In,'oo"iUC'."" if. 
Ill) Related party outstanding balan.c:es 

\ Rill S. n MI Ions 

Ason 
Six months ended 

Particulars Relation 
A50n 

Sr. No. Stptember 30, 
Marth 31,2023 

2021 
Marth 1l,2022 

, Equity Investment 22,212.01 22,212.01 21,000.01 

AE ToU .... "y Limited Subsidia rv 4,365.00 4,365.00 4,365.00 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,035.00 2,035.00 2,0)5.00 

IRS Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limned Subsidiarv 3,715.00 3,115.00 3,115.00 

IRS Westcoast To llway Limited Subsidiary 1.741.94 1,741.94 1,741.94 

Kishangarh Gulabpul1I Tollw ay Limited Subsidiary 1,555.00 1,555.00 1,555.00 

Kailhal Tollway Limited Subsidi arv 3,280.00 3,280.00 3,260.00 
Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Li ]l1 ited Subsidia ry 982.50 982.50 982.50 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,168.00 1,168.00 1,168.00 

Ycdeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,15757 2.157.57 2,157,57 

ralshit Dankuni Toll .... oay l' riv ate limited Subsidiary 1,212.00 1,212.00 . 

, Subordin.ated Debt 72,212.43 72,212.43 69,929.79 

AI': Tollway Limited Subsidiary 10,265.88 10,265.88 10,265.88 

CG Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,727.80 2.727.80 2.727.80 

IRlllhpur Muradabad Tolhwy Limited Subsidiary 9,798.52 9,798,52 9,414.76 

IRI1 Westooast Tollway Lim ited Subsidiary 12,203.92 12,203.92 12,203.92 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsid iary 2,495.38 2,495,38 1,809.50 

Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.426.04 4,426.04 4,426.04 

Sol3pur Yedeshl Tollway Limned Subsidiary 4,423.70 4,423.70 4,423.70 

Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8,338.40 8,338.40 8,338.40 

Yedeshi Aurongabad Tollway Li mited Subs id iary 16,3 19.79 16,319,79 16,319.79 

Palshi' Dankuni Tollway Privute Limited Subs idiary 1.213.00 1,213.00 

, long term loan ( Interest bearIng) 30,000.00 30,000.00 30,000.00 

AE Tollway limIted Subsidiary 9.528.41 9,528.41 9,528.41 

IRS Wcstcoost Tollway Lim Iled Subsidiary 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 

Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8,471.59 8,471.59 8,471.59 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway L.imited Subsidiary 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4,000.00 4,000,00 4,000.00 

• tong term loan (Inlerest fr HI 351.69 327.40 ]02.98 

Kaitha] Tollway Limited Subsidia ry 351.69 327.40 302.98 

5 Short Term t oan 5.421.29 4,579.29 3,492.95 

AE Tollway limited Subsidiary 478.89 478.89 478.89 

IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway limited SubSidi ary . . 37,26 

IRB Westcoast Tollway limited Subs idiary 2,348.08 1,942.58 1,116.98 

Kaithal Tollway limited Subsidiary 156.71 68\.81 681.81 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited Subsidiary 24.00 24.00 24.00 

Udaipur Tollway limited Subsidiary 1,335.3 1 615.91 214.4 1 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway limited Subsidiary 519.80 519,80 517.30 

CG Tollway limited Subsldiarv 558.50 316.30 316.30 

Klshangarh Gulabpura Tollway limited Subsidiary 106.00 

, Other Payable 35,776.26 35,480.93 ~5,167.02 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited Sponsor and Project 
32,095.57 31,824.54 

Manager 
31,535.05 

Mhalskar Infrastructu re Private limited 
Subsid iaril's Company 01 

351.69 327.40 302.98 
Sponsor and Project 

Modern Road Makers Priva te Limited 
SubSidiaries Company of 

1,784.13 1,784. 13 
Sponsor and Project 

1,784.13 

Subsldia ril's Compa ny of 

IRS Goa Tollway private Limited Sponsor and Project 1,544,86 1,544.86 1,544.86 

1ft"3.ls~ 
Manager 

o*" ~ " .~ Other payable I Reimbursement of Expenses . , 
• I J' 1 incurred on our behalf) 

. i;- --'\ '~ 
. 

"~ 2k (1)1 
~ . ~ 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited Sponsor and Project ~~'1o \\. 't 1,77 i\ i.! 1.771 18AJ)~\ ~fDACC Manager 
\ .77 

\~'>-('~ VI * }.oS 



IRB 
IRS Infrastructure Trust 

1 Rs. In Millions) 
51_month, 

P~rtlcu la,s Relation 
Alon ended ... ~ 

Sr. No. Mar< h 31,2023 ~ptember 30, March 31,2022 
1022 

• Olher Receivab'- 284.05 253.24 

SOia pur Yedeslli To llway limited Subsidiary 4.89 29.00 29.00 

Vedeshl Aurangabad To l lway Limited Subsidiary 8.17 10.50 10.50 

IRS Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 13.76 13.92 U .92 

Udaipur Tollway l imited Subsidiary 14.11 0.00 0.99 

AE Tollway limited Subsidiary 0.01 

CG Tollway limited Subsidiary 41.35 39.10 

ICIshangarh Gulabpura Tollway limited Subsidiary 171.32 140.66 

IR8 Hapur Moradabild Tollway limited Sub5idiary 22.90 19.98 · 
Kaithal Toll ..... iI'!' limited Subsidiary 0.00 . · 
Palshi, Dankun; Tollway Prj"ale Limited Subsidiary 1.54 0.09 · 
MMK Toll Road Private l imited Investmem Manager 0.08 

, 100erni Receiva ble 1,681.04 6,158.68 5,556.27 

Solapll' 'l'ede5hi Tollway lim ited Sub"diary 539.90 560.67 547.40 

Yedeshi Aurangab<ld To llway limited Subsidiary 485.27 670.42 636.00 

!Caithal Tollway limited Subsidiary 2.112.74 1,928.85 1.691.12 

IRQ Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1.551.00 1,212.77 992 .00 

AE Tollway Lim ited SubsidiJry 2.991.13 2,125.91 1.681.16 

" Trade pa yab le 78.54 68.17 80.11 

MMK Toll Road Pv! Limited Inv~stment Manager 78.54 68.17 80.31 

H Unsecured loan I other p ayJbIe 4.872.91 5,140.41 ],601.93 

IRS In lrilst/u<tl,lre Devel opers limited $porI..,..1Id PrOjec:! 
4.812 .91 5,140.41 

M3nager 
3.601.93 



IRB 
IRB Infrastructure Trust 

f) O n April 7. 2022 , the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementat ion of Palsit Dankuni 
Tollway Private Limited ( ' SPY') by the Trust and accord ingly, the project is being executed by the SPY and the 

Trust. 

For MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

.~--
Vircndra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 12,2023 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Unit Holders of IRB Infrastructure Trust 

gokhale & sathe 
(regd,) 

chartered accountants 

304/308/309. udyog mandir no 1, 
7-c, bhagoji keer marg, 

mahim, mumbai 400 016. 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED IND AS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

OPINION 

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements of IRB 
Infrastructure Trust ("the InvIT" or "the Trust") and its subsidiaries (the Trust and its 
subsidiaries together referred to as "the Group"), which comprise the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
(including Other Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holder's Equity for the year then ended and 
the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets at Fair value as at March 31, 2023, the 
Consolidated Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value and the consolidated statement of 
Net Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') of the trust and each of the subsidiaries for the 
year then ended, and notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements including a 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Other Explanatory Information 
(hereinafter referred to as "the Consolidated Financial Statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us and based on the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial 
statements and on the other financial information of the subsidiaries, the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as 
amended from time to time including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder 
(together referred to as the "SEBI InvlT Regulations") in the manner so required and give a 
true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under 
Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 ("Ind AS"), as 
amended and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated 
State of Affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2023, its Consolidated Loss and Total 
Comprehensive Loss, consolidated movement of the unit holders' funds and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year ended March 31,2023, its consolidated Net Assets at 
fair value as at March 31, 2023, its consolidated total Returns at fair value and the Net 
Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') of the trust and each of the subsidiaries for the year 
ended March 31,2023. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 

We conducted our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with the 
Standards on Auditing ("SAs") issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated IND AS financial statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical 
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responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be 
the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 

PARTICULARS 

1. Loss on fair value measurement of other 
payable I deferred consideration payable to 
IRB Group. 

Pursuant to settlement of IRB Infrastructure Trust 
by IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 
(Sponsor), as a Private INVIT, the Trust has 
entered into Debt Novation Agreements (DNA). As 
per the terms of DNA, in consideration of assets 
taken over in 9 SPVs, Trust has issued units and 
agreed to transfer to the Sponsor, the claim 
amounts when and to the extent the same are 
eventually received by Project SPVs, on account of 
Sponsor Claims. 

Such Sponsor Claims shall be lodged after 
obtaining COD by respective SPVs. The amount 
realizable against claims has been estimated by 
the valuers appointed by the Management based 

HOW THEY WERE ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT 

• We reviewed the Placement Memorandum filed with 
SEBI and the consequential legal documentation 
entered into by the Trust, including inter alia the 
Debt Novation Agreements and their reflection in the 
underlying SPVs. 

• We have reviewed the methodology adopted by the 
valuer 10 deriving the value including the 
assumptions made. 

• We assessed the estimates of Fair Value provided in 
the Valuation Report and realizability of claims as 
indicated therein. 

• We also reviewed the reasonableness of the variables 
applied in the said computation. 

on the weighted average of probabilities of • Based on the above, the fair value of liability to the 
Sponsor, as estimated by the valuer, taking into 
consideration the weighted average of probabilities 
of realization has been validated. 

realization of such claims. 

Based on the fair value of liability as estimated by 
the valuers, a resultant impact in the value of 
liability has been recognized under the head 'Loss 
on fair value measurement of other payable'. 

2. Impairment Testing 

The Group has toll collection rights as intangible 
assets pursuant to the concession agreement. The 
carrying value of these rights acquired under BOT 
basis is being compared to the recoverable value 
(which is value in use in the instant case) thereof 
to ascertain if there is any impairment. 

The process involves estimating the value in use 
of the asset which is determined by forecasting 
and discounting future cash flows. The same is 
sensitive to changes in discount rate, traffic 

• We evaluated management's assessment on 
impairment for intangible assets under development 
and intangible assets - toll collection rights by 
testing the assumptions and methodologies used by 
the Management. 

• Referred to valuation reports and Traffic Growth 
Study Reports and determined reasonableness of 
future toll revenue. 

• Evaluated the potential changes in major 
components as compared to previous year vis-a.-vis 
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PARTICULARS HOW THEY WERE ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT 

growth rates, toll growth rates etc. The actual performance in order to evaluate whether the 
determination of the recoverable amount of the inputs and assumptions used In the cash flow 
toll collection right involves significant judgment forecasts were suitable. 
due to inherent uncertainty in the assumptions · Assessed the appropriateness of the weighted 
supporting the recoverable amount of these average cost of capital used in determining 
rights. recoverable amount. 
Accordingly, the evaluation of impairment of toll · Performed sensitivity analysis of key assumptions 
collection rights has been determined as a Key used in valuation. 
Audit Matter. · Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the model. 

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation of the 
other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis, Report of Investment Manager including 
annexures to Investment Manager's Report and other information as required to be given 
by SEBI InvIT Regulations but, does not include the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements or our knowledge 
obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INVESTMENT MANAGER 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager ('the Management') is responsible for the 
preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view of 
the consolidated financial position as at 31 March 2023, consolidated financial 
performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated movement of the unit 
holder's funds and consolidated cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2023, the 
consolidated net assets at fair value as at 31 March 2023, its consolidated total returns at 
fair value and the net distributable cash flow of the trust and each of its subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the 
Indian Accounting Standards specified and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 
2(I)(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts)Regulation 
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2014 as amended from time to time including any guidelines and circulars issued 
thereunder (together referred to as the "InvIT Regulations"). 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager and the respective Board of Directors of 
the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the relevant laws for 
safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls for ensuring the accuracy and 
completeness of accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud and error, which have been used for the purpose of 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the management of the trust, as 
aforesaid. 

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Board of Directors of Investment 
Manager and respective Board of Directors of the subsidiary companies included in the 
Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors of Investment Manager and 
respective Board of Directors of the subsidiary companies included in the Group either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager and the respective Board of Directors 
of the subsidiary companies included in the Group are also responsible for overseeing the 
financial reporting process. 

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED IND AS 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements . 
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As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also, 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances ,but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors of the 
Investment Manager. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of use of the going concern basis of accounting by the 
Board of Directors of Investment Manager and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group of which we are the independent 
auditors, to express an opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the Financial 
Statements of such entities included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of which 
we are the independent auditors. For companies included in the consolidated financial 
statement, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain 
responsible for .the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by 
them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance of the trust included in the 
consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the current period and are therefore the Key Audit Matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

OTHER MATTERS 

We did not audit the Financial Statements and other financial information of 5 
subsidiaries, whose Financial Statements reflect Total Assets of INR 1,13,238.70 Million, 
Net Assets of INR 35,029.67 Million as at 31 March 2023, Total Revenues of IINR 
19,132.81 Million, Losses after taxes of INR 1,657.28 Million and Net Cash Inflow 
amounting to INR 201.07 Million for the year ended on 31 March 2023, as considered in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements before giving effect to elimination of intra-group 
transactions. These Financial Statements and other financial information have been 
audited by other auditor whose reports have been furnished to us by the Management 
and our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements, in so far as it relates to the 
amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and our report in 
terms of InvIT regulations, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based 
solely on the reports of the other auditor. 

Our opinion above, on the Consolidated Financial Statements, and our report on other 
legal and regulatory requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters 
with respect to our reliance on the work done by and the reports of the other auditor. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Based on our audit and as required by SEBI InvIT Regulations, we report that: 

a. We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the 
aforesaid Consolidated Financial Statements. 



gokhale & sathe 
(regd.) 

chartered accountants 

b. The consolidated Balance Sheet, and the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including other comprehensive income dealt with by this report are in agreement with 
the books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements; and 

c . In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and / or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 
2(1)(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. 

For Gokhale & Sathe, 

Chartered Accou,n t,~~S 
Firm Registration " 103264 W 

~ CA Kaustubh Deshpande, 
Partner 

Date: 12th May 2023 
Place: Mumbai 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Consolidated Balance sheet as at March 31, 2023 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 
Property. Plant and Eqnipment 
Goodwill 
Other Intangible assets 
Intangible assets under development 
Financial assets 

i) Others 
Other non-current assets 
Deferred tax assets (net) 

Current assets 
Financial assets 

i) Investments 
ii) Trade receivables 
iii) Cash and cash equivalents 
iv) Bank balance other than (iii) above 
v) Others 

Current tax assets (net) 
Other current assets 

Total assets 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 
Equity share capital 
Other equity 

Other reserves 
Total Equity 

Non-controlling interests 

Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 
ii) Other financial liabilities 
iii) Trade payables 

Provisions 

Current liabilities 
Financialliabilities 

i) Borrowings 
ii) Trade payables 
a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 

b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises 

iii) Other financial liabilities 
Other current liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Total equity and liabilities 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

Notes 

7 
9 
8 

6 
10 

11 
7 
12 
13 

14 
15 

16 
18 
19 
20 

16 
17 

18 
21 

As at March 31, 2023 

7.59 
604.54 

2,28,4 18.29 
2,42 1.67 

0.33 
174,07 

755.80 
2,32,382.29 

1,283.09 

84.67 
731.31 

4,866.69 
1,448.56 

24.81 
2,657.07 

11,096.20 

2,43,478.49 

87,929.33 

(10,395.80) 
77,533.53 

0.81 
77,534.34 

98,943.95 
35,780.80 

4,165.72 
2,965.03 

1,41,855.50 

6,135.65 

1.61 

15,303.87 

2,549.37 
98.15 

24,088.65 

1,65,944.15 
2,43,478.49 

(Rs. in Millions) 

As at March 31, 2022 

8.85 
604.54 

2,21,859.48 
1,290.89 

2.74 
656.55 
287.67 

2,24,710.72 

659.54 
51.55 

287.23 
2,469.97 
1,604.18 

114.22 
1,677.46 
6,864.15 

2,31,574.87 

85,504.33 

(8,108.29) 
77,396.04 

77,396.04 

92,559.82 
35,168.79 

5,998.85 
1,350.57 

1,35,078.03 

4,719.18 

3.69 

11,214.65 

3,023.\3 
140.15 

19,100.80 

1,54,178.83 
2,31,574.87 

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory infonnation (notes) are an integral part of Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Gokhale & Sathe 

Paltner 

Membership No. 121011 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: 12.05.2023 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastmcture Tmst) 
CIN: U45200MH2002PTC135512 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chainnan 

DIN :00183554 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: 12.05.2023 

Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Chief Executive officer 

~ 
Kaustubh Shevade 
Company Secretary 
Membership No.A27833 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Particulars 

Income 
Revenue from operations 

Other income 

Total Income 

Expenses 

Valuation Expenses 

Audit fees 

Operating Expenses 

Project Management Fees 

Insurance and Securily Expenses 

Trustee F eos 

Depreciation on Properly. plant and Equipment 

Amortisation ofintangible Assets 

Finance costs (Interest) 

Finance costs (Others) 

Inves~nent Manager Fees 

Custodian fees 

Loss on sale of assets 

Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 

Other expenses 

Total expenses 

Pront/(loss) before tax 

Tax expenses 

Current tax 

Deferred tax 

MAT Credit utilisation I (Entitlement) 

Total tax expenses 

Pront/(Ioss) after tax 

Other comprehensive income 

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 

(a) Re-measurement (loss)/gain on defined benefit plans (net oftaxes) 

Other comprehensive incomel (loss) for the year, net of tax 

Total comprehensive income 1(loss) for the year 

Profit/(Ioss) after tax 
Attributable to: 

Owners of the Project SPV Group 

Non-controlling interests 

Total comllrehenslve income for the year 

Attributable to: 
Equily holders of the Project SPV Group 
Non-controlling interests 

Earnings per unit (ofRs 100 each) 

Basic 

Diluted 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

Notes 

22 

23 

27A 

24 

25 

25 

26 

26 

27 

43 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2023 

26.912.59 
263.08 

27,17~.67 

2.67 

5.04 

12,865.52 

2,647.70 

14.72 

5.95 

1.25 

2,809.17 

9,005.28 

1,249.41 

56.52 

0.09 

0.01 

560.53 

256.29 

29,480.14 

(2,304.47) 

435.25 
(468.13) 

(32.88) 

(2,271.59) 

(2,27l.59) 

(2,271.59) 

(2,272.18) 

0.59 

(2,272.18) 

0.59 

(2.59) 

(2.59) 

( Rs. In Millions) 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2022 

12.404.84 
100.13 

12.~04.97 

1.46 

3.13 

2,029.53 

1,960.27 

1.12 

4.16 

1.74 

1,673.16 

8,670.13 

868.58 

42.48 

0.18 

2,161.31 

235.06 

17,652.31 

(5,147.34) 

887 
(720.23) 

(711.36) 

(4,435.98) 

(4.435.98) 

(4,43~.98) 

(4,435.98) 

(4,435.98) 

(5.26) 

(5.26) 

The accompanying sUirunary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory infonnation (notes) are an integral part of Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even dato 

For Gokhale & Sathe 

CA KPustUI~I)IIlId" 
Partner 

Membership No. 121011 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: 12.05.2023 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

CIN: U45200MH2002PTCI35512 

.~..- .b. K· J~J/...' 
Virendra D. Mhalskar 

Chainnan 

DIN :00 183554 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: 12.05.2023 

Dhananjay K. Joshi 

Chief Executive officer 

Kaustubh Shevade 

Company Secretary 
Membership No.A27833 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS 
(SEBI Circular No. CIRlIMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20-0ct-2016 and No. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated 29-Nov-2016 

A. Consolidated statement of net assets at fair value 

( Rs. in Millions) 

As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022 

Particulars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 

A. Assets 2,43,478.49 2,99,372.54 2,31,574.87 2,52,287.18 

B. Liabilities (at book value) 1,65,944.15 .1,16,629.02 1,54,178.83 1,05,330.89 

C. Net Assets (A-B) 77,534.34 1,82,743.52 77,396.04 1,46,956.29 

D. Number of units (in millions) 879.29 879.29 855.04 855.04 

E. NAV (C/D) (Amount in Rs.) 88.18 207.83 90.52 171.87 

PrQ.iect Wi'lc brenk LI D of fnll' value ortoln l nss~ ts : 

Name of the project 
As at March 31, 2023 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) 36.482.81 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 24,790.88 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 43,312.69 

Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 25,383.75 

AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 32,259.22 

Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 27,580.66 

CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 29,523.00 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 23,223.41 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL) 43,631.92 

Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 12,478.53 

Subtotal 2,98,666.88 

Add: IRB Infrastructure Trust Assets 705.66 

Total assets 2,99,372.54 

B. Consolidated statement of total returns at fair value: 

(Rs. in Mil lions) 

Particulars For the year ended March 31,2023 For the year ended March 31, 2022 

Total Comprehensive Income 
(2,271.59) (4,435.98) 

(As per the Statement of Profit and Loss) 

Add/Less: other changes in fair value (e.g., in investment property, property, plant 
& equipment (if cost model is followed)) not recognized in total comprehensive 1,05,209.18 69,560.25 
income 

Total Return 1,02,937.59 65,124.27 

Notes: 
Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in the above tables are derived based on 
the fair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the InvIT Regulations. 

As per our report of even date 
For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 

ICAl F;,m R,g2~b" 103264W 

CA Kaustubh I)cshpanclc 
Partner 
Membership No. 121011 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: 12.05.2023 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CIN: U45200MH2002PTC135512 

Virendra D.Mhaiskar 
Chairman 
DIN: 00183554 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: 12.05.2023 

Company Secretary 
Membership No.A27833 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Particulars 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit/(loss) before tax 
Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows: 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Resurfacing expenses 
Fair value gain on mutual funds 
Net (gain) on sale of current Investment 
Finance costs 
Interest income 
Gain/(loss) on fair value measurement of other payable 

Operating profit before working capital changes 

Movement in working capital: 
Increasel ( decrease) in trade payables 
Increasel ( decrease) in provisions 
Increasel (decrease) in other financial liabilities 
(Decrease)1 increase in other liabilities 
Decrease I (increase) in trade receivables 
(Increase) I decrease in other financial assets 
(Increase) I decrease in other assets 
Cash generated from operations 
Taxes paid (net) 
Net cash flows generated from operating activities (A) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment including CWIP, intangible 
assets including intangible assets under development and capital advances 

Proceeds from salel (purchase) of current investments (net) 

Investments in bank deposits (having original maturity of more than three 
months) (net) 

Interest received 
Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (B) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from non-current borrowings 
Repayment of non-current borrowings 
Proceed of current borrowings 
Repayment of current borrowings 
Issue of equity share capital 
Unit issue expenses 
Finance cost paid 

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activities (C) 

Net increase I (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 
Add: Cash acquired during business combination 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer note 10) 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 
Balances with scheduled banks: 
- Trust, retention and other escrow accounts 
- Others 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2023 

(2,304.47) 

2,810.42 
1,614.45 

(11.35) 
(62.95) 

10,111.65 
(186.05) 
560.53 

12,532.23 

1,178.92 

435.72 
(45.01) 
(33.12) 
134.16 

(343.36) 
13,859.54 

(345 .84) 
13,513.70 

(\1,055.81) 

(549.25) 

(2396.72) 

200.12 

(13,801.66) 

32,302.27 
(25923.75) 

1,532.48 
(447.97) 

2,425.00 
(15.33) 

(9,140.79) 

731.91 

443.95 

287.23 
0.13 

731.31 

394.06 
279.37 

49.50 
8.38 

731.31 

( Rs. in Millions) 
For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 

(5,147.34) 

1,674.90 
992.73 

(0.78) 
(13.93) 

9,538.70 
(81.69) 

2,161.31 

9,123.91 

11,498.13 

306.46 
30.37 
48.69 

(989.59) 
(167.46) 

19,850.5] 
32.09 

19,882.59 

(17,617.12) 

(72.33) 

(725.62) 

103.63 
(18,311.44) 

3,988.29 
(775.43) 
4759.00 

(4828.83) 
3,816.33 

(3 .26) 
(8,653 .52) 

(1,697.41) 

(126.26) 

413.49 

287.23 

161.56 
1l8.03 

7.64 

287.23 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Statement of changes in Unitholders equity 
A. Unit capital: 

i) Units issued, subscribed and fully paid 
Units having face value ofRs. 1001-
Balance at the beginning of the year 
Issue of Unit capital (Note 14) 
Balance at the end of the year 

B. Other equity 

Retained earnings 
Balance at the beginning of the year 
Profitl(ioss) for the year 
Pre-incorporation profit 

Unit Issue expenses 
Balance at the end of the year 

March 31,2023 

No. Rs. 

85,50,43,265 85,504.33 
2,42,50,000 2,425.00 

87,92,93,265 87,929.33 

( Rs. in Millions) 
March 31,2022 

No. Rs. 

81,68,80,000 81,688.00 
3,81,63,265 3,816.33 

85,50,43,265 85,504.33 

( Rs. in Millions) 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

(8,108.29) (3,669.05) 
(2,272.18) (4,435.98) 

(15.33) (3.26) 
(10,395.80) ~8,108.29) 

Summary of significant accounting policies 3 

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (notes)are an integral part of 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

As per our report of even date attached 

For Gokhale & Sathe 
Chartered Accountants 
ICAI registration number: 103264W 

) 
CA Kaustubh Deshpande 
Partner 
Membership No. 121011 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: 12.05.2023 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CIN: U45200MH2002PTCl35512 

~-
Virendrll D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman 
DIN :00183554 

M~~ 
~, 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: 12.05 .2023 

Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Chief Executive officer 

~ 
Kaustubh Shevade 
Company Secretary 
Membership No.A27833 



Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI Circulars No. CIRlMD/DF/127/2016 

a. Net Distributable Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2023 

(i) IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Sr. No. Particulars 

I Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest 

2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend 
Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, 

3 including but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by the 
Trust 

4 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment (Net) of 
the debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust 

5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 

Less: 

6 
Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, 
including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager 

7 Income tax (ifappJicable) at the Standalone Trust Level 

8 Repayment of external debt 

9 Total cash outflows I retention at the Trust level (8) 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 

# The same is earmarked towards capex for ongoing projects. 

Note: 

Year ended 
March 31, 2023# 

2,097.00 

-

0.92 

(1,928.34) 

169.58 

(113.33) 

-
-

(113.33) 

56.25 

(Rs in Millions) 

Year ended 
March 31, 2022 

825.00 

-

0.40 

(1,682.67) 

(857.27) 

(63.38) 

-
-

(63.38) 

(920.65) 

Excludes interest due but not received of Rs. 2,124.77 millions and Rs. 3,375 Millions for the year ended March 31, 2023 
and year ended March 3 I, 2022. 

2 
Netted - off with disbursement of short-term unsecured loan to project SPVs. (Refer RPT disclosures of standalone financial 
results). 



(ii) IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWC) 
(Rs. in Millions) 

Year Year 
r. 

De cription 
ended ended 

No. March 31 Murch 31, 
2023 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1,135.93) (815.33) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of 

164.74 113.19 
profit and loss 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non 
3 cash income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if 137.31 64.76 

deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 530.18 491.37 
5 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses (Net) 
6 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (70.971 {86.97) 
7 Less: Tax paid 
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project 
10 Total adiustments (B) ~ 761.26 582.35 
II Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (374.67) (232.98) 



(ii) Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 
(Rs. in MiJlions) 

" 
Year ended Year en'ded 

I'. No. Description March 31, March 31 
2023 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (264.71) (834.88) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit 

559.99 305.02 
and loss 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash 

3 income (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed 41.68 3.08 
necessary bv the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 581.77 560.00 
5 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses (Net) 109.06 102.67 
6 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (60.29) (361.08) 
7 Less: Tax paid 
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA (220.00) 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project 
10 Total Adjustments (B) 1,012.21 609.69 
11 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 747.50 (225.19) 



(iii) Solpaur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
(Rs. in Millions) 

Y.ear ended Year ended 
Sr. No. l)escril>tion March 31, March St, 

2023 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (225.45) (543.70) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 

168.97 116.74 
loss 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income 

3 (net of actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by 20.80 7.61 
the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 560.00 560.00 
5 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses (Net) 60.75 59.68 
6 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (5.86) 011.88) 
7 Less: Tax paid 
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA (80.00) 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project 
10 Total Adjustments (B) 724.66 632.15 
11 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 499.21 88.45 



(iii) Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 
(Rs. in Mi llions) 

" 
Vear ended Year ended 

r. No. De cription Ma rch 31, Mareh 31, 
2023 2022* 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (848.69) (896.42) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Sta-tement of profil and loss 212.13 52.97 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

96.97 77.30 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest pa.id/payable to the Trust 1,186.02 1,186.02 
5 Add :- Provision for resurtacing expenses (Net) 176.65 171.38 
6 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (121.25) (66.45) 
7 Less: Tax paid 
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project 
10 Total Adjustments (B) 1,550.52 1,421.22 
11 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 701.83 524.80 

* Profit after tax is inclusive of compensation income towards toll suspension due to farmers agitation amounting to Rs.900.90 
millions. 



(v) Agra Etawah Tollway Limited (AETL) 
(Rs in Millions) 

Year ended Year nded 
r. No. De cl'jption March 31, March 31, 

2023 2022* 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (1 ,749.13) (I 669.85) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 309.71 262.06 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

32.54 12.68 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 1.333.98 1,333.98 
5 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses ( Net) 185.82 178.57 
6 Less: Principa l repayment of external debt (68.51) (37.63) 
7 Less: Tax 2aid 
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA 
9 Less: Capital expend iture towards the project 
10 Total Adjustments (0) 1.793.54 1.749.66 
11 Net DisU'ibutable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 44.41 79.81 

* Profit after tax is inclusive of compensation income towards toll suspension due to farmers agitation amounting to Rs.64.26 
millions. 



(vi) Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 
(Rs. in MiWons) 

Year ended Ye,ar ended 
Sr. NO, Des.cription March 31, March 31 

2023 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 0 ,903.87) 0,291.68) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 364.50 267.28 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

120.39 164.27 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - -
5 Add :- Provision for resurfacing expenses (Net) 432.11 349.85 
6 Less: Principal repayment of external debt (28.84) (32.90) 
7 Less: Tax paid 
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project 
10 Total Adjustments (B) 888.16 748.50 
11 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (1,015.71) (543.18) 



(vii) Chittorgarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
(Rs. in Millions) 

Year ended Year ended 
Sr. ""No. Description March 31 , March 31, 

2023 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (936.67) (213.49) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 371.14 243.63 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

(110.79) 145.29 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - -
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 126.16 76.99 
6 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (79.44) (51.48) 
7 Less: Tax paid 
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project 
10 Total Adjustments (B) 307.08 414.43 
11 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) (629.59) 200.94 



(viii) Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 
(Rs in Millions) 

Year cnded Year ended 
l'. No. Des(wiption March 31 MaJlch 31 

2023# 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (247.35) (405.09) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 212.76 103.80 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

249.35 174.35 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - -
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Net) 110.67 
6 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (36.32) (15.94) 
7 Less: Tax paid 
8 Less: Creation of MMRA 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project 
10 Total Adjustments (B) 536.46 262.21 
II Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 289.11 (142.88) 

# The said funds are earmarked towards NHAI premium payment. 



(ix) IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHM) 
(Rs. in Millions) 

Year ended YeRI! ended 

Sr. No. Description March 31, March 3J 
2023# 2022 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) (75.48) (285.44) 
2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 351.78 210.21 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash 

120.02 87.52 
flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust - -
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (Net) 270.19 
6 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) (134.90) (11.1 0) 
7 Less: Tax paid 
8 Less: Creation of MMRA 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the prqject (62.03) (10.20) 
10 Total Adjustments (B) 545.06 276.43 
II Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B)# 469.58 (9.01) 

# The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex. 



(x) Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 
(Rs in Millions) 

r. No. Desc.ription 
Year ende~1 

Mllrah 31 2023# 

1 Profit after tax as per profit and loss account (A) 1,430.69 

2 Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss 94.71 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual 

193.17 
cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid/payable to the Trust 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (Net) 
6 Less: Repayment of external debt (principal) 
7 Less: Tax paid (363.10) 
8 Less: Creation ofMMRA 
9 Less: Capital expenditure towards the project (1 ,332.99) 
10 Total Adjustments (B) (1 ,408.21) 
11 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 22.48 

# The said funds are earmarked towards balance Capex. 



IRB Infrnstruetur. Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Corporate Information 
The IRB Infrastructure Trust (the "Trust") is a trust settled pursuant to the indenture of tmst dated August 27, 2019 which is registered lmder the Registration Act, 1908 and under the 
Securities Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time. The Tmst is settled by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers 
Limited ("IRB" or the "Sponsor"), an infrastructure development company in India. The Tnlstee to the Fund is IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (the "Trustee"). Investment manager for the 
Trust is MMK Toll Road Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). The Trust has received registraion certificate from SEBI on November 25, 2019. 

The Trust has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India. The Trust's road projects are eligible infrastructure projects under the InvIT Regulations 
and held through special purpose vehicles ("Project SPYs" together as "Project Spy Group"). The Trust's portfolio comprises of ten road projects as listed below:-

Project Spy Name"" Residual Proposed Nature of 
Status 

Principal Country of 
Concession life" sha reholding Investment Activities incorporation 

IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) 18 years II Months 100% Subsidiary Tolling and India 

2 days Construction 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 20 years 9 Months 100% Subsidiary Operating India 

21 days 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 18 years 3 Months I 100% Subsidiary Operating India 

davs 

Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 19 years 3 Months 100% Subsidiary Operating India 

15 davs 

17 years 4 Months 2 100% Subsidiary Operating Construction India 
AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 

days 
and operation 
of road 

Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 15 years 5 Months 4 100% Subsidiary Operating including toll India 

days collection. 

CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 14 years 7 Months 5 100% Subsidiary Operating India 

days 

Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 14 years 10 Months 100% Subsidiary Operating India 

22 davs 

IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL) 18 years I Months 100% Subsidiary Operating India 

25 days 

Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) w.e.f02.04.2022 16 years 0 Months I 100% Subsidiary Tolling and India 

days ConstnlCtion 

• Represents resIdual concesSIOn hfe as at March 31, 2023 as per ongmal concessIOn penod (without consldenng extensIOn of concesSIOn penod, If any) . 

•• Of the above Project SPYs, IRBWTL, SYTL, YATL, AETL, CGTL, UTL and IRBHMTL have been converted to public companies on November 13, 2019 and KTLand KGTL on 
November 14, 2019 . 

The registered office of the Investment Manager is Off No-11th FloorlllOI Hiranandani Knowledge Park, Technology Street, Hill Side Avenue, Powai Mumbai 400076 
The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution passed by the board of directors of the Investment manager on May 12, 2023. 
The Tnlst has been listed on NSE w.e.f. 03.04.2023. 

2 Basis of preparation 
A. Statement of compliance 

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Project SPY Group comprises of Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and 
Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income) of the Project SPY group, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity of the 
movement of tile unit holders for the year ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, the consolidated statement of Net Assets at Fair Yalue as at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 and 
the Consolidated Statement of Total Returns at Fair Yalue for the year ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, a summary of significant accounting policies, notes and other explanatory 
Information. 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Project SPY Group have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015 notified under Section 133 of the Act, read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the circulars issued thereunder ("InvIT 
Regulations") and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a accrued and historical cost basis, except for certain 
assets and liabilities which have been measured at fair value. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Rs. in millions, except when otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) constmes value less than Rupees five 
thousand. 

B Basis of preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements 
The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the Project Spy Group. 
Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared using unifonn accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 
The Financial Statements of all Project SPYs used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to the same reporting date i.e. year ended on March 31. 
Consolidation procedure: 
(a) Consolidate like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of Project SPYs. 
(b) Eliminate in full intra Project SPYs assets and liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between Project SPYs of the Project Spy Group (profits or losses 
resulting from intra Project Spy Group transactions that are recognised in assets, such as inventory and property, plant and equipment, are eliminated in full). Profit or loss and each 
component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the Project Spy Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

3.01 Current versus non-current classification 
The Project SPY Group has identified twelve months as its operating cycle. The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and 
cash equivalents. 

The Project SPY Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current classification. An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in nonnal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the rep0l1ing period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from bci"gcxchnnllcd or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current: .~ . -. - • -



IRB Inrrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to bu settled ill n nnni oflcrntill~ cycle 
- It is hold primnrily for the purposo oftrnding 
- It is due 10 be seltled wi th in 1·\Velve Illonths nncr Ihe reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional righl to defcr Ihe seltlement of lhe liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period 

The Project SI'Y Gr:oup olAssifies nll other liabilities as nOli-current. 
Dererred lax nssets nnd IIn[)i litics nre classified ns non-current assets and liabilities respectively. 

3.02 Use of estimates and judgements 
The preparation of the Project Spy Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amollnt of assets or liabilities affected in future years. 

Estimates and assumlltions 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised and future periods are 
affected. 

The key assumptions conccminB Ihe future nnd other key sOllrces of estimntioll uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing n mOlerial alljustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets alid tinbilfties within the ne~t financinl yenr, nrc d~cribed below. The Project Spy Group based its assumptions and estimates on parnmetors available when the financial 
statements were prepared, Existing elrcumSlnn.ces and assumptiOIlS nbollt future developments, however, may change due to market changes or CircLUIlSlnllCCS OIisiug that are beyond the 
control of the Group, Suoh chnngcs nro rollected in the assumptions when they occur, 

Fair valne 11Icnsurelllcnt of finlll10ial instruments (refer note 3 I) 
Provision tor major mninlennncc (refer note 20) 
Impainnent Ornon finAncial assels (refer note 3.19) 

3.03 Business Combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as Ihe aggregate of the consideratioll transferred measured at fair value on 
acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share ofthe acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

At the acquisition date, the idenlifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include contingent 
liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values irrespeclive of the fact that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable. 

Goodwill is initially measured nt cost, being the excess of Il le aggregate of the considemtion trnnSfUn'ild And the amOlillt recogllised for non-conlrolling IntereslS, Bnd any previolls interest held, 
over the net identifiable assets, equin:d nnd linbilities nssumed. IfU1C r.,irvnlllc oft.Jlo net aSSels acquired is in excess of tho oggrcgolO considcrntiont!'l1nsfem:d. Ihe Group re-assesses whothor 
it has correctly identified all or the assetS Acquired nlid nil of the liabililies asslIUled and reviews the procedures used to mensure the nIno·unt. to be re~ognised nl the acquisi tion date. rf the 
reassessment stitt resulLS in on execs of the fnir value of n~t !].,;scts ncqUired over the oggrollntu oonsideratlon traIlsrerred, thon the gain is recognised In OCI and accullIulaled in C4l"ir 
capital reserve. I 10woVer, iflllc)'C Is no clem evidence ofbnr&l1n pUl'chn~c, the entity recugnises the IlOOI direct ly 111 equity BS cailltni reserve, withoul' routilill Ihe same thrOllllh 001 

Alter initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impainnent losses. For the purpose of impainnent testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 

A ansh Bencmtiug IIllit to which goodwill has oeenllllocated is tested for lIIlpnil1!lcIII nnnunlly, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
nlllount of lite unsh genomting IIl1it is less thun its carrying amoullt, Ihe illlpainncll! loss i~ atl ocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the 
olhel' tlSsets of the 1m I pro rain based on tho ctuTyillg Amollnt of ench asset inlhe unit. 
Any impnimlcnl l o.~s for !loodwill is recognised in profit or loss, An illlpainncllt loss recognised tor goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. Where goodwill has been allocated to a 
cashgeucl'llting unit and p~rt of the opomtion within that unll Is di~poSed of, the goodwill Bssocinled wi th tlte disl)Osed opcrniion is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
detortnll1ing Ihe gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these CLrc.U1l1SlanCOS is IIIC8sllrcd hased on the relative vulues 01' the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating 
lIlI ilret'lined, 

3.04 Asset acquisition 
The acquisition of an asset or a group of assets thai does nol constitute a business. In such cases the acquirer shall identifY and recognise the individual identifiable asset acquired including 
those assets that meet the definition of, and recognition criteria for, intangible asset in IND AS 38, Intangible Assets and Liabilities assumed. The cost of !lIe group is allocated to the 
individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fait values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction or event does not give rise to goodwill. 

3.05 Fair value measurement 
The Project Spy Group measures financial instmments, (refer note 31) at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability lakes place either: 

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most udVntllBIlCOliS !IIDlkel for the asset or liability 

The principal or the most advantageous market mus t be acccssible by Ihc Project Spy Group. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured lIsitlllthe nssllmplions Ihat market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's abilily to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Project Spy GrouJlI1~es valuation lecllluqllos ti llit nre nppropriate in the circumstances and for which snfficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the lise of relevant 
obscl'Vuble inputs and lI1inilll isinl! the lise of 1lI10bsI1rvnble in(luts. 
All nssets and Hnbilitics far which fair val lie is measured ur disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
illJlllt thaI is significnnt to the fmf valuo me.15uremCItl ns n whole: 
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Levell - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3 -Valuation teclmiques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Project Spy Group detennines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period, 

The Project Spy Group's Management detennines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets 
measured at fair value, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in discontinued operations, 

At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Project Spy Group's 
accounting policies , For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other 
relevant documents, 

The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to detennine whether the change is reasonable, 

On an annual basis, the Management presents the valuation results to the Investment Manager and the Project Spy Group's independent auditors, This includes a discussion of the major 
assumptions used in the valuations, 

For the purpose offair value disclosures, the Project Spy Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and 
the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above, 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value, Other fair value related disclosures are given in the relevant notes, 
Disclosures for valuation methods, signirocflnt estimates and assumptions (note 3,02) 
Financial instruments (including Ihose carried nt amortised cost) (note 5,6,7,11,17,18,19,3 I) 
Quantative disclosure of fair vl1luc mcnS\lrc,nont hierarchy (note 32) 

3,06 Revenue recognition 

The Project Spy Group has applied the following accounting policy for revenue recognition 

Revenue from contracts with customers: 
The Project Spy Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five step model as set out in Ind AS 115: 
Step I, IdentifY the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for 
every contract that must be met. 

Step 2, IdentifY the perfonnance obligations in the contract: A perfonnance obligation is a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to the cllstomer, 

Step 3, Detennine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or 
services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties, 

Step 4, Allocate the transaction price to the perfonnance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more than one perfonnance obligation, the Company will allocate the transaction 
price to each perfonnance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfYing each perfonnance 
obligation, 

Step 5, Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation, 

1110 Projeot SPV Group sat islies a perfOl1l1nUCC obligation nnd recognIses rcvenue over time, if one of the follow in!; criteria is met: 
I, The customer slmlll tll11cClIIsiy receives and consumes the benonts provided by the Projecl Spy Group's pcrfonnance lIS Ihe Projeot Spy Grollp perfonns; or 
2. The Project Spy Group'~ perfOlnlancc crcat(!S or enhances nn Asset tlmt the cLlstomer controls ns Ihe assel is oreated or enhonced; or 
3. The ProJecl Spy Group's perfonnnnoe doo~ 1I0t cre~ le rul ~~sot willI All alternative use to the Projec t Spy Group and the 011tity has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
complot~d to dale. 

Contract revenue 
Cont l'nct revenuo nssociu tctl with tho tlillUy shinilll! Inoidental to conSlruction of rond lire rcooglllzed as revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the projects at the balance sheet 
dote. The slag~ of completion of projecl is ciClcnuined by the proportion that commct COS I incurred for work perfonned up to the balance sheet date bears to the estimated total contract costs, 
PrOject f'Vs op~flil ions involve IcvYIIIJ; or GST on the construction \York , Goods mid Service tax is not received by the project SPVs on its own account, rather, it is tax collected on value 
odded to the commodity by Ihe seller on beholf of the govenllncnl . Accordingly, il is excluded ffllm revenue, 

Income from the concession nrrrulgcmcnt ~ corned under th e intangible ru;set 11I0dei consists of the (i) fair value of contract revenue, which is deemed to be fair value of consideration 
tllu'tSfcrred to acquire the os.~et ; nnd (ii) paymcuts notunlly received rrom the users, '111e intOlllliblc asset is amortised over its expected useful life in a way that reflects the pattern in which the 
nsset' s economic benefits nre consumed by the Projcct SPV Grolll), stnni ng rrom the date when the right to operate starts to be used. Based on these principles, the intangible asset is 
nmOl11scd in line With the nc tllol usaso of the specific Jlublic ut il ity 'Reilit)'. with II moximum orthc duration of the concession, 

Income from toll contracts 
The income from Toll Contracts on BOT basis are recognised on actual collection of toll revenue (net of Premium and revenue share payable to NHAJ) as per Concession Agreement. 
Revemle from electronic toll collection is recognised on accmal basis, 

Interest income 
For 011 lillaneiat assets measured clther at amonised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using tho effect ive intcrest mte (ElR). EI R is tho 
rote thnt ~ nclly discounts the e.~l imnted futurc cash Jlaymcuts or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where oppropnnte, til the gross oarrying amount 
orthe fin llJlcial assel Ol~t() the UlllOrtised oost or n finallciulliability, When calculating the effective interest rate, the Project Spy Group estimates the exp¢ctcd cash nows by cOl\sidering alilhe 
contrDotunl tonns of the Ji ,mucful Instrumenl (for o:<.:nu(llc. prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not consider the expected credit losses, Interest income IS included III 

ilnnnce In om In Ihe statement of profit and loss. 

Dividends 
Revenue is recognised when the Project Spy Group's right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders approve the dividend , 

Trade receivables 
A receivable represents the Project Spy Group's right to an amollnt of consideration that is unconditional i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of consideration is due, 

3,07 Government Grants 
Grants and subsidies from the government are recognised if the following conditions are satisfied, 
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3.08 Taxes 
Current income tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities in accordance the Income Tax Act, 1961. The tax rates 
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the country where the Company operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax retums with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the 
reporting date. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction. affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at eacll reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred 
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity . 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfYing the criteria for separate recognition at that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and 
circumstances change. Acquired deferred tax benefits recognised within the measurement period reduce goodwill related to that acquisition if they result from new infonnation obtained about 
facts and circumstances existing at the acquisition date. If the carrying amount of goodwill is zero, any remaining deferred tax benefits are recognised in OCII capital reserve depending on the 
principle explained for bargain purchase gains. All other acquired tax benefits realised are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. Deferred tax is recognised in 
consolidated statement of profit and loss on the consolidated adjustments. 

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) 
Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid as per Indian Income Tax Act, 1961 is in the nature of unused tax credit which can be carried forward and utilised when the Project Spy Group will pay 
normal income tax during the specified period. Being DT A tax credit is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the unused tax credit can be utilised in the specified future period The 
net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Goods and service tax paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses 
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 
When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item, as applicable. 
When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet. 

3 09 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost,less accumulated depreciation and impainnent losses if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset 
to its working condition for its intended use.Any trade discount or rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase price. 

Depreciation is calculated on written down value method (WDY) using the useful lives as prescribed under the Schedule" to the Companies Act, 2013 or re-assessed by the Project Spy 
Group based on technical evaluation. The Project Spy Group has estimated the following useful lives for its tangible fixed assets: 

Asset class Useful life 

Building 30 years· 
Office equipment S years 
Computers 3 years 
Fumiture & fixMes ]0 vears 

• The useful life of building has been calculated by management as per their teclmical estimate. 

3 10 Intangible assets 
The Project Spy Group exercised first time adoption under Ind AS 101 and has elected to continue with the carrying value of its "Toll Collection Rights" (Intangible Assets) including 
corresponding obligation, as recognised in the financial statements as at the date of transition April 1,2016 measured as per the Previous GMP and uses that as its deemed cost as at date of 
transition. 

Toll collection rights are stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation, impainnent losses and grant from government. Cost includes: 
a) For acquired Toll Collection Rights - Upfront payments towards acquisition and incidental expenses related thereto. 
b) Toll Collection Rights awarded by the grantor against construction service rendered by the Project Spy Group on BOT I DBFOT basis - Direct and indirect expenses on construction of 
roads, bridges, culverts, infi'astmcture and other assets at the toll plazas. 

c) Toll Collection Ri£ll.ts i~ lieu Ofi>t'!l llliulll- Undiscounted premium obligation over the concession period. 
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Amortisation 
1'011 Collection Rights are amortised over Ihe peliod of IlOnccssiOll, usIng revenuo bnsed mnCJrtisation AS prescribed in Ind As-36. Under this method, the cnrrying value of the rights is 
mnol'1lse.:lin Ille proportion of actual toll reveR"" fOl' tho yenr to projected revenue for the balance toll penod, 10 reflect the pattern in which the assets economic benefi ts will be consumed. At 
eRch balance sheet date, the projected revenuc for tlte bnlnnce loll period is reviewed by Ule nlmlngcment. If there is any change in the projected revenue from previous estimates, the 
amort isation of loll collection rights is changed prospectively to reflect any ohnnges illthc ·(:Stlmntes. 

Intan~ible assets under development 
Expenditure related to and incurred during implementation of project are included under "Intangible Assets under Development". The same will be transferred to the respective intangible 
assets on completion of project. 

3.11 Borrowing costs 
norrowlng costs directly Ullributnblc to the ocquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily lakes n substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
Cllpitnll~ed as 11011 of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. BOITowing co Is consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs 
in <onnection wilh the borrowing of filllds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences between the foreigp cUlTcncy borrowing and the functional currency borrowing to the extent 
regarded as nn adjustment to the bOrrowing costs. 

3.12 Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if 
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in 
all arrangement. 

Pro.iect Spy Group as a lessee 
A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However. if there is no reasonable certainty that the Project SPY Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease tenn, the 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated usefllllife of the asset and the lease term. 

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Project SPY 
Group is classified as a finance lease. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Ind AS 116 - Leases 

Ind AS 116, Leases, it sets out principles for the recognition, measurement, presontnlioll nnd disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases, except short-tenn leases and 
leases for low-value items, under a single on-balance sheet lease accounting model. A lossee recognises a right-of-use asset representing its right to lise the underlying asset and a lease liability 
representing its obligation to make lease payments. Lessor accounting largely unchlluged from tho eXisting standard - i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. 

Based on the preliminary assessment, the Company does not expect any significant impacts on transition to Illd AS 116. This assessment is based on currently available information and may 
be subject to changes arising from furtller reasonable and supportable infonnation when the standard will be adopted. 

Pro.iect Spy Group as a lessor 
Leases in which the Project Spy Group does not transfer substantially all the risks IUld re\Vard~ of ownel'Sllip of nn nsset are clussificd as opernting leoses. Rental income from operating lease 
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the tenn of the relevant lease. Inlllal direct C()sts inculTed ill negotiating and arronging an opel'Oting lc~sc nrc added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised over the lease tenn on the same basis as rental incomo.ContinQcnt rcnts nrc recognised lIS revenue in the liuriod in which Ihey are earned. 

Leases are classified as finonce lenses when substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership transfer from the Project Spy Group to the lessee. Amounts due from lessees under finance 
leases are recorded a~ r~civflbles nt the Project Spy Gronp's net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the net investment outstanding in respect of the lease. 

3.13 Provisions 
Provisions ore rooolllliscd \vl!cn the PI'ojc.ct SPV Grollp lta~ a presenl obligntioll (Iogtll 01' constmet ive) as a result of a past event, it is probable thnt 0 11 outflow of resources embodying 
CCOI101ll 10 bencm wfll be required ttl seUle the obligArion and a reliable cstlmate clin be maQe of the amount of the obligotion. WlICII the Project spy Group expects some or all of a 
provision to be reimbnrsed. ror cxmnplc, undcr nn insurance COli troct, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only wllcn the reimbllrsement is virtually certain. The expense 
relnting to n provision is presented hllhe statcmelll of profit and loss net ornny rchllbufSCmcnl. 

If the effect of the time value ofmoaey is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimates. 

3.14 Resurfacing expenses 
As PCI' the Conccsslon Agreements, tIle Projeol Spy Group is obllWlted to carry OIlt resurfacillt: of the ronds under conCCSliion. Provision requ red fur resurfacing expenses nre measured at the 
present value of tho expenditure required lo sellh: the present obligation at the end of report ln!! period.. 1110 disoount ro tc used to detennine the present vuluc is n pre,tax rnlc that reflects risks 
specific to tho liabilily. The incro:.1se III the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finollce cost. I' rovision for tIle planned CxpendItll re is mnde for the period upt.o end of the 
IIcrimilor which pctlodic mnnltCl1l1l1CC is reqnired. alit oflhe total cntitiled period.The same is stated inlhe consolidated statement of profit and loss ill occordolloo wllh Lnd AS 37 "Provisions, 
Cont.ingent Liabilities and Cont[ngcnt Assets." 

3.15 Contingent liability and Contingent assets 
A contingent liability is n ]Jossible obliWltion thol orise9 from post event~ whose existence will be confinned by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
beyond the control of lite Project Spy Group or a present Obligat ion thnt is nol recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A 
uOl ll ingelllliabllity also nlises ill eXlremcly rore C;\SC$ where thore is 0 Iiobility thnt cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. The Project Spy Group does not recognise a 
c() IHillgc.nt linbility but d iselo$c..~ its exis\ence in tIle financia l statements. 

A contingent assets is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets are 
disclosed in the financial statements. 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 
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3.16 Financial instruments 
A financial inslnnnenl is any conlracl that gives rise to a financial asset of one enlity and a fiuancialliability or equity instnllnent of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Illitial recogllitioll allli meaSllremellt 

All financial assels are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of fiuancial assets not recorded at fair value through statement of profil and loss, transaction costs that are attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. 

On initial recognistion, a financial asset is classified as measured of 
- amortised cost 
- FVOCI - Debt instruments 
- FVOCI - equity instnllnents 
-FVTPL 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recOb",ition, except if and in the year, the Project Spy Group changes its business model for managing financial assets. 

Debt illstmmellts at amortised cost 
A 'debt instnllnent' is measured at the amortised cost ifboth the following conditions are met: 
- The asset is held within a business model whose objective is 10 hold assets for collecling contraclual cash flows, and 
- Contraclual tenns oflhe asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on Ihe principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement. such finanoial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interesl rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on ncquisilloll "lid fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in the statement of profil and loss. The losses 
alising from impainnent arc recognisod III the slatelllenl of profit and loss. 

Debt illstm",e/lt at FVTOCI 
A 'debt Inslnlll1eol ' is classi fi ed as !lllhe rVTOCJ if both of the following criteria nrc met: 
- 111~ obj(!()llv6 of Ihe busilles~ model is achieved both by collecting conlrac tunl cnsh now, Rnd selling the financial assets, and 
- The aSsel's conlractual ensh 'flows represent SPPL 
Debt illstnlln~nt s included wlthi" the FVTOCI C11lcllory an: measured iniliAlly <IS well ns 01 eneh reponing date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in the other comprehensive 
income. (Oe ll_ "ow~ver, the ProJe<lt SPV GrqUI) reaO[!II izllS interest illcome, 100painnelll losses and reversals and foreign exchange gain or loss in the statement of profit and loss. On 
derccoghitioll of the assel , cumulalive gnin or loss prc"iously recognised In o e l is reclnHsilied from the equity to Statement of profit and 10ss.Iuterest earned whilst holding FVTOCI debt 
inslnuuCl11 is r~porled as Inlerest income IIsing the BI ll method. 

Debt IlIstmmellt at FVTPL 
FVTPL is a residual categol)' for debl instnlll1ents, Any debt instrument, which does not meel the crileria for categorization as at amortized cost or as at FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL. 

[n addilion, the Projecl Spy Group may elect to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise meets amortized cost or FVTOCI criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only 
if doing so reduces or eliminates a measuremenl or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 'accounting mismatch' ). The Project Spy Group has designated cel1ain debt instrument as at 
FVTPL. 

Debt instnllnents included within Ihe FVTPL category are measured al fair value with all changes recognized in the Statemenl ofprofit and loss. 

Eqllity illvestmellls 
All equity investments in scope orlne! AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity inslruments which are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all olher equity instruments, the Project 
Spy Groul) limy mnkc all Irrevoc.1ble election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value. The Project Spy Group makes such election on an instnlll1ent­
byinstflllnenr bnsis. Tile classificatIon is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. 

If the Project Spy Group decides to classifY an equily instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on Ihe instrumenl, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCL Thel'e is no 
recycling of the amounts ii-om OCI to P&L, even on sale of investment. However, the Project Spy Group may transfer Ihe cumulative gain or loss within equily. 

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the Statement of profit and loss. 

Derecogllitloll 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a palt of a fiuancial asset or P31t of a Projecl Spy Group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Project Spy 
Group' s consolidated balance sheet) when: 

- The rights to receive cash flows li'oUl the :IsseI has c.xllired, or 
-The Project SPV Group hll~ trnnsfcrrccl itS rights to receive C<1sh flows from the assel or has assumed an obligation to pay Ihe received cash flows in full without material delay to a Ihird 

party under a ' puss-through' amlllgslllont; ·nnd eilher (a) the Project Spy Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Project SPY Group has neither 
transfen'ed nor retnlnccl substantially alllhe risks mId reWl1 rds of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When Ihe Project Spy Group has transferred its rights to receive cnsh flows from nil IIsscl or has entered into n pass-th rough nrrangoment, it evaluates if and to what extenl it has retained the 
rIsk~ nnd rowards of oWllcrshlp. When it has neither transferr~d nor I'ct!1ined substnntially nil of Ihe risks and rcwards of the IIssel, nor tmnsferred control of the asset, the Project Spy Group 
cOlltinullS to recoglli~c the tmnsferred Ilsset to the extent of the Projeot SPV Group's coniinuinll Involvement. In thaI CJlSO, the Project Spy Group also recognises an associated liability. The 
tmlllJferrod a~el nn" thu associatod Iinbility are measured on a basis Ihal reneets Ihe lights and obligalions that lile Projecl Spy Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the fonn of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Project Spy Group could be required 10 repay. 
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Impalrnrelll of jillnllclal assels 
In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Project Spy Group applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of impainnent loss on the following financial assets alld 
credit risk exposure: 

-Financial assets that are debt instnunents, and are measured at amortised cost e.g., loans, debt securities, deposits, trade receivables and bank balance 
-Financial assets that are debt instmments and are measured as at FVTOCI 
-Lease receivables under Ind AS 17 
-Trade receivables or any contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset that result from transactions that are within the scope of lnd AS 18 (referred to as contractual revenue 

receivables' in these financial statements) 

-L¢an commitments which are not measured as at FVTPL 
-Financial guarantee contlncts which are not measured as at FVTPL 

Tile Project Spy Group rollows 'simplified approach' for recognition ofimpainnent loss allowance on: 
-Trade rcceivables; nnd 
-Other receivables 
The application of simplified approach does not require the Project Spy Group to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it recognises impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
reporting date, right from its initial recognition . 

For recogni lion of Inrpliinllcllf loss Oil olher fi ll ll11clnl nssels alld risk exposure, the Project Spy Group detennines that whether there has been a sib'l1ificnnt incrcast III the credit nsk since 
inilinl rQcosnh ioli. If credit risk has not increased sigl1illcontly, 12-month ECL is used to provide for impainnent loss. However, if credit risk has increased significantly. lifetime ECL I~ used. 
If, in 3 s ub~~'<l u~nt period, oredit quality of the instrument improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recosnition, then the entity revens to recognising 
llIlpolfillenlloss nl lowuncc based 011 12-mon!h Eel .. 

Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. The 12-month ECL is a portion of the lifetime ECL which 
results ITom default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Project Spy Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects to receive (i.e , all 
cash shortfalls), discounted at the original EIR. When estimating the cash flows, an entity is required to consider: 

-All contractual tenns of the financial instmment (including prepayment, extension, call and similar options) over the expected life of the financial instmment. However, in rare cases when the 
expected life of the financial instmment cannot be estimated reliably, then the entity is required to use the remaining contractual term of the financial instmment. -

-Cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contracluoltenns 
-FlIlonclnl assets mensnred as at amortised cost, contractual revenue receivables and lease receivables: ECL fs presented as an allowance, i.e., as an integral part of the measurement of tllOse 
3ssets ill the balance sheet. The allowance reduces the net carrying amount. Until the asset meets' write-off criteria, the Project Spy Group does not reduce impairment allowance from the 
gross carrying omOllut. 

Financial liabilities 
[IIlllal recogllilioll alld lIIeaSllrelllelll 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of profit and 10ss,Ioans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
The Project SPY Group' s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts and derivative financial instnunents. 

SIIbseqllel1/ lIIeaSllrelllelll 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Fillollclnlllllbililies nl/nlr I'allll! l!trollctt Slalellll!lIl of ,,,oji' allllloS.I' 
Fiunllcml liabil ities 01 rnir valll\l th l'oU I~h profit 01' loss il1clude finn nciai tiobililies held for tmding Plld fi nancial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through statement of 
pl'<lfi t nnd Joss. " imulcisl liabilit ies nre classified as held for tmdlng if they ore incurred ror the purpose of repurchasing in the near tenn. This category also includes derivative financial 
i l L~trlllncn ts ontered Into by tl, e Project SPV Groll p Ihnt nre nol dcsillllated as hedging instnllllcllts ill hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS 109. 

Gnfn~ 0 1' losses onl inbllitir:s hold for tmd illll nre I'cooglllsed in Ihe consolidnted Stotoment orprofit and loss. 

Loalls Ulld borrowlllgs 
This is the entellory 1II0st I'olevant to the Project SPY Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the ElR 
method. On ns and lo~r:s nre recognised in statement of profit and loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost ill ca lculatod by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The ErR amortisation is included as finance 
costs in thn stntcmcllt ofprofil [Illd Joss. 

This category generally applies to borrowings. For more infonnation refer note 16. 

Derecogllilloll 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cnncelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by anotller from the same lender 
on substantially different tenns, or the tenns of an existing liability are substnl1t ially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition ofa new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amollllts is rccogniscd in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. 

Offselllllg of jillallciallllSlrtllllell/s 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset alld the net amount is reported ill the standalone balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amoullts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

3.17 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprises of cash at banks and on hand and short-tenn deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-tenn deposits, as defined above, as they are considered an integral part of the Project 
Spy Group's cash management. 

3.18 Cash dil,ldcllllto C(lu!ty hQlders of the Project Spy Group 

3.19 

The PrCljeOt Spy Group recognises a liability to make cash or non-cash distributions to equity holders of the parent when the distribution is authorised and the distribution is no longer at the 
discretloll of (he Project s py Group. As per the corporate laws in India, a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in 
equity, 
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In assessing value in use, the estimAlcd fllturc cosh fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects currerll market. assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. tu det~nlljulng fair vnllle less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactiolls can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These cnl ~I! lmions arc COrroboffiled by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fnir value indicators. 

The Project SJ;>Y Group bases ils iltlpllirnlcnl caloulatlon Oil detniled budgels and forecas t calculations, which nrc prepared scpomtcly for c;lch of the Projeci Spy Groul" s CGUs to which the 
individunl assets are alloooled , These blldgcts nlld forecasl cn lculm/ons gcnemlly cover a period of five years. ror longer periods, a long-tenn growth mle is calculnled ond applied to projeci 
future cash flows nncr Ihe finh yll.1r. To e:l limatc cash now PI'ojCCtioilS beyond periods covered by the lIIoSI recenl budgetslforcCllsts. the Project Spy Group extrapolates cash flow 
projeclions in Ihe budgel IIsing n stendy or dccllni,lgllrOwth rale for slIusCqucnl yeal'l!, t1l1 lc~s nn increasing mtc can be juslified. In any IlIIse, Ihis growth rate does nDt exceed the long-tenn 
llvurage growlh mle l'or Ihe proi.lucls. Ind uslries, or country or COtUltries in which Iho clllity operotes, or for the market In which the assel is used. 

ror assCI e.~ol ilding goodwill, aI. osscssmcnt is mnde 01 cach reporting tiMe 10 delennillc whell •• , lhere is on IndicnllOu that proviously recognised Illipainncill losses no longer exist or have 
deoreased. Ir suoh indication exists. the Project Spy Group cstimoles the nssel's or CGU's reeovcrnble 8m0l1nt, A previously recognised illlpail'\ncl1t loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change irtll10 assnmpl lon~ used III dClen l1lne the assel's recoverable "1I101lnt since Ihe 10SI ImpainnclIt loss wos recognised. The reversal is limited so Ih91 .ho carrying 01110. 1111 of the assel does 
not exceed Its recoverable 11I1101mt, nor excccd the carrying 8 111 0 11111 thai wOllld have Ix:en determined, nel of de preei ali on. hnd no IInl'ninllOlll loss been recognised for lite n 'set in prior years. 
SlIoh rcveo;al is recognised in the statement of profit and loss 

Goodwill is tested for impainnent annually as 81 31 Moreh al1d when circumstances indicate Ihat the carrying Vll lue IIlny be impaired. 

Impainnent is detennined for goodwill by assessing tbe recoverable amount of each CGU (or Projeol Spy Group orCGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the 
CGU is less than its carrying amount, all impnil1l1cnr loss is recognised. Impainnent losses relatmg 10 goodwill cannol be reversed in future periods. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impainnent annually as at 31 March at the CGU level, as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired. 

3.20 Segment information 
Based on "Management Approach" as defined in Ind AS 108 - Opernting Segments, the Management ("the Board of Directors" ) evaluates the Project Spy Group's perfonnance and allocates 
the resources based on an analysis of various perfonnance indicalOrs by bllsin~s~ segments. Inter segment sales and transfers are reflected at market prices. 
Unallocable items includes general corporate income and expense itenUl whlclt nrc not allocated to any business segment. 

Segment policies: 

Based on "Management Approach" as defined in Ind AS 108 -Operating Segments, the Management evaluates the Project SPY Group's performance and allocates the resources based Oil an 
analysis of various perfonnance indicators by business segments. Inter segment sales and transfers are reflected at market prices. 

Unallocable items includes general corporate income and expense items which are not allocated to any business segment. 

The Project Spy Group prepares its segment infonnation in confonnity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements ofthe Project Spy Group as 
a whole. Common allocable costs are allocated to each segment on an appropriate basis. 

3.21 Earnings per unit 
Basic earnings per unit are calculmclilly ct ividlng the net profit or loss for the period attributable to unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period. For the 
purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to unilholders and the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period are 
adjusted for the effects of all dil ul lve potentinilinits. 

3.22 Foreign currencies 
The Tn.st's financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Trust's functional currency. The Trust does not have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional currency to 
be INR. 

Transactions and balances 
Trnnsnclions in foreigll cUJTeneics arc initJolly recorded by the Tntsl n! their respective fUliclionnl currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets 
OJJd liallillt es denominated ill rorc i ~n curroncies nrc tmnslated at Ihe liJllctionnl olll'I'enoy SPOI mles of exchange at the reporting date. 
DiO'crc.nces nrising 011 seulOOlont or trnnslatioll ofmolletnry itcll1~ nre rccoguiscd in d1e slatement of profit or loss. 
Non-monetary items Ihal ore mcosuccd In lenm; of historical COSI in 0 foreigll cun'cncy nrc tmnsltttcd using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 

3.23 Recent pronouncements 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On 
March 3 1,2023, MCA amended the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023, as below: 

Ind AS 1: Disclosure of Mmerinl Accounling policy infonuation and similar consequential amendment to Ind AS 34. 
Ind AS 1: Disclosure of tho judgements. aport fl'01l1 those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the entity's accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the 81J1C!\U\ls rccognlsed in the linancial statements. 
lnd AS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimate as "Accounting estimates are monetary amollnts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty". Further amendments to 
paragraphs delineating Changes to Accounting Estimates. 
Inri AS 12: Amendmenls to losable lempomry diOercl\ce, illiliol l'ccogl lli lotl orassol ar linbility and Deductible taxable differences. 
Iud AS 12; Deferred lax related to 1Is.~e t s ond liabilities atising rrom Singh) Tmnsnctioll. 
hil I A 107: I"ronnniion allou! measuroment basis (or buses) for financia l instnullcnts In be disclosed as material accounting policy. 
Inti i\ 109: Amendmenl to paragraph 011 reassessment oCemlx:ddcd derivative. 
Inll AS 115; Amendments 10 Appendix I which gives there in Ihe major dlffeccnccs, irnny, belw~en Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 115 and the corresponding International Financial 
Repon ing Stnndard (I FRS) 15. Revenue rrom Contl1lots with CuStOIllCo;, IFRIC 11, ServIce Concession Arrangements and SIC 29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures, issued by 
the lnlemntionnl A(teolllltin& Slnnd,ll'ds Board 

Based on the preliminary assessment, the company does not expect !l1ese amendment to have any significant impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 4: Property, Plant and Equipment 
(Rs. in Millions) 

Premises Computer 
Office Furniture and 

Total 
Equipments Fixture 

At 31 March 2021 16.09 0.30 1.40 0.39 18.18 
Additions 
Disposals/ Adjustments 
At 31 March 2022 16.09 0.30 1.40 0.39 18.18 
Additions 

Disposals! Adjustments 0.09 0.09 
At 31 March 2023 16.09 0.30 1.31 0.39 18.10 

.Depreciation 
At 31 March 2021 5.79 0.28 1.18 0.34 7.59 
Additions 1.61 0.00 0.09 0.04 1.74 
Disposals/ Adjustments 
At 31 March 2022 7.40 0.29 1.28 0.38 9.34 
Additions 1.20 0.00 0.Q3 om 1.25 
Disposals/ Adjustments 0.08 0.08 
At 31 March 2023 8.60 0.29 1.23 0.39 10.51 

Net Book value 
At 31 March 2023 7.49 0.01 0.08 0.00 7.59 
At 31 March 2022 8.69 0.02 0.12 0.02 8.85 

Net Book value March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

Property, Plant and Equipment 7.59 8.85 



Note 4 : Intangible Assets and Intangible Assets under development 

Intangible Assets ( Rs. in Millions) 

Particulars 
Toll Collection 

Total 
Rights 

At 31 March 2021 2,16,344.42 2,16,344.42 
Additions 11,814.99 11,814.99 
Deletions 
Adjustments 
At 31 March 2022 2,28,159.42 2,28,159.42 
Additions 9,663.30 9,663.30 
Deletions 295.32 295.32 
Adjustments 
At 31 March 2023 2,37,527.40 2,37,527.40 

Amortisation 
At 31 March 2021 4,626.78 4,626.78 
Additions 1,673.16 1,673.16 
Deletions 
Adjustments 
At 31 March 2022 6,299.93 6,299.93 
Additions 2,809.17 2,809.17 
Deletions 
Adjustments 
At 31 March 2023 9,109.10 9,109.10 

Net Book value 
At 31 March 2023 2,28,418.29 
At 31 March 2022 2,21,859.48 

Particulars March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

Toll Collection Rights 2,28,418.29 2,21,859.48 
Total 2,28,418.29 2,21,859.48 

Intangible assets under development 

( Rs. in Millions) 

Particulars March 31, 2023 March 31,2022 

Toll Collection Rights 

At the beginning of the year 1,290.89 4,684.26 

Add: development during the year 11,128.99 835.34 

12,419.88 5,519.60 

Less: Transfer to Intangible Asset 9,998.21 4,228.70 
(Toll Collection Rights) 

Closing balance 2,421.67 1,290.89 

Total 2,421.67 1,290.89 

Tangible and Intangible assets given as security 
Ta~~ibl~ and Intangible assets are subject to first charge to secured long-term borrowings from the lenders. 
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Particulars 

Financial Assets 

Note 5 : Investment 

i) Investments in Mutual Funds (quoted) 
Fair Value Throuj!h Profit or Loss (FVTPL) 
Canara Robeco Liquid Fund - Direct Pian - Growth 
Canam Robeco Overnight Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 
IDBl Liquid Fund - Direct Pian - Growth 
ABSL Liquid Fund - Direct Plan - Growth 
SBI Liquid Fund - Direct Growth 
SBl Overnight Fund - Direct Growth 

Total 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Market value of quoted investments 
Aggregate amount of un quoted investments 
Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments 

Refer note 31 for determination of fair value of investments 

March 31, 2023 

Face No of Units 
Value Rs. 

Current 

1,000 18,486.04 49.85 
1,000 5,174.20 6.00 
1,000 64,718.69 156.76 

100 
1,000 2,91,778.24 1,028.03 
1,000 11 ,632.96 42.44 

1,283.09 

1,283.09 

1,271.74 
1,283.09 

( Rs. in Millions) 
March 31 , 2022 

Non- Face No of Units Current Non-
current Value Rs. current 

1,000 
1,000 
1,000 48,116.73 110.24 

100 53,926.78 18.50 
1,000 1,53,238.96 510.75 
1,000 5.790.54 20.04 

659.54 

659.54 

658.76 
659.54 
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Note 6 : Trade receiva ble 
(Unsecured, considered good) 
Related parties 
Others 
Total 
Less: Allowances for expected credit loss/ bad and doubtful debt 

Total 

March 31, 2023 
Current 

0.61 
84.05 
84.67 

84.67 

on-curren! 

The Group has not identifed any credit impairment loss as at March 31,2023 and March 31, 2022. 

Note 7 : Other financial assets 
(Unsecured, considered good) 
Interest accrued on fixed deposits 11.57 
Interest receivable from others 3.73 
Retention money receivable 530.54 
Receivable from Government Authorities (NHAI) 816.07 
Other receivable 75.65 
Security and other deposits 10.99 0.33 
Total 1,448.56 0.33 

(Rs. in Millions) 

March 31,2022 
'u n'enl 

0.51 
51.03 
51.55 

51.55 

25.64 
23.99 

526.28 
965.24 

56.15 
6.89 

1,604.18 

Non-clLr rent 

2.74 
2.74 
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Note 8 : Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities (net): 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
Difference in Depreciation and other differences in block of Property, Plant 
and equipment and Intangible assets as per tax books & financial books 

Deferred tax assets: 
Effect of expenditure debited to profit and loss account in the current year but 
allowed for tax purposes in following years 

Deferred tax liabilities (net) 

Deferred tax assets: 
Deferred tax assets: 
Depreciation 

MAT credit entitlement 
Deferred Tax assets on Fair valuation 
Deferred Tax Assets 

Deferred Tax liabilities: 
Difference in Depreciation/ amortisation and other differences 

Tax losses 
Deferred tax (assets) / liabilities 

Note 9 : Other non· current assets 
Duties and taxes receivable 
Total 

March 31, 2023 

36.80 

36.80 

792.60 
792.60 

(755.80) 

174.07 
174.07 

( Rs. in Millions) 

March 31, 2022 

1,350.50 

1,350.50 

428.55 
582.83 
626.79 

1,638.17 

(287.67) 

656.55 
656.55 
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Note 10 : Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and Bank balances 
Balances with banks: 

-on current accounts 
-on trust, retention and other escrow accounts· 

Deposits with banks 
-Original maturity less than 3 months 
Cash on hand 

Total 

Note 11 : Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalent 

Maturity more than 3 months less than 12 months 

Other deposits 

Debt service reserve account with banks /earmarked balance** 

Major Maintenance Reserve Account 
Maturity more than 12 months 

Debt service reserve account with banks /earmarked balance** 
Other deposits 

Total 

March 31, 2023 

279.37 
394.06 

49.50 
8.38 

731.31 

15.09 

3,459.60 

1,390.00 

2.00 

4,866.69 

( Rs. in Millions) 
March 31, 2022 

118.03 
161.56 

7.64 
287.23 

102.53 

2,365.43 

2.00 

2,469.97 

IDebt service reserve account/ major maintenance reserve account and trust, retention and other escrow accounts 
Bank deposits are marked lien / pledged against the non current secured loan as per term loan agreement with the lender, 

further the lenders have first charge on trust, retention and other escrow accounts. 

* First charge on above to the extent of amount payable as per the waterfall mechanism as defined in the Concession 
Agreement / Common Loan Agreement. 

*. The deposits to the extent ofRs. 3,459.60 millions (March 31, 2022: Rs. 2,365.43 millions) maintained by the Project 

Spy Group with bank includes time deposits, which are held against Debt Service Reserve (DSR), are considered as 

current portion under the head "Other bank balances" since the same are encashable by the lenders in the event of default 
by the Project Spy Group, if any. 

Current deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash 

requirements of the group and earn interest at the respective current deposit rates. Other time deposits earn interest at the 

rate of 4.70% to 7.95% p.a. 

Refer note 16 for details of security against term loans. 

For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

Balance with banks: 
-on current accounts 
-on trust, retention and other escrow accounts 

Fixed deposits less than 3 months 
Cash on hand 

Less: Bank overdraft 

Total 

Note 12 : Current tax assets (net) 
Advance income-tax (net of provision for tax) 
Total 

Note 13 : Other current assets 
(Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated) 
Advance with suppliers 
- Related parties (refer note 34) 

- Others 
Mobilisation advances (refer note 34) 
Prepaid expenses 
Duties and taxes receivable 
Total 

March 31, 2023 

279.37 
394.06 

49.50 
8.38 

731.31 

24.81 
24.81 

1,347.33 
45.29 
33.68 
45.88 

1,184.89 
2,657.07 

(Rs. in Millions) 
March 31, 2022 

118.03 
161.56 

7.64 

287.23 

114.22 
114.22 

502.89 
32.22 

435.80 
0.51 

706.D4 
1,677.46 
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Note: 14 : Unit capital 
(Amount in Millions.) 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

Unit capital 
Authorised Unit capital 
Units having face value of Rs.100 each 87,92,93,265 87,929.33 85,50,43,265 85,504.33 

87,92,93.265 87,929.33 85.50,43,265 85.504.33 

Issued Unit capital 
Units having face value of Rs.1 00 each 87,92,93,265 87,929.33 85,50,43,265 85,504.33 

Total 87,92,93,265 87,929.33 85,50.43.265 85,504.33 

Terms 1 rights attached to equity shares 
The Project SPVs have only one class of equity shares having par value of Rs. 1001- per share Each holder of 
equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. The Project SPVs declares and pays dividend in Indian rupees. 

In the event of liquidation of the Project SPY, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of 
the Project SPY, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of 
equity shares held by the shareholders. 

Reconciliation of the number of unit outstanding and the amount of Unit capital: 

March 31, 2023 
Units issued, subscribed and fully paid No. of Rs. 

units 
Units having face value ofRs. 100/-
At the beginning of the year 85,50,43,265 85,504.33 
Issued during the year 2,42,50,000 2,425.00 
At the end of the year 87.92,93,265 87,929.33 

Details of unit holders holding more than 5% units: 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 
Anahera Investments Pte Ltd 
Bricklayers Investments Pte Ltd 
Chiswick Investments Pte Ltd 
Stretford End Investments Pte Ltd 
Dangenham Investments Pte Ltd 

Details of Sponsor units 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Note: 15 : Other equity 

Attributable to the equity holders 

Other reserves 

Retained earnings 
At the beginning of the year 
Profit for the year 
Less: Appropriations 
Pre-incoporation Profits 

Unit Issue expenses 
At the end of the year 

Total 

March 31, 2023 

No. of units 
% of total unit 

capital 

44,84,39,840 51% 
21,98,23,181 25% 

5,27,57,561 6% 
5,27,57,561 6% 
5,27,57,561 6% 
5,27,57,561 6% 

March 31,2023 
44,84,39,840 51% 

March 31. 2022 
No. of Rs. 
units 

81,68,80,000 81,688.00 
3,81,63,265 3.816.33 

85z50,43,265 85,504.33 

March 31, 2022 

No. of units 
% of total unit 

capital 

43,60,72,332 51% 
21,37,60,685 25% 

5,13,02,562 6% 
5,13,02,562 6% 
5,13,02,562 6% 
5,13,02,562 6% 

March 31, 2022 
43,60,72,332 51% 

March 31, 2023 March 31,2022 

(8,108.29) (3,669.05) 
(2,272.18) (4,435.98) 

(15.33) (3.26) 

(10,395.80) (8,108.29) 

(10,395.80) (8,108.29) 
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Financial liabilities 

Note: 16 : Borrowings 
Non-current Borrowings 

Term loans 
Indian rupee loan from banks (secured) 

Project loans for SPVs 
Less: current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 
Total (a) 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions (secured) 
Project loans for SPVs 

Less: current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 
Total (b) 

Non-convertible debentures (secured) 
Less: current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 
Total (c) 

Less: Unamortised transaction cost (d) 

Total non current borrowings (e = a + b + c + d) 

Current Borrowings 
Short-term borrowings (secured) 
Current maturity of long term loans 
Indian rupee loan from banks (secured) 
Indian rupee loan from financial institutions (secured) 
Non convertible debentures (secured) 
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 
(Unsecured, repayable on demand and interest free) 
Loan from related parties (refer note 34) 
Total current borrowings (f) 

Total borrowings (e+f) 

Aggregate secured loans 
Aggregate unsecured loans 

(i) Project loans for SPVs 

(Amount in Millions.) 
March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

61,005.36 78,298.59 
(639.16) (429.15) 

60,366.20 77,869.44 

6,931.65 10,328.45 
(9.75) (59.79) 

6,921.90 10,268.66 

33,432.82 5,497.18 
(\30.59) (110.76) 

33,302.22 5,386.42 

(1,646.37) (964.70) 

98,943.95 92,559.82 

639.16 429.15 
9.75 59.79 

130.59 110.76 
5.43 33.73 

5,350.72 4,085.74 
6,135.65 4,719.18 

1,05,079.60 97,279.00 

99,723.46 93,159.52 
5,350.72 4,085.74 

March 31, 2023: Rs.I,01,369.83 millions; March 31,2022: Rs. 94,124.22 millions; pertains to term loans taken by SPY's (Special Purpose 

Vehicles) for Project financing. 

Rate of interest 
Rate of interest on the Indian Rupee loan from banks and financial institutions varies from 7.75% to 10.75% p.a. (March 31,2022: 8.25% to 

10.40% p.a.) and are secured by pledge of shares of its subsidiaries and subservient charge on the current assets of the company to the extent 

of 125% ofthe outstanding loan. 

Nature of security 
i) Secured by first charge on the movable/immovable asset by way of mortgagelhypothecation; first charge on all intangible assets, present 

and future; assignment of all receivables; book debts and all rights and interest in project, both present and future, excluding the Project 

Assets of respective companies; 

ii) Secured by first charge on the Escrow Account, Debt Service Reserve Account and any other reserves and other bank accounts of the 

respective Companies. 

iii) An irrevocable and unconditional corporate guarantee from IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited to meet shortfall (if any) between debt 

due and termination payments received from Concessioning Authority in case of termination of Concession Agreement for any reason in case 
of Project SPY's. 

Repayment terms 

The Indian rupee loans are repayable in structured monthly installments commencing after commercial operation date such that the total 

tenor does not exceed 17 years and repayable as per the repayment schedule specified in common loan agreement with the Lenders. 

Note: 17: Trade payables 
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (refer note 29) 
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 
- Related parties (refer note 34) 
- Others 
Total 

1.61 

13,812.18 
1,491.69 

15,305.48 

3.69 

10,022.93 
1, 191.71 

11,218.34 
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March 31, 2023 

Current 

Note 18 : Other financial liabilities 
Obligation for construction 1,102.31 
Directors sitting fees payable 0.44 
Deposit 1.18 
Retention money payable 
- Related parties (refer note 34) 636.46 

- Others 295.83 

Revenue share payable 345.46 

Other payable 
- Related parties (refer note 34) 167.70 
Total 2,549.37 

Note: 19: Trade payables 

la) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 
micro and small enterprises 

t_ Related parties 

Note 20 : Provisions 

Non-current 

2.77 

35,778.03 
35,780.80 

March 31, 2023 

4, 165.72 
4,165.72 

March 31,2023 

Others 

Major maintenance expenses 
Total 

Current 

The movement in provision for resurfacing expenses is as follows: 

Opening balance 
Obligation on new to1\ projects 

Utilised / reversed during the year 
Closing balance 

Non-current 

2,965.03 
2,965.03 

March 31,2023 

1,350.57 

1,614.45 

2,965.03 

( Rs. in Millions) 
March 31, 2022 

Current Non-current 

2,009.01 

0.36 
1.13 

256.48 

336.92 

225.81 

193.42 35,168.79 
3,023.13 35,168.79 

March 31, 2022 

5,998.85 
5,998.85 

March 31, 2022 

Current Non-current 

1.350.57 
1,350.57 

March 31,2022 

357.84 

992.73 

1,350.57 

The above provisions are based on current best estimation of expenses that may be required to fulfi1\ the resurfacing obligation as per the 

service concession agreement with regulatory authorities. It is expected that significant portion of the costs will be incurred over the 

period. The actual expense incurred may vary from the above. No reimbursements are expected from any sources against the above 

obligation. 

Note 21 : Other current liabilities 
Duties and taxes payable 

Advance from customer- Others 
Total 

March 31,2023 

64.12 

34.03 
98.15 

March 31, 2022 

129.65 

10.50 
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Note 22: Revenue from operations 

Contract revenue (road construction) 
Income from toll collection (gross) 
Less - Revenue Share to NHAI 
Income arising out of toll collection (net) 
Revenue share to NHAI- Fastag 
Other operating revenue 
Total 

Note 23 : Other income 

Interest income on 
- Bank deposits 
- Others 
Profit on sale of investments 
Fair value gain on mutual funds 
Other non operating income 
Total 

Note 24 : Road work and site expenses 

Contract expenses 
Operation and maintenance expenses 
Site and other direct expenses 
Sub-contracting I Security expenses 
Technical consultancy and supervision charges 
Total 

Note 25 : Depreciation and amortIsation expenses 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (refer note 4) 
Amortisation on intangible assets (refer note 4) 
Total 

Note 26 : Finance cost 

Interest expense 
- Banks and financial institutions 
- Debentures 
- Unwinding of retention money 

Other borrowing costs 
- Amortisation of Transaction cost 
- Unwinding of discount on provision ofMMR 
- Interest unwinding on loan/retention money 
- Interest unwinding of Trade Payable- Associates 
- Others 

Total 

March 31, 2023 

11,672.04 
21,097.46 
(5.671.70) 
15,425.76 

(185.44) 
0.23 

26,912.59 

178.88 
7.17 

62.95 
11.35 
2.73 

263.08 

11,330.91 

1,471.41 
0.00 
0.35 

62.84 

12.865.52 

1.25 
2.809.17 

2,810.42 

7,387.76 
1,617.52 

128.80 
143.D4 
48.71 

765.06 
163.82 

10.254.69 

(Amount in Millions.) 

March 31, 2022 

1,054.48 
12,377.44 
(1.779.36) 
10,598.07 

(212.87) 
965.16 

12.404.84 

73.64 
8.05 

13.93 
0.78 

3.73 
100.13 

1,036.47 

939.15 

0.72 
53.20 

2.029.53 

1.74 
1,673.16 
1.674.90 

8,670.13 

48.71 

78.02 

39.64 

655.78 
46.44 

9.538.70 
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Note 27 : Other expenses 

Rent 
Rates and taxes 
Water charges 
Travelling and conveyance 
Director sitting fees 
Legal and professional expenses 
Corporate social responsibilities expenditure 
Donations 
Bank charges 
Miscellaneous expenses 
Fair value loss on measurement of other payable 
Total 

Note 27A : Payment to auditor (including GST) 

As auditors: 
- Statutory audit fees 
- Limited review fees 
In other capacity 
- Other services ( certification fees) 
Reimbursement of expenses 
Total 

March 31, 2023 

0.03 
81.75 

om 
1.83 

163.58 

2.50 
2.83 
3.76 

256.29 

1.42 
2.05 

1.37 
0.20 
5.04 

(Amount in Millions.) 

March 31, 2022 

0.24 
31.64 

1.61 
186.84 

8.00 

5.54 
1.19 

235.06 

1.23 
1.70 

0.17 
0.04 
3.13 
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Note 28 : Commitment and Contingencies 

a. Leases 
Rent / lease payments under operating lease are recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis over the 
lease term. 

Operating lease 

a) Future lease rental payments under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows:­
i) Not later than one year 
ii) Later than one year and not more than five year 
iii) Later than five year 
b) Lease payment recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss 
c) General description of the leasing agreement 

i) Leased assets - accommodation for employees 
ii) Future lease rentals are determined on agreed terms 

b. Capital commitments 

Estimated value of contracts in capital account remaining to be executed 

c. Contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities not provided for 

Guarantees given by the Group to suppliers, government bodies and performance guarantee 
For Service Tax, ESIC, Custom Duty, Other Finance expenses and Stamp duty matters 
Total 

(Rs in millions) 

March 31,2023 March 31,2022 

0.03 0.24 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

14,295.07 625.98 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

UTL, CGTL and KGTL have filed Writ petition with Hon'ble Rajasthan High Court with prayer to commence payment of Premium to National Highways 

Authority of India (NHAI) six months post actual completion of the project construction work. The Hon'ble High Court prima facie agreed with the 

contention of these companies and had provided interim relief from payment of premium. Vide judgement order dated 25th August, 2021, the Hon'ble High 

Court found merit in the contention of the companies and has directed the parties to resolve the dispute under Arbitration. The said matter is currently 

pending under Arbitration. 

During the year premium payment to NHAI has been commenced in IRBHM and KGTL. 
Note 29 : Trade payable 

Under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (,MSMED') which came into force from 2 October 2006, certain disclosures are 
required to be made relating to Micro, Small and Medium enterprises. On the basis or the informntion and records available with the management, there are 
no overdue amount to the Micro and Small enterprises as defined in the Micro, Small Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 as set out in the 
following disclosures: 

The disclosure in respect of the amount payable to enterprises which have provided goods and services to the Group and which qualify under the definition 
of micro and small enterprises, as defined under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 has been made in the consolidated financial 
statement as at March 31, 2023 based on the information received and available with the Group. 

Particulars March 31, 2023 

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the period end 1.61 
Interest due thereon 
Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of section 16 of the MSMED, along with the amount of 
the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during the accounting period. 

Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but 
beyond the appointed day during the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 
2006 

Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period 
The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date 
when the interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as 
a deductible expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 

March 31, 2022 

3.69 
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a) MSME ageing schedule as at 

Particulars 

MSME Undisputed Dues 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006 

March 31, 2023 March 31,2022 

1.61 3.69 

1.61 3.69 

There are no disputed dues to micro and small enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006. The amounts payable to MSME are not due for payments. 

b) Ageing of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 

Particulars 

Undisputed Dues 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises as at 

There are no disputed dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises. 

c) out of the above unbilled amount 

Note 30: Intangble Asset under development ageing schedule 

a) Intangible asset under development 

Particulars 

Less than I year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total 

b) Intangible asset under development 

Particulars 

To be completed in 

Less than 1 year 

1-2 Years 

2-3 Years 

More than 3 years 

Total 

March 31, 2023 

7,438.37 

9,433.59 

2,559.45 

38.18 

19,469.59 

2,660.17 

March 31,2023 

2,339.97 

54.59 

27.11 

2,421.67 

March 31,2023 

2,421.67 

2,421.67 

March 31, 2022 

13,369.16 

3,808.21 

12.82 

23.32 

17,213.50 

3,191.66 

(Rs in millions) 

March 31, 2022 

1,055.74 

59.90 

175.24 

1,290.89 

March 3],2022 

1,290.89 

1,290.89 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 31 : Fair values 

The carrying values offinancials instruments of the Group are reasonable and approximations of fair values. 

Financial assets 
Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost 

Loans 
Other Financial assets 

Financial assets measured at fair 
value through statement of Profit & 
Loss 

Investments (Quoted) 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
Investments (Unquoted) 

Trade receivable 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Other Bank balances 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
Trade payables 
Borrowings 

Other financial liabilities 

Carrying amount 

March 31, March 31, 
2023 2022 

1,448.89 

1,283.09 

84.67 

731.31 

4,866.69 

19,471.20 
1,05,079.60 

38,330.17 

1,606.92 

659.54 

51.55 

287.23 

2,469.97 

17,217.19 
97,279.00 
38,191.92 

Fair Value 

March 31,2023 March 31, 2022 

1,448.89 

1,283.09 

84.67 

731.31 

4,866.69 

19,471.20 
1,05,079.60 

38,330.17 

1,606.92 

659.54 

51.55 

287.23 

2,469.97 

17,217.19 
97,279.00 
38,191.92 

The management assessed that the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current liabilities 

approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between 

willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Group has determined that market participants would take into account when pricing 

the investments. 

Note 32 : Fair value hierarchy 
All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

Levell: Quoted (unadjusted) price in active market for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement are observed, either directly or 
indirectly 

Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input has a significant effect on the fair value measurement is not based on observable market data. 
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Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments as at March 31, 2023: 
(Rs in millions) 

As on Mar31, 
2023 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year using 

Assets 
Investments (Quoted) 

Trade Receivable 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Bank balance other than above 

Loans 

Other Financial assets 

Liabilities 

Borrowings 

Trade Payable 

Other financial liabilities 

1,283.09 

84.67 

731.31 

4,866.69 

1,448.89 

1,05,079.60 

19,471.20 

38,330.17 

Levell 

1,283.09 

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments as at March 31, 2022: 

Level 2 Level 3 

84.67 

731.31 

4,866.69 

1,448.89 

1,05,079.60 

19,471.20 

38,330.17 

(Rs in millions) 

As on Mar31, 
2022 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year using 

Assets 
Investments (Quoted) 

Trade Receivable 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Bank balance other than above 

Loans 

Other Financial assets 

Liabilities 

Borrowings 

Trade Payable 

Other financial liabilities 

659.54 

51.55 

287.23 

2,469.97 

1,606.92 

97,279.00 

17,217.19 

38,191.92 

There has been no transfer between Levell, Level 2 & Level 3 during the year. 

Note 33 : Financial risk management objectives and policies 

Level 1 Level 2 

659.54 

Level 3 

51.55 

287.23 

2,469.97 

1,606.92 

97,279.00 

17,217.19 

38,191.92 

The Group's risk management policies are established to identifY and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 

monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group' s 

activities. 

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. 
In performing its operating, investing and financing activities, the Group is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Currency risk. 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk 

comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments 

affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, deposits, FYTOCI investments and derivative financial instruments. 
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Credit risk on financial assets 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The 
Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks 
and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments. 

Financial instruments 
Credit risk from balances with banks, trade receivables, loans and advances and financial institutions is managed by the Group's management in accordance 

with the Group's policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. 

Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the top management on an annual basis, and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the 

Company's board of directors. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through counterparty's potential 

failure to make payments. 

Trade receivables and Loans and Advances 
Customer credit risk and Loans and advances is managed by each business unit subject to the Group's established policy, procedures and control relating to 

customer credit risk management. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major trade receivables and loan 

and advances. The Group has not identifed any impairment loss as at March 31, 2023. 

The following table provides information about the ageing of gross carrying amount of trade recievables as at: 

(Rs in millions) 

Gross Carrying Amount March 31,2023 March 31, 2022 

Undisputed Trade recievables -
Less than 6 months 33.02 

6 months - 1 year 0.10 29.37 

1-2 Years 29.37 0.51 
2-3 Years 0.51 21.66 

More than 3 years 21.66 

Total 84.67 51.55 

Other financial assets 
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group in accordance with the Group's policy. Investments of surplus 

funds are made only in highly marketable debt instruments with appropriate maturities to optimise the cash return on instruments while ensuring sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The 

Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate borrowings. 

Interest rate sensitivity 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after 

excluding the credit exposure on fixed rate borrowing. With all other variables held constant, the Group's profit before tax is affected through the impact on 

floating rate borrowings, as follows: 
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Balance of Fixed Deposit and Borrowings 

- INR Millions 

Increase in basis points 
-INR 

Effect on profit before tax 
- INR Millions 

Decrease in basis points 

- INR 

Effect on profit before tax 
- INR Millions 

Liquidity risk 

Borrowings Fixed De(!osits 

March 31,2023 

1,01,369.82 4,866.69 

50 bps 50 bps 

(506.85) 24.33 

50 bps 50 bps 

506.85 (24.33) 

(Rs in millions) 
Borrowings Fixed De(!osits 

March 31,2022 

94,124.22 2,469.97 

50 bps 50 bps 

(470.62) 12.35 

50 bps 50 bps 

470.62 (12.35) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses. 

The Group's objective is to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. The Group closely monitors its 

liquidity position and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt from banks at an optimised cost. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

As at March 31,2023 Carrying amt Total On Demand 
Less than 1 

1 to 5 years 
year 

> 5 years 

Long term Borrowings (Gross of 1,06,725.97 \,06,725.97 5,350.72 784.93 17,853.83 82,736.49 
unamot1ised transaction cost) 

Other financial liabilities 38,330.17 38,330.17 2,549.37 35,780.80 
Trade payables 19,471.20 19,471.20 15,305.48 4,165.72 

Total 1,64,527.34 1,64,527.34 5,350.72 18,639.78 57,800.35 82,736.49 

As at March 31, 2022 Carrying amt Total On Demand 
Less than 1 

1 to 5 years 
year 

> 5 years 

Long term Borrowings (Gross of 98,243.70 98,243.70 4,085.74 633.43 14,152.24 79,372.29 
unamortised transaction cost) 

Other financial liabilities 38,191.92 38,191.92 3,023.13 35,168.79 
Trade payables 17,217.19 17,217.19 11.218.34 5,998.85 
Total 1,53,652.81 1,53,652.81 4,085.74 14,874.90 55.319.88 79.372.29 
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Note 34 : Related party disclosures 

List of Related parl'ies of the Fund 
(i) Parties to the InvlT IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited (Sponsor and 

Project Manager) 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited (Investment 
Manager) 
!DB! Trusteeship Services Limited (Trustee of the IRS 
Infrastructure Trust) 

(ii) Associates, Promoters, Directors and Partners of the As per table below 
persons mentioned in clause (i) and (ii) 

List of Ilssocintc I J'ol1lotcrs directors and nrlncrs of the )crsons mentioned in clause (i) and (ii) 
Particulars IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (Sponsor MMK Toll Road Private Limited (Investment 

Promoters 

Directors 

and Project Manager) Manager) 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Mrs, Deepali V, Mhaiskar 
Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 
Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Mrs. DeepaJi V. Mhaiskar 
Mr. Jose Tamariz Martel Goncer 
Mr. Ravindra Dhariwal 

IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRS!DL) 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Mr. Kunnasagaran Chinniah 

Independent Directors Independent Directors 
Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan Mr. K G Krishnamurthy 
Mr. Sunil H. Talati Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape 
Mr. Sandeep J. Shah 
Mrs. Priti Savla 

Associates A) Holding Company of Sponsor / Project Manager 
IRS Holding Private Limited (Formerly Mhaiskar Ventures Private Limited) 

B) Subsidiary Companies of Sponsor / Project Manager 
Project SPVs 
I. IRB Westconst Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) 
2. Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 
3. Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YATL) 
4. Kaithal Tollway Limited (KTL) 
5. AE Tollway Limited (AETL) 
6. Udaipur Tollway Limited (UTL) 
7. CG Tollway Limited (CGTL) 
8. Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited (KGTL) 
9. IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited (IRBHMTL) 
10. Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited (PDTPL) 

Others 
I. Ideal Road Builders Private Limited (IRBPL) 
2. Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited (MIPL) 
3. Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) 
4. Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (ATRPL) 
5. ATR Infrastructure Private Limited (ATRFL) 
6. IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) 
7. Thane Ghodbunder Toll Road Private Limited (TGTRPL) 
8. Aryan Infrastructure Investments Private Limited (AIIPL) 
9. IRB MP Expressway Private Limited (formerly known as NKT Road and Toll Private Limited) 
10. MMK Toll Road Private Limited (MMK) 
II. IRB Kolhapur Integrated Road Development Company Private Limited (IRBK) 
12. Aryan Hospitality Private Limited (AHPL) 
13. IRS Sindhudurg Airport Private Limited (IRBSA) 
14. IRS Goa Tollway Private Limited (IRS Goa) 
IS. IRB PS Highway Private Limited (formerly known as MRM Highways Private Limited) (IRBPS) 
16. IRB Ahmedabad Vadodara Super Express Tollway Private Limited (IRBAV) 

IDBI Trusteeship Services 
Limited ( Trustee of IRB 
Infrastructure Trust) 

!DB! Bank Limited 
LlC Corporation Limited 
General Insurace Corporation 
Mr. Samuel Joseph Jebaraj 
Mr. Pradeep Kumar Jain 
Mrs. Jayashree Vijay Ranade 
Mr. Pradeep Kumar Malhotra 

Ms. BaJjinder Kaur Mandai 

17. MRM Mining Private Limited (Formerly "J J Patel Infrastructural and Engineering Private Limited") (Subsidiary ofMRMPL) 
18. GEl Expressway Private Limited (formerly known as IRS PP Project Private Limited) 
19. VKI Expressway Private Limited (VK I) 
20. Modern Estate (Partnership Firm) 
21. Pathankot Mandi Highway Private Limited 
22. Chittoor Thachur Highway Private Limited Y / 
23. Meerut Sudaun Expressway Limited - Subsidiary upto October 14,2022 and Entity with Joint Control w.e.f. October 15.202Q; ', ~ 1 ~ 
24. VM7 Expressway Private Limmited .!. 1\ UMBAI -I 

25. Samakhiyali Tollwav Private Limited w.eJ 14.03.2023 .... ~ 



C) Other Associate Companies of Sponsor / Project Manager 
I. Virendra D. Mhaiskar (HUF) 
2. VCR Toll Services Private Limited 
3. VDM Ventures Private Limited 
4. DEUX Farming Films Private Limited 
5. IRB Charitable Foundation 

Key Managerial personnel of Project Spy Group (Only with whom Project Spy Group had transactions during the year/ there was balance 
outstanding at the year end) 

I. Ms. Shilpa Todankar 
2. Mr. Abhay Phatak (w.e.f. March 09, 2022) 
3. Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 
4. Mr. Omprakash Singh 
5. Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan 
6. Mrs. Ranjana Paranjape (w.e.fOctober 06,2021) 
7. Mrs. Arati Taskar 
8. Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
9. Mr. Amitabh Murarka 
10. Mr. Jitendra Sharma (upto February 28,2022) 
11. Mrs. Heena Raja (upto October 01,2021) 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Related I' n rty Transactions 

Sponsor and Project Fellow subsidiaries of Key Manaeement Trustee of lRB 
Manager Investment Manager Project Spy Group 

Personnel of Project SPY 
Infrastructure Trust Sr. Particulars Group 

No. 
March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

1 IContract expenses - - - - 858.69 629.52 - - -
IRH Infrastructure Developers Limited - - - - - - - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - - 858.69 629.52 - - -

2 Operation & Main. Expenses 2,719.41 1,906.45 - - - - -
IRB Infrastmcture Developers Limited 2,719.41 1,906.45 - - - - - - -

3 
Finance Cost -Interest unwinding on Tl'hd~ - - - 765.06 655.79 - - -payable 
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - - 765.06 655 .79 - - - -

4 Mobilisation advances recovered 509.07 743.02 - - - - - -
rRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 509.07 743.02 - - - - - - - -

5 Muter;nl Aggregate Purchase - - - 588.05 1,555.19 - - - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - - 588.05 1,555.19 - - -

6 Advance given includine BG margin given 896.12 451.03 - - - 62.57 - - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 896.12 451.03 - - - - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - 62.57 - -

7 General advance recovel'ed - EPC - 394.25 - - - 62,48 - - - -
IRE Infrastructure Developers Limited - 394.25 - - - - - - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - - 62.48 - - -

8 Construction cost 11,171.92 8,484.71 - - - - -
IRD Infrastructure Developers Limited 11,171.92 8,484.71 - - - - - -
MOllem Road Makers Private Limited - - - - - - -

9 1\lIIolln t held ul' 77.81 - - - 74.86 2.76 - - - -
[ltB Infrastructure Developers Limited 77.81 - - -
Modcm Road Makers Private Limited - 74.86 2.76 - - - -

10 Ratcntionl Held up release during Year - - - - 45.63 - - - - -
Mod~rn Road Makers Private Limited - - - - 45 .63 - - - - -

11 Other payable 560.52 2,161.31 - - 48.73 48.71 - -
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 560.52 2,161.31 - - - - - - -
Mhaiskar Infrastmcture Private Limited - - - - 48.71 48.71 - - -
Modern Road Makers Private Limited - - - - 0.D2 · - - -

12 Expenses incurred on our behalf - 1.77 - - · · · - -
IRB Infrastnlcture Developers Limited - 1.77 · - - · - -

13 Unsecured Loan received 1,532.48 4,759.00 - - - · - - - -
IRB Infrastnlctme Developers Limited 1,532.48 4,759.00 - · · · - - -

14 I Unsccul'cli Loan repaid 267,50 4,828.83 · · - · - - - -
I RB Infrastructure Developers Limited 267.50 4,828.83 · · . - - - - -

15 Ull il ' Issued 1,236.75 1,946.33 - - - · - · -
IRB Infrastmcture Developers Limited 1,236.75 1,946.33 - - - - - -

16 Trade payable 212.45 - · 12.88 12.80 - · -
IRB Infrastnlcture Developers Limited 212.45 - - - - · · -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited · - - · 12 .80 - · - . 
MMK Toll Roael Private Limited · - - 12.88 - - - - -

17 Additional Intangible Asset - · · - 7,148.39 - - - -
Modem Road Makers Private Limited - · - - 7,148.39 - - - -

18 Deletion Intangible Asset - - - - 23.46 - · - -
Modem Road Makers Limited · - · - 23.46 - - - . . 

19 Interest unwinding ofIntangible Asset · - - - 33.74 - - · - -
Modem Rond Mnkcrs Limited - - · - 33.74 · - · - -



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Itelnlc( I r l ' orl\, rnnsllahous 

Sponsor and Project Fellow subsidiaries of 
Key Management 

Trustee of IRB 

Sr. Manager Investment Manager 
Project SPV Group 

Personnel of Project SPV 
Infrastructure Trust 

Particulars Groull 
No. 

March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 
2023 2021 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

20 Investment Management Fees . " 56.52 42.48 " " " " - -
MMK Toll Road Pvt Limited - 56.52 42.48 - · - - " 

21 T rustee Fees . . - - - - " - 5.30 3.33 
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - - . . - . - - 5.30 3.33 

22 Dircclur sitting fees paid - · " · · 1.83 1.65 1.83 1.65 
Mrs. Arati Taskar · · · · 0.06 . 0.06 . 
Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar · · · · · 0.22 0.23 0.22 0.23 
Mr.Omprakash Singh · · · 0.19 0.23 0.19 0.23 
Mr. Sudhir Hoshing · " · - · 0.06 0.06 
Mr. Jitendra Sharma - · · · · · 0.41 . 0.41 
Mrs. Heena Raja · · · · · · · 0.06 - 0.06 
Mr. C S Kaptan - · · · · · 0.33 0.39 0.33 0.39 
Ms. Shilpa Todankar · · - - · · 0.51 0.26 0.51 0.26 
Mrs.RanJnnn Paranjape · · · 0.13 0.05 0.13 0.05 
Mr. Abhay Pathak · · · · 0.25 0.02 0.25 0.Q2 
Mr, Amitnbh Murru'Kn · · · - 0,06 0.06 . 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Condensed Interim Special Purpose Consolidated / Combined Financial Statements 

II. Related party balances 

Sr. 
No. 

Particulars 

Sponsor and Project 
Manager 

March 31, March 31, 
2023 2022 

I Short-term borrowings 

IRD Infrastructure Developers Limited 

2 Trllde payable 

IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited 
Modern Road Makers Private Limited 

MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

3 Mobilisation advances 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

4 Advance given 

IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited 
Modern Road Makers Private Limited 

5 Retention payable 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited 

Other payable including BG margin 
6 payable 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 
Modern Road Makers Private Limited 
IRB Goa Tollway Private Limited 
Mhaiskar Infrastructure Private Limited 

Other payable ( Exp incurred on our 
7 behalf) 

IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited 

8 Unsecured Loan / other payable 

IRll Infrastructure Developers Limited 

9 TI':ldc Receivable 

Modem Road Makers Private Limited 

10 Expense payable 

IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited 
Modem Road Makers Private Limited 
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited 

11 Other receivable 

MMl< Toll Road Private Limited 

12 Director sitting fees Payable 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 
Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Mr. Ajay P. Deshmllkh 
Mr. Rajendra kllmar Agarwal 
Mrs. Aarti Taskar 
Mr. Darshan Sangurdekar 
Mr. Omprakash Singh 
Mr. Sudhir Hoshing 
Mr. Jitendra Sharmn 

477.81 
477.81 

4,931.60 
4,931 .60 

33.68 

33.68 

451.18 
451.1 8 

32,246.65 

32,246.65 

1.77 

1.77 

4,872.91 
4,872.91 

491.53 
491 .53 

--. ~ 
Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma \..E & ~ -

Mrs. Heena Raja ~~'+-~ ~S-9~ _ 
Mr. C S Kaptan I <!J MUI (tl ~\ -

Mrs. Kshama Vengsarkar i;I ~' I ~ * ,i -
Miss Shilpa Todankar - ~ ~4t. ~~~'f '!l -
Mr. Abhay Pathak ~ o. 111 '.I:-~ _ 
Mr. Amitabh Murarka ~ ACC< ~ _ -Mrs. Ranillnn Pnmn jnpc 

477.81 
477.81 

1,189.05 
1,189.05 

435.80 
435.80 

502.86 
502.86 

31,711.77 

31,711.77 

1.77 

1.77 

3,607.93 
3,607.93 

938.23 
938.23 

Investment Manager 

March 31. 
2023 

78.54 

78.54 

0.08 
0.08 

March 31. 
2022 

80.31 

80.31 

(Rs in millions) 
Fellow subsidaries of Project Key Management Personnel 

SPY Group of Project Spy Group 

March 31. 
2023 

12,475.69 

12,475.69 

0.03 

0.03 

281.35 
281 .35 

3,697.39 

1,800.84 

1,544.86 

351.69 

0.61 
0.61 

March 31. 
2022 

11,888.28 

11.888.28 

0.03 

0.03 

256.49 
256.49 

3,648.68 

1,800.83 

1,544.86 

302.98 

0.51 
0.51 

March 31, 
2023 

0.51 

0.51 

0.44 

0.01 

0.05 

0.04 

0.01 
0.02 

0.08 

0.13 
0.Q7 
0.01 

0.03 

March 31, 
2022 

0.43 

0.01 

0.05 

0.05 

0.09 

0.1 1 

0.09 

0.03 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 35 : Capital management 
Capital includes equity attributable to the unitholders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its 

business and maximise unitholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions 01' 

its business requirements. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Project Spy Group may adjust the dividend payment to unitholders, return capital 

to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended March 31, 2023. 

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less 

cash and cash equivalents. 

Borrowings 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 10 ) 

Net debt 

Equity (Note 14 and 15) 

Total equity 

Capital and net debt 

Gearing ratio (%) 

March 31, 2023 

1,05,079.60 

(731.31) 

1,04,348.29 

77,533.53 

77,533.53 

1,81,881.82 

57.37% 

March 31, 2022 

97,279.00 

(287.23) 

96,991.77 

77,396.04 

77,396.04 

1,74,387.81 

55.62% 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to 

the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to 

immediately caIl loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings in the current period. 

Note 36: Details of Project management fees and Investment management fees 
Details offees paid to project manager and investment manager as required pursuant to SEBI Circular No, CIRIMD/DFII27i20 16, dated November 29,2016 

are as under: 

i) Project Management Fees 
In accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration payable by the Project SPVs to the Project Manager has been worked 

out and agreed upon for the duration of current financial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager and the respective Project SPY, on an 

arm's length basis, after taking into account the extent of work to be done in respect of maintenance and other services to be provided by the Project 

Manager to such Project SPY. 

ii) Investment Management Fees 
Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the fees will be paid to the Investment Manager for the services provided by it 

("Management Fees"). The Management Fees have been revised for the Financial Year with the approval of the Unitholders, where the votes cast by 

Unitholders so entitled and voting in favor of a resolution are not less than one-and-a-half times the votes cast against such resolution. Pursuant to a 

resolution of the Unitholders, the Management Fees for the Financial Year 2023 has been revised to Rs.47.70 millions 

Note 37: Revenue share / premium payment to NHAI 
(a) During the year ended March 31,2023, the Group has paid/accrued Rs. 5,671 .70 millions (March 31, 2022, Rs. 1,779.36 millions) as Revenue Share to 

National Highways Authority of India ("NHAI") out of its toll collection in accordance with the Concession Agreements entered with NHAI. Income fi'om 

Operations in the financials for the above periods is net off the abovc Revenue Share to NHAI. 

(b) During the year ended March 31, 2017, AE Tollway Limited (AETL) has entered into a Concession agreement (CA) with NHAI for a period of 24 
years. As per the terms of the CA, AETL has agreed to pay a premium in the form of" Additional Concession Fee" equal to Rs. 810.00 millions for the first 

year and each subsequent year such premium shaIl be determined by increasing the amount of premium in the respective year by an additional 5% as 

compared to the immediately preceding year. Management based on the legal opinion obtained and their evaluations of the terms of the CA, believes that 

such premium payable is restricted to the toll collection during the year and is in the form of revenue sharing arrangement. Accordingly, the premium 

payable for the year is accounted for as revenue share. The said treatment has been followed in case of KGTL and IRBHM where premium payment has 

commenced during the current year. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 38: Grant from Government Authorities 
As per Article 25 of the respective Concession Agreement with the National Highways Authority ofIndia ('NHAI' or 'the Grantor'), the Concessionaires 

are entitled to receive Grant for meeting the pat1 of the project cost subject to the conditions laid down in the concession agreement. The details are as 

under: 

(Rs in millions) 

Name of the Company 
Eligible for Grant received Grant received Grant received in FY Grant yet to be 

Grant in FY 2016-17 in FY 2017-18 2018-19 received 

SYTL 1,890.00 1,391.70 403.80 94.50 -
KTL 2,340.00 1,533.79 806.21 - -
YATL 5,580.00 . 4,230.24 1,349.76 -
IRBWTL 5,362.20 4,512.30 - 849.90 -
Total 15.172.20 7,437.79 5,440.25 2,294.16 -
Note 39 : Events after reporting period 
The Trust has been listed on NSE from April 3, 2023. 

Note 40: Information on segment reporting pursuant to Ind AS 108 - Operating Segments 

The Project Spy Group has identified business segment in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard 108 "Operating Segment" notified under section 

133 of the Companies Act 2013, read together with relevant rules issued thereunder. The Group has identified Built, Operate and Transfer (,BOT') as its 

single reportable segment. Moreover the Group's activities are restricted within India and hence no separate geographical segment disclosure is considered 

necessary. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
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Note 41 : Debt payment history 

(AmOIlIlI in Millions) 

Particulars 
Opening Balance Loan availed Loan repaid during Closing Balance as at 

as on April 1, 2022 during the period the period March 31, 2023 

Securlld loan from Bank and Financial Institution 88.627.04 5,109.36 25.799.39 67,937.01 
Debenture 5,497.18 28,060.00 124.36 33.432.82 
loAn from related Jl8rty 4,085.74 1532.48 267.5 5.350.72 
Totot 98,209.96 34,70Vl4 26.191.25 1,06720.55 

Particulars 
Opening Balance Loan availed Loan repaid during Closing Balance as at 

as on April 1, 2021 during the period the period March 31,2022 

Secured loan from Bank and Financial Institution 85,269.71 4.066.31 708.98 
~ 

88,627.04 

DobellInre 5.563.63 66.45 5,497.18 

Loan from related party 4,155.57 3746.5 3816.326547 4,085 .74 

T otal 94.988.91 7,812.81 4.591.75 98,209.96 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
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N 42 C ote : IlPihlUSllt'ioli s tatcmcnf 
Particulars 

As at Mar 31,2023 

Shareholders' Funds: 
Unit Capital 87,929.33 
Subordinate Debt 
Other Equity (10,395.80) 
Minority interest 0.81 
Total Shareholders' Funds 77,534.34 

BOITowings 
Borrowings from related parties 5,350.72 
Long term borrowings 98,943.95 
Current maturities of long term borrowings 784.93 
Total Debt 1,05,079.60 

Total Cap italisMion 1,82,613.94 

Notc 43: Earnings Pcr Unit (EPU) 
EPU amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the period attributable to unit holders by the weighted average number of Units outstanding during 

the year. 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the EPU computations: 

Profit attributable to unit holders for earnings 

Weighted average number of Units for EPU 

Face value per unit ( in Rs ) 

Earning per unit (in Rs.) 

Note 44: Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Activities: 

Gross amount required to be spent by the company during the period 

a) Amount spent during the year ending on March 31,2023 

i) Construction/acquisition of any asset 

ii) On purposes other than (i) above (including previous year unspent amount) 

a) Amount spent during the year ending on March 3 I, 2022 

i) Construction/acquisition of any asset 

ii) On purposes other than (i) above 

b) Yet to be paid in cash for ongoing pr~iect 

Amount spent in the current is inclusive of unspent amount of precious year 

Note 45 : Contributed Equity 

In cash 

In cash 

8.00 

8.00 

March 31, 2023 
(2,271.59) 

87,79,64,498 
100 

(2.59) 

As at 
March 31,2023 

Yet to be paid in 

Yet to be paid in 

Units are classified as equity. Incremenlal costs attributable to the issue of units are directly recorded in equity, net of tax. 

(Rs in millions) 

March 31, 2022 
(4,435.98) 

84,29,14,666 
100 

(5.26) 

( ~ in Millions) 

As at 
March 31,2022 

5.69 

Total 

Total 

8.00 

8.00 
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Note 46 : Other Statutory information 

i) The Group have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year. 
ii) The Group does not hold benami property and no proceedings under Benami transaction (Prohibition) Act 1988 have been initiated against the Group. 

iii) The Group do not have any transactions with companies struck off. 
iv) The Group have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the 
year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or surveyor any other relevant provisions ofthe Income Tax Act, 1961. 

v) The Group did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contract for which there were any material foreseeable losses. 

vi) The Group has not declared a wilful defaulter by any bank! financial institution or any other lender during the year. 

Note 47 : Previous year comparatives 
Previous period's figures have been regrouped/reclassified, wherever necessary, to confirm current period's classification. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
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Note 48: Disclosure pursuant to Appendix - A to Ind AS 11 - " Service Concession Arrangements" (,SCA') 

(A) Disclosures with regard to Toll Collection Rights (Intangible Assets) 

Start of concession 
Construction completion 

period under End of concession 
Period of concession date or expected 

Sr. No. Name of Concessionaire concession period under 
since the appointed date construction completion 

agreement concession agreement 
date, as applicable 

(Appointed date) 

I IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited March 3, 2014 March 2, 2042 28 years June 30, 2022 

2 Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited January 21,2015 January 20,2044 29 years October 15, 2019 

3 
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway 

July 1,2015 June 30, 2041 26 years September 24, 2020 
Limited 

4 Kaithal Tollway Limited July 15,2015 July 14,2042 27 years March 29, 2019 

5 AE Tollway Limited August 1,2016 July 31, 2040 24 years November 24, 2020 

6 Udaipur Tollway Limited September 3, 2017 September 2, 2038 
21 years from Appointed 

June 01, 2021 
Date 

7 CG Tollway Limited November 4,2017 November 3, 2037 
20 years from Appointed 

August 14,2021 
Date 

8 
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway 

February 21, 2018 February 20, 2038 
20 years from Appointed 

June 30, 2022 
Limited Date 

9 
1RB Hapur Moradabad Tollway 

May 28, 2019 May 26, 2041 
22 years from Appointed 

June 30, 2022 
Limited Date 

10 
Palsit Dankuni Tollway Private 

April 2, 2022 April 1,2039 
17 years from Appointed 

Under construction 
Limited Date 

Note: 
The above BOT/ DBFOT projects shall have following rights/ obligations in accordance with the Concession Agreement entered into with the Respective 
Government Authorities:-

a. Rights to use the Specified assets 
b. Obligations to provide or rights to expect provision of services 
c. Obligations to deliver or rights to receive at the end of the Concession. 

Note 49 : Segment reporting 

~~~ ~o:~;s aC.:~.ities ~o~prise of . Toll collection in various parts ofIndia based on the guiding principles given in Ind AS _ 108 "Operating Segments" this 
IVI a s WI In a SIng e operatIng segment and accordingly the disclosures of the standard have not separately been given. ' 

As per our report of even date 
For Gol{hale & Sathe 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: 12.05.2023 

,.....,., ........... -.. ~- .. . 
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
MMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(As Investment Manager to IRB Infrastructure Trust) 
CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Chairman 

DIN :00183554 

~k" 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: 12.05.2023 

Dhananjay K. Joshi 

Chief Executive officer 

~ 
I<nustubh Shevade 
Company Secretary 

Membership No.A27833 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Unit Holders of IRB Infrastructure Trust 

gokhale & sathe 
(regd.) 

chartered accountants 

30413081309. udyog mandir no 1, 
l-c, bhagoji keer marg o 

mahim, mumbai 400 016. 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE STANDALONE IND AS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

OPINION 

We have audited the accompanyi ng Standalone Ind AS Fin ancial Statements of IRS 
Infrastructure Trust (" the InviT" or "the Trust ~ ), which comprise the Stan dalone Balance 
Sheet as at March 3 1, 2023, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), the Standalone Statem ent of Cash Flows, the S tandalone 
Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity and the Standalone Statement of Ne t 
Assets at Fair vaJ u e as at March 31, 2023 a nd the Standalone Statemen t of Total Returns 
at Fair Value and the Standalone Statement of Ne t Distribu table Cash Flows (,NDCFs1 for 
th e year then ended , and notes to the Standalone Financial Sta tem e n ts inc1ucting a 
Summary of Sign ifican t Accountin g Policies and Other Explana tory Inform ation 
(hereinafter referred to as "th e standalone financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information a nd according to the explanations given 
to u s, the afo resaid Standalone Financial Statements give the info rmation requ ired by the 
Securi ties and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations , 
2014 as amended from time to time including any guidelines ruld circulars issued 
thereunder (together referred to as the "SEBI InvIT Regulatio n s") in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting S t andards 
(Ind AS) and / or any addendum thereto as defined in the rule 2(IJ(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accoun ting Standard s) Rules , 20 15 , as amended ("Ind AS") and o ther accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, of the State of Affairs of the Trust as at March 3 1, 
2023, its profits and to taJ comprehensive income, movement of Un it Holders' fu nd and it s 
Cash flows for the year cnde d March 3 1,2023, its Net Assets at fair value as at March 3 1, 
2023, its total returns a t Fair Value and th e n et distributable cash flow for the year ended 
on that date. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 

We conducted our audit of the StandaJone Financial Statements in a ccordance with the 
Standards on Audit in g ("SAs") issued by the Ins titute of Ch artered Accountants of India. 
Ou r responsibilities under those Standards are further described in th e Auditor 's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the S tandalone Financial Statements section of thi s 
report. We are independen t of the Trust in accordance with the code of ethics issu ed by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the e thical requirem ents 
th at are relevant to our audit of the Standalone Fin ancial S tatements under th e 
provisions of the SEBI InvlT Regulations and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsib ilities in accordance with th ese requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe 
that the audit eviden ce we h ave obtained is s ufficient and appro priate to provide a basis 
for ou r opinion on the Standalone Financial Statements. 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 

leI. (022) 43484242 I offk c@gokhalesalhe.lo 



gokhale & sathe 
(regd.) 

cha rtered accountants 

separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matte rs described below to be 
the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 

PARTICULARS 
1. Loss on fai r value measurement of other 

payable I defe rred consideration payable to 
IRB Group. 

HOW THEY WERE ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT 

Pursuant to settlemen t of IRB lnfrastructun: • 
Trust bv IRS Infrastructu re Developers Limited 
(sponso~). as a Pr ivate INVIT, the Trust has 
entered into Debt Novation Agt'cements (DNA). As 
per the terms of DNA. in consideration of assets 
taken over in 9 SPVs, Trust has issued units and 
agreed 10 transfer to the Sponsor, the dflim • 
amounts when and to the extent the same are 
eventually received by PrOject SPVs , on accou n t of 
Spon sor Claims. 

We reviewed the Placement Memorandum tiled with 
SEBI and the consequential legal documentat ion 
entered into by the Trust, incl u ding ltl te r a lia the 
Debt Novation Agreements and their reflection in the 
u nderlying SPVs. 

We have reviewed the 
valuer in deriving 
assumptions made . 

methodology 
the value 

adopted by 
including 

the 
the 

• 
Such Sponsor Claims shall be lodged after 
obtaining COD by respective SPVs. The amount 
realizable against claims has been estim ated by 
the valuers appointed by the Management based • 
on the weighted average o f probabil ities of 
realizat ion of such claims. 

We assessed the estimates of Fair Value provided in 
the Valuation Report and realizability of claims as 
indicated therein. 

We also reviewed the reasonableness of the variables 
applied in the said computation. 

Based on the fair value of liab ility as estimated by 
the valuers, a resultant impact in the value of 
liability has been recognized u n der th e head 'Loss 
on fair value measurem ent of other payable'. 

2. Impairment Testing 

The Group has toll collect ion rights as intangible 
asset s pu rsuant to the concession agreement. The 
carrying value of these rights ac quired under BOT 
basis is being compared to the recoverable value 
(which is value in use in the instant case) thereof 
to ascertai n if there is a ny im pairment. 

The process involves estimating the value in usc 
of the asset which is determ ined by forecasting 
a nd d iscou nting fu ture cash £1ows. The same is 
sensitive to changes in discount rate, traffic 
growth rates, toll growth rates etc. Th e 
determination of the recoverable amount of the 
toll collection right involves significant judgment 
due to inherent u ncertainty in the assumption s 
supporting the recoverable amount of th ese 
r ights. 

Accordingly, the evaluation of impairment of toll 
collection rights has been determined as a Key 
Audi t Matter. 

• Based on the above, the fa ir value of liability to the 
Sponsor, as estimated by the valuer, taking into 
considerat ion the weighted average of probabilities of 
realization h as been validated. 

• We evaluated managemen t's assessment on 
impairment fo r intangible assets under development 
a nd intan gible assets - toll collection r ights by testing 
the assu mption s an d methodologies used by the 
Management. 

• Referred to valuation reports and Trame Growth 
Study Reports and detenn ined reasonableness of 
future toll revenue. 

• Evaluated the potential ch anges in m ajor components 
as compared to previous year vis-A-vis actual 
performan ce in order to evaluate whether the inputs 
and assumptions u sed in the cash flow forecasts were 
suitable. 

• Assessed the a ppropriateness of the weighted average 
cost of capital used in determ ining recoverable 
amou nt. 

• Performed sensitiVIty analysis of key assumptions 
used in valuation 

• Tested the arithmetical accuracv of the model. 
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE 
AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON 

STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 

The Board of Dirccto l-s of Inves tmen t Manager is responsible for the prepa.-ation of the 
oth e r information. The other information comprises the info rmat ion included in the 
Report of Investment Mana ger including annexures to Investment Manager 's Report and 
other information as requ ired to be given by SEBl lnvlT Regulations, bUl does not include 
the s tandalone fi n ancial sta temen ts and our report thereon . 

Our opinion on the standa lone financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with ou r 
au dit of the standalone financiaJ statements, ou r respon sibi li ty is to read the other 
information and , in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent wit h the s tand alo ne fi nancial s ta tements or our knowled ge obtained during 
th e course of our audit or otherwise appears to be m alerially misstated. 

If based on t h e work we have performed , we conclude that t here is a mater ial 
~iss tatemen t of this o ther information, we are required to report tha t fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INVESTMENT MANAGER 
FOR THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Board of Directo rs o f Investment Ma n ager is respon sible for the prepa ra t ion of these 
Sta ndalone Financial Statements that give a true and fair view of the Standalone fmancial 
position as at 3 1 Marc h 20 23, financial performance including other comprehensive 
income, movement of Unit Holders' fund and its Cash flows for the year ended March 3 1, 
2023, its Net Assets at fair value as at March 3 1, 2023, its total returns at Fa ir Val u e and 
the net distributa ble cash flow of the trust for the year ended March 31, 2023 in 
accordance with the accounting principles gen eral ly accepted in India, including the 
Indian Accounting Standards specified and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rul e 
2( 1){a) of Compan ies (Indian Accounting S tandards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with 
th e Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulation 
2014 as amended from time to ti me including any guidelines and circulars issued 
thereunder {together re fe rred to a s the "InviT Regulations"). 

Th is respons ibility also includes maintenance of a dequa te accounting recor ds in 
accordance with the provisions of the InvlT Regulations for safeguarding of the assets of 
the Trust and for preventing and detecting fra uds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting pol icies; making judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and pruden t ; and design , implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal finan c ial controls for ensuring t h e accuracy and completeness of a ccounting 
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of [h e Standalone financial 
statem ents that give a true and fair view and are free from m aterial m isstatement , 
whether due to fraud and e rror. 

In p reparing the Standalon e Financial S tatemen ts, the Board of Directors o f Investment 
Manager is responsible for assessing the Trust's a bility to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Board of Direc tors of Investment Manager e ither intends to 
liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or has no realistic a lterna tive but to do so. 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager are also responsible for 
Trust's financial reporting process. 
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE AUDIT OF THE STANDALONE IND AS 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Standalone Financia l 
Statem ents as a who le are free from materiaJ misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
e rror , and to issu e an aud itor's report that includes ou r opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guaran tee that a n audit conduc ted in accordance 
with SAs will always detec t a materia l misstatement when it exists. Misstatement s can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered materia l if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
th e bas is of these finan cia l statements. 

As part of a n audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise profession al judgm ent and 
maintain pro fessional skepticis m throughout th e audit. We also, 

• Identify a nd assess the risks of material misstatement of the stat1dalone financia l 
statem ents, whether d ue to fraud or e rror, design and perform a udit procedures 
respon s ive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence t h a t is sufficient and appropriate 
t o provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not d e tec ting a materi a l m isstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fra ud may involve 
collu sion, forgery , intentional omissio ns, misrepresen tations or the override of interna l 

control. 

• Obtain an understa nding of internal finan cial control relevant to the a udit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the c ircumstances , but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such con trol s. 

• 

• 

• 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accou n ti ng policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates a nd related disclosures m ade by Board of Directors of 
Investmen t Manager. 
Conclude on the appropriateness of use of the going concern basis of accounting by 
the Board of Directors of Investment Manager and , based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists rela ted to events or conditions that 
may cast significan t doubt on the Trust's abili ty to con tinue as a goin g con cern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to dra w a ttention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit eviden ce obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events 
or condi tions m ay cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern. 
Evaluate the overall presentation , structu re and con tent of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and wheth er the financial statements represent the 
underlying transaction s a nd events in a manner tha t achieves fair presentation. 

MateriaJity is the magnitude of missta tements in the standalone fin ancial s tatements 
that , individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic d ecisions of a 
reasonably knowledgea ble user of the financial statements may be innuenced. We 
consider quantitative materiaJity and qualitative factors in (il planning the scope of our 
audit work and in eva lua ting the resul ts of our work; a nd (ii) to evaluate the effect of a ny 
identified misstatements in the financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other m atters, 
the planned scope and liming of the aud it and significant a udit findin gs, 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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We a lso p rovide those c ha rged wi th governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requ irements rega rding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other m atters that may reasonably be thought to bear on ou r 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matterS that were of most significance in the audit of the Standalone Financial 
Statements of the current period and are therefore the key aud it malters. We desc ribe 
these m atters in our report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about th e 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reason ably be expected to outweigh the public in terest benefits of such communication. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Based on our aud it and as requ ired by SEBI InvlT Regulations, we repo rt that: 

a. We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our aud it; 

b. The Balance S heet and the Statement of Profit and Loss indudin g other 
comprehensive income, dealt with by this Report aTe in agreement with the books of 
account of the Trust; and 

c. In ou r opinion , the aforesaid s tandalone financial statements comply wi th the Indian 
Accou n ting Standards specified under Rule 2(1}(a) of Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. 

For Gokhale & Sathe, 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration p 103264 W 

tl\ 
CA Kaustubh Deshpande , 



I 
(I) 

(2) 

II 

(I) 

(2) 

IRS lnrrntruch,..., Tru~ t 

Balanc( Sheet :as at March 3 1, 2023 

ASSETS 
Non _c u rrent :assets 
Finoncial assets 

i) Investments 
ii) J...oans 

Tola l noo..(: lIr...,nl a~tU 

Cll rr~ l1t asselS 
Financial assets 

I) hwestments 
ii) Cash and cash equivalents 

iii) Loans 
Iv) Other fmancial assets 

Other curren t assets 
Tota l cur rellt :assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equi t)' 
Unit capital 
Other «lui!)' 

Total ulIl! bolder's equit)' 

Non.u rren! liabi lit ie! 
Finaneialliabiliti es 

i) Other financialliabililie! 
Total nOn- currCII! liabilities 

CLlr...,nt liab ilities 
Financiallillbilities 

1) Borrowings 
ii) Trade payables 

small enterprises and small entetprises 
b) total outstanding dLlcs or creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises 

Other Current liabilities 
Total ell rrent liabilities 

Total lilbi litles 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABlLITIES 

Summ;uy ofsignifieant accounting policies 

See accompan)'ing notes to the financial statements . 

As per our report of even dale 

For Gokhale & Sathe 

Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Nwnbcr. 103264W 

f 
CA. K'~'"~'P"d' . 
Partner 

MembeT$hip No. : 12101 1 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : 12.0S.W23 

! Rs.ln Millions) 

Note No. 
A S at Much 31, A~ :atMatch31, 

2023 20n 

4 
4.1 94,424.44 90,929.80 
42 30,35 1.69 30.302.98 

1,24,776.13 1.2 1.232.78 

5 
51 20.08 20.04 
5.2 6.56 0 .25 
53 5,421.29 3.492.95 
5.4 7,%5.17 5.610.67 
6 4.48 

13.417.58 9.123.92 

1.38.193.71 1,30,356.70 

, 87,929.33. 85.504.33 
8 9.526,42 5.992..74 

97,455.75 91.497.07 

9 35,778.03 35.168.79 
35.778.03 35,168.79 

10 
10.1 4,872.91 3,607.93 
10.2 

0.01 

81.34 81.71 
II 5.67 1.20 

4,959.93 3,690.84 

40,737.96 38)159.63 

1,38,193.71 1,30,356.70 

3 

For and on behalfofMMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(lavestm~lIt Maaagtr of IRB Infrastnldllrt Trust) 

Virtodnl D. Mbaisku 
Chairman 

DIN : 00183554 

Chief Financial officer 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : 12.05.2023 

Db-aaaoj a)' K. Joshi 
Chief Executive olflttT 

Kaustubh Shevad~ 
Company secretary 
Membership No. A27833 



IRB ! nfrastn.lclureTrl.ls t 
Statelllent of Profi t a nd Loss for the yen r elided l\1a rch 31, 2023 

Nutt No. 

Income 

Other income 
TOTAL INCOME 

12 

Expenses 
Investment Manager Fees 

Other expenses 
IJ 

TOTAL EXPENSES 
Profit f (Loss) btforc tax 

Tax txpenses 
Profit f (Loss ) after tax (A) 

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year (net of taKj 

Rc_mcasurcment gains! (losses) on defined benefit plans (net o f taxes) 
Other comprehensive income/(Ioss) for t he year (net of taxi (BI 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax: (A+BI 

Earnings pcr unit 

Basic 

Diluted 

summary of significant accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the financ ial statements. 

J 

Fur the year ~ndcd 
Ma rch JI, 2023 

4,222.87 
4,222.87 

56.52 
617.34 
673.86 

3,549.01 

3,549.01 

3,549.01 

4.04 
4.04 

As per our report of even date 

F or Gokb.l t & Sathr 
Chartered Accountants 

For and on behalf ofMMK Toll Road Private Limited 

(lavestmellt Mllnagtr of IRB Infrastructure Trust) 

ICAI F'~ R",,,rnl,,; m"', 

J'\ 
CA. Kaustubb Dub pandc 
p,,,,,, 
Membership No.: 121011 

Place; Mumbai 
Datc : 12.05.2023 

103264W 

Vinadra D. Mbaiskar 

Chairman 
DIN : 00183554 

Ilpa TOO.akar 
ChicfFinancialofficer 

Place: Mumbai 
Dale; 12.05.2023 

(Rs. in M illions) 
)-'or thc )'cu ended 

Ma rch Jl, 2022 

4,200.44 
4,200.44 

42.48 
2,182.21 
2,224.69 

1,975.75 

1,975.75 

1,975.75 

Dhananjay K. Joshi 
Chief Executive officer 

2.34 

2.34 

Kaustubh Shevade 
Company secretary 
Membership No. A27833 



IRB Infra st ructu re T r us t 
Sta l ('m('nt of changu in Equity fO I' the )'ea r ended Ma rch 31 , 2023 

a. Unit Ca pita l 

AI the beginning of the ye3f 

Issued during the year 

At the eod of tht year 

b. Olber Equity 

Retained (a rologs 

At the beginning of tbe yur 

Profit for the year 

Unil issue CJCpen!oeS 

At the end of Ihe year 

Summary orSignificant accounting pol icies (re fer note no.) 

See accompanying notes 10 the financ ial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokbale &. &ltbe 

Chartered Aocountants 

leAl F.= R"""';x'mb«c I03264W,p""",,,, 

CA. Kaust~bPaDde 
p"",cr 
Membershi p No.: 12101] 

Place: MumNi 
Date : 12.05,2023 

( Ib. in Millions) 

As ~t MlI n:h J I, 2023 As :atMart h31, 2022 

85,504.33 

2,425.00 

87,929.33 

S,992,74 

3,549.01 

(1 5.33) 

9,526.42 

81,688,00 

3,8 16.33 

85,504.33 

4,020.25 

],975.75 

(3.26) 

5,992.74 

For and on behalfor MMX Toll Road Private Limited 

(Ial'estment Mau ger of 1R8la fr:astf\lctu ~ T rust) 

VI~adn D. Mbaisbr 
Chairman 
DIN . 00183554 

Chief Financial offICeI' 

Place: MumNi 

Date. 12.05.2023. 

Dban.aja), K. J as hl 

Chie f Executive officer 

~ 
Ka uslabh Sli evade 

Company secretary 
Membaship No. A2783J 



IRE I n(nslruC:lur~ Trust 
DISCLOSURES rURSUAl\'T TO SEBJ ClRCULAHS 
(SEBI Circubr No. C IRIlM DJ1)F/114n016 d't~d 20 -0d-2016 Iud No. CIR/lMDJ1)F/127nOIG dated 29-Nov-20 IG 

A. Sta temenl orNel A»rt at . 'a ir Vl lue 

Particulars 

A. Assets 

B. Liabilities (at book value) 

C. Net Assets (A,B) 

D. Number ofunit$ (in millions) 

E:. NAV (CID) (Amount in Rs.) 

B. Staument of tolal nlurni It .'a ir Vllue 

P. rticulars 

Tolal Comprehensive Income 
As per the Statement of Profit and Loss' 

Addf(less): Other Changes in Fair Value 

ComprthCIIsive hcome-

Notes: 

As I' Mlrch 31. 20n 

Book value Fli r nlue 

1,38, 193.71 1,87,704.45 

40,737.96 4,959.93 

97,455.75 1,82,744.52 

879.29 879.29 

110.83 207.83 

. 
For Ibt yur ended March 31, 2023 

3,549.01 

85,288.77 

88,837.78 

As . I Manh 31, 2021 

Book vllut Jo' l ir n lue 

1,30,356.70 1,50,647.12 

38,859.63 3,690.84 

91,497.07 1,46,956.29 

855.04 855.04 

107,01 171.87 

For Ibe )'u rtoded Manll 31 , 2022 

1,975.75 

55,459.22 

57,434.97 

Fair value o(assets as at March 31, 2023 and other changes in fair value for the year then ended 11$ disclosed in the above tables arc derived based on the fair valuation 
reports issued by the independent valLM:l' appointed under the Invrr Regulations. . 

As per oW' report ofc~n date 

For Golmale & Sithe 

Chartered Accountants 

ICAl F,= "'"'''''7 ''' 100'''h
W
"""",,,,,_ 

cI\ 
CA. KaU$tubh Dtshpandt 

"""", 
Membership No.: 121011 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: 12.05.2023 

For lod 00 bebaU ofMMK Toll Road Printc Limited 
(Iovcslment M l o,Scr of IRB Inrrutrutlure Trust) 

VlnDdra D. Mbllsklf 

C"""""" 
DIN : OOlSl554 

&" ~:.Zr 
OIicrFinancial offICer 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: 12.05.2023 

DhlOlojay K. Joshi 
Chi~r Ex«utive offICeI' 

~ 
IUustubb Sbevlde 

Company secretary 
Membership No. A27833 



IRB Infrastruct ure Tru~ t 

Cash F low s ta teme J)t fOI' the yea r ended M a rch 31, 2023 
( Rs. in Millions) 

Part icula rs 
For yea r ended For rear tndtd 
Ma rch 31, 202J March 31,2022 

Cash now from operaling "ctivities 

Profit I (Lo$$) before tax 3,549.01 1,975.75 

AdjuslmenlJi to rctoncilt p ro fit before taa to M t cas h nows: 

Fair value gain on investments (0.18) -
Profit on sale of investments (0.92) (DAD) 

Fair wlue loss on measurement of other payable 560.53 2,161.31 

Interest intome on 

. Others (4,221.77) (4,200.00) 

O!W'rltin; profi t/{Ioss) before wor king capital chlngts (11 3.33) (63.33) 

Movemeot in wor kiog capita l: 

Increase/( decrease) in tr:Ide payables (0.36) 14. 10 

Increase1(decrease) in other financial liabili ties 48.7 1 50.48 

lnereascJ(decrease) in other current liabilities 4048 (050) 

(lncreaseYdecrease in Othu current assets (4048) 0.03 

OncreascyOecrease in loans ( 1,928.34) ( 1,682.67) 

(IncreaseYdecreasc in Other Financial assets (229.72) (0.89) 

Casb l enera tt d fronl/(uscd io) o!W'rations (2 ,223.05) (1,682.80) 

Dira:t taxes paid (net ofrefuods) - -
Nt! cash nows f rotnl{uud io) operating ac tivities (A) (2,123.05) (1,682.80) 

C.sh nows from ioves tiog activities 

Invesuncnt in subsidiaries (1,2 12.00) (615.00) 

Investment in sub debt of subsidiaries (2,282.64) (2,264.49) 

Loan given to subsidiaries Long tenn (-18.71) (48.71) 

Interest received from related parties 2,097.00 825.00 

Purchase of units of Mutual Fund (302.98) (383.38) 

Proceeds on sale of units of Mutual Fund 304.04 413.74 

Net casb nOW$ frotnl(used in) invutiDg activit iu (8) (1,4-15.29) (2,072.8-1) 

Cash now trDm fia llicilig . ttivitles 

Otber Equity 

Proceeds from issuance of unit capital 2,425.00 3,816.33 

Proceeds of curent borrowings 1,532.018 4,266.50 

Repayment Df euTent boTTQwings (~67.50) (4,336.33) 

Unit Issue Expenses 15.33) (3.26 

Net cuh flOW5 frotnl( tlU d ill) fillu cillg activities (C) 3,674.65 3,70 .24 

Net increucl(durnSt) In cuh and cash equ ivalents (A+B+C) 6.32 ( tHO) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 0.25 12.65 

Cuh , Dd c.sb equiVllcnlJi. t tht u d oftlle ptriod. (refer 5.2) '_56 0.25 

Components Df tull Ind easb equivalents 

Cashon band - -
Balances with scheduled banks 

_ On Current Account 6 .56 0.25 

Tot. l Cub a nd cu ll equiv.luls (rdcr note 5.2) '_56 0.25 



IRB Tnfrutructur~ T rust 

Cash F low sta tem e n t f " 
,,- LC yea r e n d dM h] 1 202] , 

'" . 
Oebt rccon cili~ ti o n s t~t~mcn t i n atcorda nn with ' lid AS 7 

Pa r tic ula rs 

Openin:; balances 

Long term borrowings 

Short term borrowings 

Move ments 

Long term borrowings 

ShOll term borrowings 

e losin!: bala nces 
Long tcrm borrowings 

Short term borrowings 

Summary of sign iii cant accounting policies (refer note 3) 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

Notes ' 
I. All figures in bracket are outflow. 

}<'or year ended 

", h 

-

],607.93 

-

-
(1,264.98) 

-

-
4,872.91 

2. Taxes paid are treatcd lIS arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 

] . Rcconciliation between opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from filW"lCing activities 

~:r yur ended 
r 11 31. 2022 

-

3,677.76 

-

-
69.83 

-
-

3,607.93 

4. The cash flow statement has been prepared under l!ldireel Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" as notified undcr sedion 133 oflhe Companies 

ACI,2013. 

As per our report of even date 

For Gokhale & Sathe 

Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Rcgtstrahon ~umbcr. I03264W 

'-<'\
1 )-,~" 

,.~.' < 

CA, KaustLlb h DesbpIPdc 

Partner 

MembeMip No.: 12101 1 

Place: Mumbai 

Dale : 12.05.2023 

For.-..d OD ~lta lr orMMK TolI Ro.d Priva te U mltcd 

(Investment Manager of IRD Infrastructure Trust) 

Virudnt D, Mh. iskar 

Chairman 

DIN : 001 83554 

Chief Financial officer 

Place : Mumbai 

Date : 12.05.2023 

Db .... aj.y K. Joshi 

ChiefExeculive officer 

KlI uslubb Shev.de 

Company secretary 

Membership No, A2783] 



Addit ional Discl05urrs n r rquirrd b, ' I'ang .... ph 6 of Annuun A 10 SEBI C ircular No. ClRlIMDIDF/ 127f20 16: 

a) NCli)isl ri b ulabl. C lls h Flows as al l he S ta nd," " ne TruSlltn l 

\'ur ~nd .d 

(Rs. in mi ll i o ".~) 

\'u r end.d 
Sr. No. Part ic ulan 

,'ohrf h 3 1, 2023~ March 3 1, 2022 

I Cash flows received from Proje.:1 SPVs in the form oflnleresl (Refer JIO\e I ) 

2 Cash flows received from Projeci SPVs in the form of Dividend 

3 
Any other income accruing al lhe Trust level and not caplured above, including 
but nollimllw 10 interestfreturn on surplus cash invested by tho: Trust 

, Cash flows received from Ihe project SPVs towards Ihe repayment of the debt 
issued 10 Ihe Proje.:t SPYs by Ihe Trust (Net) (Refer nole 2) 

, TOUI u sll inno" ' l l llIe Trust lenl (A) 

Less: 

6 
Any IJa.)ment offees, inlereSI and expense incurred altlle Trust level , including 
but not limited to the fees of\tl(" Investment Manager 

7 Income lax (if applicable) at Ihe Standalone Trust Level 

, Repaymenl of extemal debt 

9 Tola l ush oUlflowsl relenlion at the T rust In '" (8) 

to Net Distributl ble Cnh Flo,,'s {e} - (A+ 8) 

H The said amount would be utlhsed towardS Cape" m oogOlng prO.l«15. 

Notes: 

2,097.00 825.00 

-

0.92 0.40 

(1,928.34) (1 ,682.67) 

169.58 (857.27) 

(113.33) (63.38) 

- -
- -

(11 3.33) (63.38) 

56.25 (920.65) 

Excludes interest due but not received of Rs. 2,124.77 millions and Rs. 3,375 Millions for the year ended Ma,,:h 31, 2023 and 

year ended March 31 , 2022. 

2 Nelled - offwilh disbursemenl ofshon-Icnn unsecured loan 10 project SPY. 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 

Notes to financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

1. Trust Information and Nature of Operations 

IRB Infrastructure Trust (the "Trust") is a trust sett led pursuant to the indenture of trust 
dated August 27, 20 19 which is registered under Indian Trust Act, 1882 and under the 
Securities Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 20 14 
as amended from time to time. The Trust is sett led by the Sponsor, IRS Infrastructure 
Developers Limited (" IRB" or the "Sponsor"), an infrastructure development company in 
India. The Trustee to the Trust is lOBI Trusteeship Services Limited (the "Trustee"). 
Investment manager for the Trust is MMK Toll Road Private Limited (the "Investment 
Manager"). The Trust has received registration certificate from SEBI having registration 
number lNllnviT/ 19-2010012. 

The Trust has been fo rmed to invest in infrastructure assets primaril y being in the road 
sector in India. The Trust's road projects are eligible infrastructure projects under the 
InvIT Regulations and held through special purpose vehicles (" Project SPVs" togethe r as 
"Project Spy Group"). The Trust's portfolio comprises of ten road projects as listed 
below:-

The Trust had acquired the projects at Sr no I to 9 from the Sponsor which are road 
infrastructure projects developed on DeFaT basis. The SPY at Sr. no 10 has been added 
to portfolio from 02.04.2022. 

Sr. Project SPY Name 
No. 

I AE Toll way Limited (AETL) 

2 CO Tollway Limited (COTL) 

, IRB Hapur Moradabad To ll way Limited (IRBHMTL) J 

4 IRB Westeoast Tollway Limited (IRBWTL) 

5 Kishangarh Oulabpura To ll way Limited (KOTL) 

6 Kaithal To ll way Limited (KTL) 

7 Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited (SYTL) 

8 Udaipur Tollway Limi ted (UTL) 

9 Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited (YA TL) 

10 Palsit Dankuni To ll way Pri vate Limited(PDTPL) (w.e.f. 

02.04 2022) 
h~~ A \'.u~ 
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The registered office of the Investment Manager is Off No-11th Floorll l 0 I Hi ranandani 
Knowledge Park, Techno logy Street, Hill Side Avenue, Powai Mumbai 400076. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution passed 
by the board of directors o f the Investment manager on May 12,2023. 

The Trust has been listed on NSE w.e.f. 03.04.2023 

2. Basis of preparation 

The fi nancial statements of IRB Infrastructure Trust have been prepared in accordance 
with Indian Accounting Standards as defi ned in Ru le 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 20 15, as amended, prescribed under Section 133 of the 
Companies Act, 20 13 (" Ind AS") read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 20 14, as amended and the circulars issued thereunder (" lnvlT Regulations") 
and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical 
cost convention except for certain financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy 
regarding financial instruments) which have been measured at fa ir value. 

The fi nancial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is the functional 
currency of the Trust and all values are rounded to the nearest mill ions, except when 
otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value less than 
Rupees five thousand. 

3. Summary of sign ificant accounting policies 

3.1. Usc of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generall y accepted accounti ng 
principles requires management to make est imates and assumptions that affec t the 
re ported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period 
end. Although these est imates are based upon management's best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actua l results could differ from these estimates. 

3.2. Current versus non-current classification 



_ Expected to be realised w ithin twelve months after the reporting period, or 
_ Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when : 
_ It is expected to be settle d in normal operating cycle 
_ It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
_ It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
_ There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period. 

All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabil ities are classi fied as non-current assets and liabi lities 
respective ly. 

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their 
reali sation in cash and cash equi valents. The Trust has identified twelve months as its 
operating cycle. 

3.3. Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Trust and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is 
being made. Revenue is measured at the transaction price of the consideration received or 
receivable, taking into account contractuall y defined terms of payment and excluding 
taxes or duties collected on behalf of the government. 

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue IS 

recognised: 

Interest income 
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount 
outstanding and the rates appl icable. For all debt instruments measured either at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income is 
recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). 

Dividends 
Revenue is recognised when the Trust's right to receive the payment is establ ished. which 
is generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 

3.4. Taxes 

Current income tax 



Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profi t and Loss 
is recognised outside the Statement of Profi t and Loss (ei ther in other comprehensive 
income or in equi ty). Cu rrent tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction eithe r in oel or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which app licable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
_ When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recogn ition of goodwill or an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

_ In respect of taxable temporary differences associated wi th investments in subs idiaries, 
when the ti ming of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax asse ts are recognised for all deductible temporary diffe rences. the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will be avai lab le against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry fo rward of unused tax credi ts 
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

_ When the deferred tax asset relat ing to the deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounti ng profit nor 
taxable profit or loss 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the ex tent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utili sed. Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
are re-assessed at each re porting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred lax assets and liabili ties are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the year when the asse t is realised or the liability is sett led, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantive ly enacted at the report ing date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is 
recognised outside statement of profit and loss (e ither in other comprehensive income or 

in equity) . 



legally enforceable right exists to sel off current tax assets against current lax liabilities 
and the deferred taxes re la te to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

3.5. Goods and Services Tax (CST) paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring 
expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and se rvice tax paid, 

except: 

When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net 
amount of tax recoverable from , or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the ba lance sheet. 

3.6. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly att ributable to the acquisition, construct ion or product ion of an 
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed 
in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that 
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of Trusts. Borrowing cost also includes 
exchange differences 10 the extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.7. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to sellie the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. When the Trust expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the re imbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtua ll y certain. The 
expense re lating to a provision is presented in the Statement of Profit and Loss net of any 
reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provis ions are discounted us ing a 
current pre~tax rate that re flects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 
as a finance cost. 

3.8. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 



liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. The Trust does 
not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its ex istence in the financial statements. 
A contingent asset is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of 
economic benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, 
contingent assets are disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent l iabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

3.9. Financial instrument 

A financial instnlment is any contract that gives ri se to a financial asset of one entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 
All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets 
not recorded at fair valu e through Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable 
transaction cost to the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame establi shed by regulat ion or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e. , 
the date that the Trust commits to purchase or se ll the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are class ified in following 

categories; 
at amortised cost 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FYTOCI) 

Financial Assets at amortised cost 
A financial asset is measured at the amortised cost if both the following condi tions are 

met: 
a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for 

collecting contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of princ ipa l and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

This category is the most relevant to the Trust. All the Loans and other receivables under 
financial assets (except Investments) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
detemlinab le payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

After initial measurement such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effecti ve interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquis ition and fees or costs that are an integral 
part of the EIR. The losses ari sing from impai rment are recognised in the Statement of 

Profit and Loss. 



Financial Assets at Fa ir Value through Statement of Profit and Loss/Other 
comprehensive income 

All investments in scope of lnd AS 109 are measured at fai r value. The Trust has 
investment in Debt oriented mutual Trust which are held for trading, are classified as at 
FVTPL. The Trust makes such election on an instrument by instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. The gain! loss on sale of 
investments are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 
Instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fa ir value with a ll 
changes recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Trust's balance sheet) 

when: 
The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expi red, or 
The Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party 
under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Trust has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Trust has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the ri sks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has 
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained 
the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all of the ri sks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, 
the Trust continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Trust's 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Trust also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liabi lity are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 
and obligations that the Trust has retained. 

3.10. Impairment of assets 

Impairment of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial 
recognition other than financial assets in FVTPL category. 

For financial assets other than trade receivables, as per Ind AS 109, the Trust recognizes 
12 month expected credit losses for all originated or acquired financial assets if at the 
reporting date the credit risk of the financial asset has not increased significantly since it s 
initial recognition. The expected credit losses are measured as li fet ime expected credit 
losses if the credit ri sk on financial assets increases significantly since its initial 
recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 



The T rust assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Trust estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable 
amount is the higher of a n asset's or cash·generat ing unit's (CGU) fa ir va lue less costs of 
disposal and its va lue in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset 
unless the asset does not generate cash innows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or Trust's assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial li abilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 

AH flllancial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and 
borrowings and payables, net of directl y attributable transac tion costs. 

The Trust's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their class ification, as described 

below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financia l liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilit ies held for 
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fai r value through 
profit or loss. Financial li abilit ies are classified as held fo r trading if they are incurred for 
the purpose of repurchasing in the near tenn. This category also incl udes deri vative 
financial instruments en tered into by the Trust that are nol designated as hedging 
instruments in hedge relationships as de fined by Ind AS 109. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of 
profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 
This is the category mos t relevant to the Trust. After initial recognition, interest· bearing 
loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as 
well as through the EIR amortisation process . 

premIUm on 
The EIR amorti sat ion is 



De_recognition 
A financial liabili ty is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled o r expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition 
of the original liability a nd the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
standalone balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal ri ght to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to senle on a net basis, to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

3.10 Investment in subsidiaries 

Investments (equity instruments as we ll as subordinate debt) in subs idiaries are carri ed at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Where an indication of impairment 
exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately to 
its recoverable amount. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between 
net disposal proceeds and carrying amounts are recognised in the Statement of Profit and 

Loss. 

3.llForeign currencies 

The Trust's financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Trust's functional 
currency. The Trust does not have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional 
currency to be INR. 

Transactions and balances 
Transactions in forei gn currencies are initially recorded by the Trust at thei r respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recogni tion. 
Monetary assets and liabilit ies denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss . 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initia l transactions. 

3.12 Fair value measurement 

The Trust measures fi nancial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each 
balance sheet date . 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabil ity 
in an orderly transaction between market pal1icipants at the measurement date. The fair 
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to se ll the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place ei ther: 



.... In the principal marke t for the asset or li abil ity, or 

.... In the absence of a pr incipal market, in the most advantageous market fo r the asset or 

liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Trust. 
The fair value of an asset or a liabili ty is measured using the assumpt ions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liab ili ty, assuming that market 
participants act in their ec onomic best interest. 
A fair value measurem ent of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 
part icipant' s abili ty to ge nerate economic benefi ts by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by se lling it to another market part icipant that would use the asset in its 

highest and best use. 
The Trust uses valuation techniques that are appropri ate in the circumstances and for 
which sufficient data are ava ilable to measure fair value, maximising the li se of relevant 
observable inputs and min imising the use of unobservable inputs. 
All assets and liabil ities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categori sed within the fai r value hierarchy, descri bed as fo llows, based on 
the lowest level input that is signi ficant to the fa ir value measurement as a whole: 
.... Level I _ Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities 
.... Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
.... Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fa ir value measurement is unobservable 
For asse ts and liabili ti es that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Trust determ ines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is sign ificant 
to thc fair va lue measurement as a whole) at lhe end of each reporting pe riod. 
The Trust's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fai r 
value measurement , such as derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets 
measured at fair va luc, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held fo r 
distribut ion in discontinued operations. 
At each reporting datc. the Management analyses the movements in the va lues of assets 
and liabilities which are requi red to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Trust's 
account ing polic ies. For thi s analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied 
in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the va luation computation to 
contracts and other relevant documents. 
The management al so compares the change in the fair value of each asset and li ability 
with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 
On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuat ion 
results to the Audit Committee and the Trust's independent audi tors. This includes a 
di scussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations. 
For the purpose of fa ir va lue disclosures, the Trust has determined classes of assets and 
li abilities on thc basis of the nature, characteristics and ri sks of the asset or liabi lity and 
the leve l of the fair valuc hierarchy as explained above. 
This note summari ses accounting policy for fai r value. Other fai r value related disclosures 
are given in the relevant notes. 

Disclosures fo r va luation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 28) 
Financial instruments (including those carried at amorti sed cost) (note 24 and 25) 
Quant itative disclosure of fa ir va lue measurement hierarchy (note 24 and 25) ... ::::=:3:::.. 
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3.13 Contributed Equity 

Units are classi fied as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the Issue of units are 
di rectly recorded ill equity, net of tax. 

3.14 Distribution to unit holders 

The Trust recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the 
distribution is authorised and a legal obligation has been created. As per the InvIT 
Regulations. a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the Board of Directors of 
the Investment Manager. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equi ty. 

3.15 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalen ts in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and 
short. term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
and short -term d~posits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are 
considered an integral part of the Trust's cash management. 

3.16 Eal"D ings Per Unit (EPU) 

Basic earn ings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to 
unit holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the we ighted average number of 
units outstanding during the pe riod are adjusted for the effects of all di lu ti ve potential 

units. 

3.17 Segment Informntion 

The Trust is engaged in to invest in infrastructure assets pri marily being in the road sector 
in India which in the context of lnd AS 108 - Operating Segments is considered as the 
on ly segment. The T rust' s activities are restricted within India and hence no separate 
geographical segment di sclosure is considered necessary. 



3.17 New pronouncements issued but not effective 

Ministry of Corporate A ffairs ("MCA") not ifies new standards or amendments to the 
existi ng standards under Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from 
time to time. On March 31, 2023, MCA amended the Companies ( Ind ian Account ing 
Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023, as below: 

Ind AS 1: D isclosure of Material Account ing po licy infonnat ion and similar 
consequential amendment to Ind AS 34. 

lnd AS I: Disclosure of the judgements, apart from those involving esti mations, that 
management has made in the process of applying the entity's accounting policies and that 
have the most significan t effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Ind AS 8: Definit ion o f Accounting Estimate as "Accounting est imates are monetary 
amounts in fina ncial statements that are subject to measurement uncerta inty". Further 
amendments to paragraphs delineating Changes to Accounting Estimates. 

Ind AS 12: Amendments to taxable temporary difference, initial recognition of asset or 
li abi lity and Deductible taxable differences. 

Ind AS 12: Deferred tax related to assets and li abilities arising from Single Transaction. 

Ind AS 107: Information about measurement basis (or bases) for fi nancial instruments to 
be d isclosed as ll1~ltc rial accounting policy. 

Ind AS 109 : Amendment to paragraph on reassessment of embedded de ri vat ive. 

lnd AS 115: Amendments to Appendix I which gives the re in the major differences, if 
any, between Indian Accounting Standard ( Ind AS) 11 5 and the corresponding 
International Financ ial Rep0i1ing Standard (I FRS) 15, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers, IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements and SIC 29 Service Concession 
Arrangements: Disclosures, issued by the Internationa l Accounting Standards Board 



IRS Infrastructu re Trust 
Notes to financial statement for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 4: Financial assets (Non-current) 

4.1 Investments 
Al Investments at cost 

Investments in equity instruments of subsidiaries (unquoted) 

436,500,000 equity shares of AE Tollway Limited 

203,500,000 equity shares of CG Tollway limited 

371,500,000 equity shares of IRS Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited 

174,194,303 equity shares of IRS Westcoast Tollway limited 

155,500,000 equity shares of Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway .limited 

328,000,000 equity shares of Kaitha l Tollway limited 

98,250,000 equity shares of Sola pur Yedeshi Tollway limited 

116,800,000 equity sha res of Udaipu r Tollway Limited 

215,757,001 equity sha res of Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

121,200,000 equity shares of Palshit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited 

Investments in subsidiaries (unquoted) 

Other equity instrume nts (unquoted) (FVTOCI) 

Bllnvestments at cost 

B1 Investments in sub debt of subsidiaries (unquotedl 

AE Tollway Limited 

CG Tollway Limited 
IRB Hapur Moradabad Tollway Limited 

lRB Westcoast Tollway Limited 

Kisbangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited 

Kaithal Tollway private Limited 

Solapur Yedeshi Tollway Limited 

Udaipur ToJlway Limited 

Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

Palshit Dankuni Tollway Private Limited 
Subordinated Debt to Related parties ( Interest free) 

Total non-current investments (A + B ) 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

4,365.00 

2,035.00 

3,715.00 

1,741.94 

1,555.00 

3,280.00 

982.50 

1,168.00 

2,157.57 

1,212.00 

22,212.01 

10,265.88 
2,727.80 
9,798.52 

12,203.92 
2,495.38 
4,426.04 
4,423.70 
8,338.40 

16,319.79 

1,213.00 
72,212.43 

94,424.44 

( Rs. in Millions) 
As at 

March 31, 2022 

4,365.00 

2,035.00 

3,715.00 

1,741.94 

1,55~.00 

3,280.00 

982.50 

1,168.00 

2,157.57 

21,000.01 

10,265.88 
2,727.80 
9,414.76 

12,203.92 
1,809.50 
4,426.04 
4,423.70 
8,338.40 

16,319.79 

69,929.79 

90,929.80 



IRS Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to financial statement for the year ended March 31, 2023 

4.2 loans 
(Unsecu red, conside red good, unless otherwise stated) 

AE Tollway Limited 
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited 
Kaithal Tollway Limited 
Solapur Ycdeshi Tollway Limited 
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limited 

less: Current maturities of loan to related parties 

- Interest free 
Kaithal Tollway Limited 

Total 

Note 5 ,: Financial assets (current) 

5.1 Investments 
Investments at fair value through profit & loss 

Investments in mutual fund {quoted} 

investments in Mutual Funds (quoted) (FVTPl) 

( 581 liquid Fund Direct Growth - March 31,2023 - 3333.09 units) 

5.2 cash and cash equivalent 

Ba lances with banks: 
_ in current accounts 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

9,528.41 
4,000.00 
8,471.59 
4,000.00 
4,000.00 

,51.69 

30,351.69 

20.08 

20.08 

6.56 
6.56 

( Rs. in Mill ions) 

As at 
March 31, 2022 

9,528.41 
4,000.00 
8,471.59 
4,000.00 
4,000.00 

302.98 

30,302.98 

20.04 

20.04 

0.25 
0.25 



IRS Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to financial statement for the yea r ended March 31, 2023 

5.3 loans 
(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

loans to related parties 
AE Tollway limited 
IRS Hapur Moradabad Tollway limited 
IRB Westcoast Tollway limited 
Kaithal Tollway limited 
Sola pur Yedesh i Tollway limited 
Udaipur Tollway limited 
CG Tollway limited 
Kishangarh Gu labpura Tollway limited 
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway limited 

5.4 Other financial assets 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Interest receivable from others 

Other receiva bles 
- relatei:t parties 

Note 6 : Other current assets 
Duties and taxes receivable 
Prepaid expenses 

Total 

As at 
March 31, 2023 

478.89 

2,348.08 
156.71 

24.00 
1,335.31 

558.50 

519.80 
5,421.29 

7,681.04 

284.13 
7,965.17 

3.30 
1.18 
4.48 

( Rs. in Millions) 
As at 

March 31, 2022 

478.89 
37.26 

1,116.98 
681.81 

24.00 
214.41 
316.30 
106.00 
517.30 

3,492.95 

5,556.27 

54.40 
5,610.67 



IRB Infra~tructure Trust 
Notes to financia l statement for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 7; Equity 

I. Unit c~pltal 

a. lssued, subscribed and fully paid up Unit capital 

Unit capital of Rs . 100 each issued, subscribed a nd fully paid up 

At the beginning the! year 

Issued during the year 

At the end of the year 

b U. Reconciliation 0 the num er 0 un Is outs ta d' n lOgan d h t e amoun , f o unit capita; 

As at March 31 ,2023 

No. of units Amount In Millions 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

At the end of t he year 

II I. Details of Promoter 

IR81nfrastructure Developers Umitcd 

Anahera Investments Pte Ltd 

8ricklayers Investments Pie Ltd 

Chlswick Investments Pte Ltd 

Stretford End Investments Pte Ltd 

Oangenham Investments Pte ltd 

Total 

Note;' Other Equity 

Retained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit/(IOSS) for the year 

Unit issue e~penses 

Total Other Equity 

. 

85,50,43,265 85,504.33 

2,42,50,000 2,425.00 

87,92,93,265 87,929.33 

As at March 31 ,2023 

No. of units % 

44,84,39,840 51% 

21,98,23, 181 25"'0 

5,27.57,561 W. 

5,27,57,561 6% 

5,27,57,561 6% 

5,27,57,561 6.". 

87,92,93,265 100% 

As at 
March 31,2023 

85.504.33 

2,425.00 

87,929.33 

{ RS. in Millions) 

As at 
M~rch 31,2022 

81,688.00 

3,816.33 

85,504.33 

As at March 31,2022 

No. of units Amount In Millions 

81,68,SO,000 81,688.00 

3,81,63,265 3,816.33 

85,50,43,265 85,504.33 

As at March 31,2022 

No. of units 

43,60,72,332 

21.37,60,685 

5,13,02,562 

5,13.02,562 

5, 13,02,562 

5,13,02,562 

85,50,43,265 

Au, 
March 31 ,2023 

5,992.74 

3,549.01 

(15.33) 

9,526.42 

% 

51% 

25% 

6.". 

6% 

6% 

6.". 

100% 

An' 
March 31.2022 

4,020.25 

1,975.75 

(3.26) 

5,992.74 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to financial statement for the year ended March 31, 2023 

9 Other financial liabilities 
Other Payable 

. related party 

Note 10 : Current financial liabilities 

10.1 Borrowing 

Unsecured loan 
Loan from related parties 

. Interest free 

Total 

10.2 Trade Payables 
a) tota l outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 
b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and 

enterprises 
- related parties 

- others 

Total 

Note 11 : Other current liabilities 
Statutory dues payable (including PF, TDS, GST & others) 

Total 

small 

As at 

March 31, 2023 

35,778.03 

35,778.03 

4,872.91 
4,872.91 

om 

78.54 
2.80 

81.35 

5.67 
5.67 

( Rs. in Millions) 

As at 

March 31, 2022 

35,168.79 

35,168.79 

3,607.93 
3,607.93 

80.31 
1.40 

81.71 

1.20 
1.20 



IRB Infrastructure Trust 
Notes to financial statement for the year ended March 31, 2023 

Note 12 : Other income 

Interest income on 

Interest income from Related parties 

Gain on sale of investment 

Fair va lue gain on investments 

Note 13 : Other expenses 

Rates & taxes 
legal and professional fees 

Payment to auditor (refer note below) 

Bank charges 

Miscellaneous expenses 
Fai r va lue loss on measurement of other payable 

Payment to auditor 

- Statutory audit fees 

Special audit fees 

_ Limited review fees 

_ Other services (certification fees) 

Reimbursement of expenses 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2023 

4,221.77 

0.92 

0.18 

4,222.87 

0.60 

54.19 

1.63 

0.03 

0.36 

560.53 

617.34 

0.29 

0.80 

0,42 

0.42 

0.09 

2.03 

( Rs. in Mill ions) 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2022 

4,200.00 

0.40 

0.04 

4,200.44 

4.73 

15.49 

0.64 

0.03 

2,161.31 

2,182.21 

0.27 

0.36 

0.01 

0.64 



IRa In fl'lll tructure Trus t 

1'10100$ to fino ncial5talemenl (or Ihe )'ur ended ~ larc h 3 1, 2021 

The f<>llowint renects the income and unit d:da used in the bIiIsic and diluted EPU compuLation$; 

Profit attributable to unit holders of the Trust (or hasic &: diluted Qt1\jng:5 

Weighted 'YU'age numbcrofunit far basK &: dilut.d EP\J" (in Millions) 

Basic eaming per unit (Amowlt in Its.) 

Diluted wni.ng pef unit (Amowlt in Rs.) 

Note ! ~ i C.nital l nd nth rr , .. mmit menfs 
There _ noapital.oo ocher commitments as al March 31, 202) . (As on 31.03.2022 Nil) 

No'e U ;Contin!!!nt Ii.hinies 

fort~)" ... r.nded 
March 31,10B 

3.5(9.01 

87,79,6-4,(98 .... , ... 

(Rs. in Mitlions) 

for ' he )'ur ended 
Marth 31,1011 

1,97PS 

8( ,29,14,666 
2.)4 

1.34 

The Trust has pfcMdcd Corponte ~tee far the subsidiary companies i.c. SYTL ar.d Y ATL in ~ oCthe NCDs issued durintlthe FY 2022·23. (As 0031.03.2022 Nil) 

Nnle 17 i De,. il! ofduq 19 ",ism .nd !m,1I rnfcrp,;sg 1< Ptr MSMEn Atl, j:OO§ 

The rolJowipg detail s ;"prdins Micro and small Enterprises has been determined 10 the extenl ruch parties has been identified OIl the hasis ofinfonnalion ."';lable with the Trusl. 

P..-ticub " 

PrincipallmQlllll remainina wq>aid to any supplier as al the period ('lid 

"""""'" .... 
AJnoum of intcre$l paid by the Company in Icnns of section 16 of the MSMED, alons with the IIIIOOIIt of the payment!llacle to the 
supplier beyald the appointed day d...-ing the 'C(.Q\UIting period. 

Amount of interest d .... and payable far the period of «lIy in makins pay1IICD! (which jw,,, b«rI paid hut beyoIId the appointed day 
during the period) bul withom adding \he interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 

Amount of iat~ ..:crucd and mnainios unpajd at the end of the ICcounting period 

The -.m of further interest retnaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, IDltil such date when the inleresl due. 1$ above 
an: ~ paid 10 the small emerpOsc far the ~ of disallowance as I cleducable expendilUfe Imdcr the MSMED Act, 2006 

. ) MSME ' I"" .. ~odcl ... I t 

Plnicolo .. 

MSME dUpuIe<I Due. 

MSME UDdisp<=ooct Dues 

L<$1 than 1 )aI' 

1·2Y..." 

2..JYean 

Mot<: than 3 )'W"I 

TotoL d .... t • • i<:re .. d ... n "lC<1>risa .. per MSMED Act, 1006 

b' ",.. ... of mdl\OrS oth • • than micro nterprL<n . nd smaIL m tt.prL", ... 1I 

, ....... ~ 
Urdllp<.ll~ Duel 

Le .. than 1 yea. 

l·'Y .. .. 

'·3 Y .. .. 

Mo<c thin lye ... 

. TotloL dUft to .. tdlI .... 0IMt tl>an ...... -........ . IId """" enterp ...... lS.t 

A'" 
Man:h31,10ll 

om 

A .. , 
Mlrch 31, 20ll 

0.01 

A .. , 
M.rch 31. lOll 

,., 

SO.56 

30.78 

0.27 

(Its. in Millions) 

As at 
IIobn:h31,l0l1 

A, I t 
IIobn:bll , 2022 

... " 
~tch 31. 2022 

3S.28 

46.43 

11.71 

0.87 



IR81 nfra\lructurt Trust 

NOles t~ financial $I~lemtn t for the )·u r end~ M arch 31, 101 3 

Note 18: Ope,allnt Jegment 

~ Tru" is en,.ced in 10 Invest In Infno$lrueture IIse\$ primarily being in the ro.d sector in Indi. which in the conle><l of Ind AS 108· Ope r.ting Segment' ~ conSidered I. th e only 

~eement. The T, ust's activitieS .re restrk!."d within Ir>di. and ~nce no5epar;o!e ,eographlc;ol segment discto.ure is conskle 'ed neuss..try. 

Note ": Othe' StatutOf)' Information 

i) The Trust h.ve nol " . ded or Invested In Crypto ',",,'''My or Vil'1u;o1 Currency during the finln(ial ye;or. 

ii) Tne 1'~st daes not hold ben;omi property . nd nO proceedin~ und~r Senamllr.ns.ction (Prohibitio n) Act 1988 ha~ b<!en initiated IE.ln5t the Trust. 

iij) ~ Trust does no! have 'nytransactlons with ,ompl":;"s .t ruc~ off. 

Iv) The Trust dOC'S no! have . ny such transxUon which Is not recOfded in the boob of IKcOunt5 tNot hIS b«n .urrendered« d~clo5ed as Income durlncthe year In theta. ,nessment. 

undertne Income T;ox Act, 1961 (such 8S, su"h or survey 0' ;o"yother relevant provisions of Ihe Income h . Act, 1%1. 

vI The Trust did not ha"" .nylo",-Ierm contra CU Induding derivative conlrlC\ for which Ihere were InV mflcri.1 forescu ble 105Ie •. 

vi) The T, ... t has nOI de.:Ia'ed I ..... lfuD dd.uller by .ny bank I {in;ooc:i.l institvtlon or .ny other lende, duri", Ihe year. 

Note 20: l oans or .dvances to .pecified perwns 

P,omot.,-. 

Oire(lors 
KMPs , 

Typ""ofborrower 

• represents lOin or "dvince In the nalUre of loan 

'" II M;orth 31, 2023 

"ofTOtlol~ 

.. repre:sents percenuge to the 10181 Loans Inti AdvlnCeS In Ihe nature of lOIn 

(!\s. In Millions) 

'" al Much 31, 2022 

Amount 

OIIU"'nd! ... • 
"oITO",I" 

Note 21: I'articuLllo; In respectofloans and advalOUS In the naw •• ofloans Ci""n to subsldlarle. a.,equlrc<l by ReluLlltion SJ.(f] of tho! SUIlIUstinc Obrrcl tion and Disclosure 

Re qu\rtmenUI ReguLlltion, 2015 

'" at March 31. 2023 

AE ToIlw.y Umited 

Killhal TolI ... ;oy Umlled 
Kish~n~lrh Gul" bpur. Tollway Umited 

Udaipur lomw.y Umlted 

CG TonWi'( Umited 
IRS H, pur MurOldabad Tollway Umltc<l 

IRS W6tcoas:1 ToUwly limited 
Solapur Yedeshi TolIwloy Umlltd 

Yedeshi .i.oflnCab3d ToIlw!( Umited 

Sala_ 

olrtStlndl", 

10,001.30 

8,979.99 

1.335.31 

"'.5O 

6,348.08 

4,024.00 

4,519.80 

Note 22 : Basis of prepanollon of financial statements 

MoIJdrrwm ~LlInce 

OUtsUIndl", durl ... 

ther-ar 

10.001.30 
9,456.38 

106.00 

1,335.31 

558.50 

6.348.08 

4.024.00 

4.519.80 

As II March 31, 2022 

BaLllnces Maldnwm balance 

O\llStlondlnc OUUllndlnc durl ... '/'til 

10,007.30 10,007.30 
9.456.38 9,456.38 

106.00 106.00 
214.41 214.41 
316.30 316.30 

37.26 37.26 
S,116.98 S,l16.9tl 
4,024.00 4,024.00 
4,517.30 4,517.30 

The Trust has ""..senlc<l these sund,,1ont linandillnformation ( fOf aft the per\Qds presented there in lin IKcord;once with the requirement of SE6111nfrartn.octure InYestment Trusls) 

Resulatlons, 2014. 



IRB Infl'll , n uttu" Trun 
1Il0tes to finand.1 staleme nt fo r the ye,;o r end~ March 31, 20ll 

t'/0te 13 ; ",.Iattd pany tran pcdpn 

I. Ust of Rel. tt<! Pa.d es 

I. Subsidlarlts/ SPV. ,I.E ToUw", Umited 

CG Tollway Limited 

Ma l>'lr Murad~bad Tollway Limited 

IRB Wtst,out TOllwl y Limited 

Kishl ng.rh GuI.bpurl ToHway Limited 

Klit .... 1 Tollway PrNlte Umitl.'d 

Salapur yt<leshl Tollw;;ay Limited 

Udaipur Tollway Limited 

Yedelhi Aurang.bad To llway Li mit ed 

Palsil D;tnkuni Tollw.V Prlll.te Limited 

II. P. rti .. to th. Fund · IRBlnfr.stru,ture Develope" limited ISponsor and Project M. naserj 

MMK To U Road Private li mited (Investment Ma naser) 

IDBI Tru<leeship s.e ... ke, Limited (Trustee olthe IRB Infrntrucl"'t Trust) 

IH, SUbsldl ...... Company of Spansorand Project M.n" tI' 
Mhilskar Infr.slfuttur" Prillate Limit.d 

Modern Ro.d Ma ker. Private Limited 

IRB Go. ToUw.y private Limited 

III. Promote .. ' Di",!<m of th' parties to tM fund lpecified In (II) above 

IRI tnf. nltUClute o.v.lope .. Limited 
Particul ... (S onsor a...:l P,o jtct M.na,t) 

Mr, Vlrtl'1dr. O. Ml\alsk. r 

Promo''''-S 
Mrs. Deepali V. Mhllskar 

Vifend .. O. Ml\aisbr HUf 

Mr. Vtrendra D M ... iskar. {lIaim>an and 
Man3ging Dire,'01' 

Mn. i:>«pali V. Mhaiskar. Whole Time 
o.~'or 

Mr. Jim Tam:uil M~nd Gone..-

Mr. R,,·indn DI,ariw.1 

DirectOrl 

I...:Itptndent director. 

M •. Ch.nd.a,he!&Ii, S. K.pt.~ 

Mr. Su nil M. Talali 

Mr. SandeepJ. Shi h 

~I ,. Pri" Sa,'I •• lndependem [ljrt<:lOt ( .. ~f 
Febru;uy 10. 2(22) 

Mrs. lI""n. Raja. Independe n1 Di reclOl' (uliX' 
Febru;UY 10. 2022) 

MMK ToU R~d I'rivI" Limited 
(lnv.Slment Mlna,erj 

IIRB Infrastruct ure DeV(! IQpe ,s 
Umitll'd 

Ifir. ndra D Mh.i,k., 

Mr. I(UMis..B~r.n Chitr~illh 

Independent di,ectors 

KG Krllhn.munhy 

Ranj.nl Par. njapc 

lOBI TfUSleeship Ser.lUIlim"ed (Trustee of tile 
IRD Infras" ""t"", Tnlu) 

10at Bank Limited 

li ft Insu"""e Corporltlon Qf Indi. 

G_ral I ......... nce COI'pol'lltion of Indi. 

Mr. Sa,,,u'" Joseph JebaraJ 

Mr. PradcqJ Kurrntr Jain 

Mrt. Jl)'aWee VUay Ronade 

Mr. Prad«p Kurn .. Mllhol .. 

Ms. Oalji..xr Kaut ~brtd:ll 



Associates 
A) Holding Con. pany ofSllOn,or I Project Man.ltt. 

IRB Holding Pri,-ate Limited (Fonnerly Mhaiskar Ventures Pri,"te Lnnitedj 

OJ Sub. ldia ry C ompani .. of Spon, o. I 
Ideal Road Builders Pri,'ate Limited (IRBPL) 
Mhaishr InfrasTructure Private Limited 
Modem Road Makers Private Limited 
Aryan Toll Road Private Limited (ATRPL) 
A TR I nfTastructure Pri,'ate Limited (A TRFL) 
IRS Infr. .. tructu<e Private Limi1ed (IRBFL) 
Thane Ghodbunde r Toll Ro.d PrivOl. Limited(TGTRPL) 
Al)'an lnfrastrucrure hwestmenlS Pri,'ate Limited (AlIPLj 
IRB MP Expressway Private Limited 
MMK Toll Road Priv3te Limi ted (MMK)· Emity with Joint Control 
IRa Kolhapur Inte grated Ro.d Development Company Pri".te Limited (lRBK) 
Ny.n Hospitality Pri,'ate Limited (AHPL) 
IRB Sindhudurg Airpon Pri-'ate limited (lRBSA) 
IRB Goa Tollway Pri,'ate Limited (IRB Goa) 
IRS PS Highway Pri'''1e Limited (IRBPS) 
IRB Ahmed.bad V.dodara SUI"'r E'pre,s Tollway Pri"ate Limited (IRBAV) 
MR/l.l Mining Pri vate Limited (Sub,iJi31)' ofMR.lI.1PL) 
GEl Expres.way pn,'ote Limited (Fonnerly ~no"n as IRS PP Pn>j.~t Pri,,",e Limited) 
VK I E'p",,,way Pri,ate Limited (VK 1). UptO (Ktober 12, 2022 
IRB InfrastruC1ure TruS1' Entily with Joi nt Control 
VM7 Expressway Pri,ate Limited 
?3lsit D30kuni Tollway Pri"ate Limited· Ur to April 1, 2022 
P.thankot Mandi Highw3y Pri,ate Limited 
ChiuoorTh.chur Highway Prj"ate Limited 
Meerut Bud.un E"pres$w3y limited· Subsidiary upto O<tober 14, 2022 and Emily with Joint Control w.e.f. O<too..r 15,2022 

Samakhiyali Tollway Pri,'ale Limited w.e.f 14,03,2023 

C) O.hu AI50da.t Compani .. ofSlIOnsor I Proj«. Man.ge. 
I. Virendra D, Mloai'kor (HUf) 

2. VCR Toll S~",,'ices Private Limited 

3. VDM Ventores Pri"ate limited 

4. DEUX Fanning. Film. Pri"3fe limited 

S, IRB Cb.ritable Foundation 

Key Manage.ia] j>enonnel ofProje< t SPY Grou p (Only with "hom Project SPY Group had tranS~WOn$ during the }~ar/ thtre w~. 

balance outstanding at the year ""d) 

I. Ms, Shilpa Todank .. 
2, Mr. Abhay Ph.uk (w .•. f M.rch 09. 2022) 
3. Mr, Darshan Sangurdekar 

4 Mr. Ompraka.b Singh 
S, Mr. Chandra,hekhar K.ptan 
6. Mrs. Ranjan. r3r ... ~ .pe (wef(Ktober 06, 2021) 

7. Mrs. Anti Ta.,,", 

8, Mr. Sudhir R.o Hoshing 
9. MI. Atnitabh Murari:a 
10, Mr. Jite"dra Sh .. m. (upto February 28. 2022) 
11, Mrs. Heona R.j~ (upto O<tober 01. 2021) 



1~' lnfrftttUctu .. TO'\I$I 
Nat" I<lfinan,lal <tate m,...,! far th~ Vear ended March 1l. lDll 

(R~.I ~ M llllon~ 

PartlN la" Relation 
YureMed Tnr ended 

So-. No. M~r(h 31, ZOll Matdl 31, 1022 

, Equity InveJtm, nt 1,ln.oo '15.00 

IRS Hapur Mu,adab.d Tollway Llmhed Sub.ldla"" 615.00 

Palsllit Dankunl Tollway Private Lim ited Sub,lell.ry l.212.00 

, Subordinated Debt 1,111.'" 2,Z"'.49 

CG TaU",-.y Lim'led 
Sutnl6iary 240.30 

IRS Haput Mur.dabad Tollway Limito;d Subsld l.ry 383.1' l.1'5.00 

IRS We5100a't Toll .... 3y Li mi led 
!oubsklla<y 

Kis/1ansarh Gulabpura Toll",·.y LImited SUb'ldlary 685.88 

Udaipur Tallway Limiled 
Subsidia ry 259.19 

Palshit Oanl;""i Tollway p.h·",e Llm llod 
Subsldl.ry 1,11l.00 

, LOn, term 10 ... (Intere,t ' !"HI 41.11 41.11 

Kaith., Tollway limited SUMidiary 48.71 48 .71 

• 511al\ Term LOan Chien 1,64).20 1.681.67 

AE Tallwav limited 
SUMldi.ry 131.30 

IRa H.P<" Muradabad ToIlw.y limited Subsidiary 46.~ 3).76 

IRa westooast Tollway limited Subsidiary I,ZlI.lO ISl.OO 

Kalt!»' Tollway lImit~d Subsldiory SOl.4O 

SOI,pu' r edll'lIl Tollway lImiled Subsid iary ' .00 
Ud.ipu r TOllwlY lImiled Subsidiary 1.120.90 114.41 

CG Tollway limited 
SubSIdI. ry 242.20 314.30 

Kishln,,," Gul.bp." a Tollway Umited Subsid i.ry 76.00 

yedeslllAu< .... bad Tollway limited SUbsidiary '''' 148.50 

, SIIOr! T"m loan repaid 515.10 . 
IRB H>pur Murad,bad Tollway limited Subsid iary 

K;rith.1 Tcllwav limited Subsidiary SU.IO 

KlshMll.m Gulabpura ToIlw:t'/ limited SUb'l ell ..... 

• Unit Ciplul "sued 
1,1)6.7$ 1.!J46.)) 

IRS In',nlfuClure ()ev(:loperS limited 
Sponsor and Project 

1,Z36.7S 
M"nI8" 

1.946.11 

, Inter • • t Incom' 
4,221.77 4,100.00 

SoIapur YedeVli Tollway limit ed 
SUbsldl.ry "".00 "'00 

Yedeshl Auran&abild ToHwav limited """"'" 5-81.77 "".00 

Kailhal Tcllway limited 
Subsid iary 1.186.02 1.186.02 

IRB WeSlccaSI Tollway limited 
SUbskilary 560.00 S60.00 

AI: Tollway Uml1~d Sub,ldll ry U33.98 U33.98 



1118 InfrantuC!u<, Trw$1 
Not .. to lI ... ndallUI.m~nl for tll~ yea r ende d Marcil 11, 202l 

n jllelaled party IraMacllon durin, Ille yur 

• In.,tmen! Man"iemer>! Fe u 
S6.S2 42.48 

MMK Toll R.,.,d M limited 
lovenment MooaSfr 56.52 4 2.48 

, (xpecnseS incurred on behalf o f others 
nl.os 0.19 

AE ToIlw~ Umited 
SUb1idiary 1.11 

CG Tollw ay Uml l~ 
StbIkllary 48.45 

Kishansarh Gulabp ura Tollway Umlted Sub>idio.., 194.110 

IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Umlted Sub.idiary 32.63 

IRB WestCOist TOllway Umlte d 
Subsidiary 7.61 · 

Udaipur Tollway li m ited 
SUbsidiary 16.08 0 .119 

Sola pur Vedeshi Tollway Umited 
SUbsidiary l.78 

Yedeshl Aurangabad Tollway Umlted 
Subsitlia"l B.69 

Kalthal ToilwaV li mited 
SUbsidiary O.o! · 

P"lsll Dilnkuni Tollway Private limited 
Subsidi • .., 45.60 · 

MM~ 10M Road I'Vt limiled 
Investment Min,. .. ,~ 

Reimbursement rece ived o n e.penses Incurred ,0 
128.ll · " bellilU of others 

Subsidi ary 1.10 
AE ToliwilY limited 

Subsldiiry 1.10 
CG Tollway Umited 

Klsl!angirh Gulabpura Tollway Umlted Subsidi.ry 2l.611 

IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Umlted SUb<lcliary 9.73 

IR8 Weswnst TollwaV Umited 
Subsidiary 1.77 

SUbsidiary 2.95 
Udaipur Tollway limited 

!.olapur Vedeshi Tollway Umited 
SUbsidiary 27.89 

Yede.h! Aurangabad Tollway limited 
Subsidiary 11.02 

K,ilhal TOllway umited 
$ubsldla"" 0.01 

hlsit OJnkunl Toll wav Private limlt~ 
Subsldia"l 44.06 

" 
Un ........ d loJn ,ecelved I,S32." 4,1S9.1IO 

I~a ... I,utruClure oevetoPers litnItPd 
S!>ons.or Jnd ,,"oject 

MalYi" 
1,532.48 4.7S9.00 

" 
Un .. cuftd loJn paid 

Span.or .od P'ojfft 
261.50 4,828.!l 

IRBlnlr •• t,uctu ,e Dw~lop~" Umiled Manage, 2E7.SO 4.8211.8'1 

" 
bpens" Incurred on our behalf of , •• lmbUf$ementl 

Spans.or and Project 

. 1.11 

IRe Infristru<!ure ~~ope" lim ited Man'ier 
1.11 

" 
Ot/M:r , rpble 609.Zl 2,210.02 

IlI.8lnfrutruClu~ Developers LitnltPd 
Sponsor and ,,"oject 

Manage< 
560.52 2,161 .31 

Sub.idi.rin Company 

Mhol~' lof ... truclUt~ f'r\Yl1e Limited of Spot\"" and P,oject 411.71 48.71 
Manager 

" T,u,I,. FH' 
loS) O.lI 

IDBI Tru.tt"l',hlp Service<> umited Truot" 2.53 0.38 

.&.:~~\ E &$ o*' ~~ ;' M!ll.!a ~r: 
~ ~ 100 , .. '*' 'b t); '1;; ~ ~W 
~A~C.(}o\' 



lAB Infrntrudure Tr\l~t 
Note, t o Ilnilndlll ,tllteme n t for the year ended M~rch 31, 202] 

III I Aelated poorly ouutilnd inl billan",s 
Rs. in Mil~ons ) 

PilrtlC1Jl ..... Relation .,," '" '" Sr. No. MiI"h 31,2023 Mi"h 31,2022 

, Equity Inv"stm.,n t 22,212.01 21,000.01 
AEToliway L.in . ited Sublidiary 4.365.00 4,365.00 

CO Tollway Limited Subsidiiry 2,035.00 2,035.00 
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,715.00 3.715.00 
IRB WcSlcoasl T ollway Limited Subsidiary 1,741.94 1,741.94 
Kishangarh Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,555.00 1555.00 
Kaittml Tollway Limited Subsidiary 3,280.00 3,280.00 
Sola pur Yedcsh i Tollway Limi led Subsjdlary 982.50 982.50 
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,168.00 1,168.00 
Ycdeshi Aurangabad Toll" 'ay L.imited Subs idiary 2,157.57 2.157.57 
Palshil Dankuni T ollway Private Limiled Subs idiary 1,2l2.00 . 

, Subordinated Debt 72,211.43 69,929.79 
AE Tollway Lilll itro SubJJdiary 10,265.88 10,265.88 
CG Tollway Limited SubJidiary 2,727.80 2,727.80 
IRS Hapur MumdaOOd TQllway Limited Subsidiary 9,793.52 9.414.76 
IRS WeslC03St ToIl""y Limilro Subsidiary 12.203.92 12,203.92 
Kis/lang,lIh Gulat>pura Tollway limited Subsidliry 2.495.38 1,809.50 
Kailhal Toltway L,miled Subsidiary .,.26.04 4,426.G<t 

Solapor Yeo;Ieshi ToIl""lIY Umiled Subsldiiry •. 423.70 4,423.70 
UdaipurToilway Limitco;l Subsidiiry 8,338.40 8,33S.40 
Yedeshi Aurangabad Tollway Limiled Subsidiary 16,319.79 16,319.79 

Palshil Dankun; Tollway Privale Limiled 5IJbsidiiry l.213.00 . 

, lonl term Ioiln I Interest beann,) 30,000.00 30,000.00 
AE Tollway Umi.ed Subsidliry 9.52S .• 1 9,528.41 
IRS Weslcoasl ToU""y Limited Subsidiary 4.000.00 4,000.00 
Kaithal Tollway Limited Subsidiary 8.471.59 8,471.59 

Solapm Yedeshi TOll""y limited Subsidiary 4,000.00 4.000.00 
Yedeshi ,\unmgabad Tollway Limited Subsidiary 4.000.00 4,000.00 

• Lons term lo~n I Inte rest free) 151.69 102.98 
Kaitll~1 Tollway Limi ted Subsidiary 351.69 302.98 

, Short Term loan 5,421.29 1,492.95 

AE Tollw~y limited 5ubsldiiry 418.89 478.89 
IRB Hapur Muradabad Tollway limited Subsidl~ry . 37.26 
IRB Westcoast Tollway Limited Subsidiary 2,348.0S 1.116.98 
!Caltha l Tollw~y limited Subsidiary 156.71 681.81 
Solapur Yedeshl Tollway limited Subsidlil)' 24 .00 24.00 
Udaipur Tollway Limited Subsidiary 1,315.31 21 •. 41 
Yedeshl Aurangabad Tollwa y limited Subsidiary 519.80 517,30 

CG Tol lway limited Subsidiary 55a.SC 316.]0 
!Clshanlam Gulabpura Tollway Limited Subsidiary 106.00 

, OIher Pilyable 3S,776.26 35,167.02 
IRB In frastructure Develope~ limited Sc!onsor iI\d Project 

32,095.57 31,535.05 
Mal\i&er 

Mhais!<ar Infrastructure Private Limit!'d 
Subsidiaries Company 01 

351.69 102.9S SPOnsor and Project 

Mod"m Raid Mak"" Private limited 
Subsidiaries Comp~ny of 

1.784.13 1,784.13 
Sponsor and Project 

Subsidiaries Companv of 
IRS Goa TollwiV pr ivite Limited Sponsor and Project 1,S44.86 1.544.86 

Manaler 

, Other payab,* I Reimbursement of Expenses 
incurred on ou r behilf) 

. 

~I'-\E&&~ IRB Infrastruct u re Developers Limited Sponsor ilnd Project 
1.77 1.77 0'7 ,~ Manaler 

~ Mu~tl S; 
":,~ fi~ .I~ 

~i~o,\~~~ 
COACC 

-,,, 



IR B I nf,~st ..... dure T ..... n 

, 

u 

I Tollway Umited 
I Umlted 

Tollway limited 

I limited I !~~~~~~~\j'~'"'~i"~'~d:~:~~::::: limited 

I~~:I:::': ~:~~~:::~T'OIlWay Limited 

II limited 

[MM.""" Ro~d Pvt Llmit!!d 

IU'''.~ '.d' eo,., I othe r p~y~ble 
Infra5t ruct u re Develope,s limited 

2021 

Subsidi~ry 

SUb5id!iry 

SUbsidiary 

Su~ldlary 

Subsidiary 

Subsldliry 

SUbsidiary 

Subo;idi~ry 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiiry 

Inllfsllnent Mana,~r 

Subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

5ubsidiiry 

Subo;idi;wy 

Subsidiiry 

Investment Minager 

Spon_ and ProJKI 

1.54 

II." 

539.90 

485.27 

2,112.74 

1.552.00 

2,991.1l 

78.54 
78.54 

4,872.91 

4.872.91 

29.00 
10.50 

1l.92 

II." 

S,SS6.Z1 

547.40 

636.00 

1,693.72 

992.00 

1.687. 16 

80.n 
80.31 

3,607.93 

3,607.93 



I RR I nrr~$t ruc t<l,.e Tru" 

Note, to finand~1 s ta tem e nt (0 1' th e y~ar cnd~d ]l,hrch 31,2023 

Nott 24: h ir Val ues 

Fiun<i~1 >sscts a nd liabilities 
The: carrying values of ftnancial s instruments orthe trust arc reasonable and approximations of fair values. 

The .ccountin&elassification of ca(:h category of financial instruments , thc ir canying .mounts.nd ,he categories of financial assets .nd liabilities measured.t fair .... Iue, are set out 

below; 

Fin.nd.1 Ustls 

Financial assl! meawred 'l.m!)!\isel! wsl 

LooM 
Othe! financial assets 

FjMl\Cial mell measured at fai l v.lue through suteroent offront &; Loss 

Investments in mutua]tru:sll 

Fjnandal melS measuw;! at amon jwl CQ;St 

Cash and cu h equivalents 

Othe. BanI: balances 

Finanwlliabilil ics 

Financial liahilit in ",easun;d at amortised cost 

Trade payables 

BofTO'Io;n~ 

0Iher financ:ialliabilities 

Carrying.mount 

ASl t 
l\brch 31, 2023 

3S,m.98 

1,965. 11 

20.08 

6.56 

81.3S 

4,8n.91 

35,n8.0) 

Fair Value 

35,1n.98 

7,965.11 

20.08 

6.56 

81.35 

~,812.91 

3S,n8.(lJ 

As . t 
March 3 1, 2022 

33,19S.94 

5,610.61 

20.04 

0.25 

81.71 

3,607.93 

35,168.19 

(R$. in Millions) 

Fair Va lue 

A$ at 
l\brch 31 , 2021 

33,195.~ 

5,610.61 

20.04 

0,25 

81.71 

3,601.9) 

35.168.79 

The mlOnagemenl assessed that the fair value of cash and cash equivalents. trade recci>'ables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current JiabiJitiq approximate !heir carryins 

amounts largely d...: to !he shon·lerm maturilies oflhese instruments. 
The fair , .. Iue oflbc finaneial asseU and liabilities is incl\ldcd at !he amount It which the illSlJ"Wnent could be exchanged in a CUfTenl transaction bet\WOen willing panics, otltcT than in a 

forced 01 liqui<btion sale. 

The dil;count for Jack ofmarl:etability ~presents the amounts that the trust lias tlc:tmnincd that market participants would tale into ICCOunt when pricins the invC$tments, 

The I1USl is required to present the Su.tement of tou.l assets al fair v.l...: and Su.tement oftOu.1 returns.t fair value as per SEBI Circular No, ClRIlMDIDFIl 1412016 dated October 20 

2016 as I pari o f lhese financi al statements - R~fer Statement orNel assets I' f'ir value and StalCmenl of Total Returns al fair value. ' 

Note 25: fur V.lue Hierarcby 

All financial i'.atrwnents for which fair value is recognised or d isclosed are categorised within the fai r value hielllTChy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 

signifiQUt to the: fair val ue measurement;as. whole. 

LevelI : Quoted (unadjusted) price is ItCUve market for ideDtic.aJ asse\$ 01 liabilities 

Level 2: V.luation techniquc for which the 10WC$! level inpulihai llas a significant e ffect on!hc: fair value measun:mcntlll: observed., either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3; Valuation technique for which !he 10v."<:$llevel inpr.n has I significant effect on the fair value measurement is not based on obse rvable market data. 

There \WOre no transfers between ~el I, ~e12 and Level 3 durinS the year. 

The followin8table ~nu fair vall>!: hieraR:hy ofasseU and l iabilities measured 1\ fair value on. =wringba$is IS of March 31. 2()2): 

(R$. in Mill ions) 

"' " MardI 31, 2023 

F. lr nlue mCl.5urtmtatat end of tbe reporting year 

using 

A ... 

Lo= 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Other Financial asse\$ 

Investments in m\!tual fund (Quoted) 

Uabi lities 

Trade ~yable 
Other financial liabilities ........... 

35,n2.98 

6.56 

1,965.11 

20.08 

81.35 
35,118.03 
4,812.91 

Levtl2 

20.08 

Levell 

35,172.98 

6.56 

7,96$,17 

81.35 
35,118.0) 
~,rn.91 



IRI! Inrru tructurc Tru" 

No t~s 10 r.na"d~1 S I" I~P1ent for Ihe year ended ~ Ia rch 31, 2023 

The: following table present< fair value lIicrarrhy of~ .nd liabihties ~surcd I t f.i, value on • • ecurring !>asis as of March 31, 2022: 

(Rs. in Millions) 

As al 
March 31 , 2022 

Fai r value m~asureP1 cnt 31 end or the reporting }"ear 
uing 

A>scts 

'"'"' 
Other FinallO;ial I=IS 

InvestmeDIS in mulual fUIld (Quoted) 

U ab ilit'''' 
Trade payable 
Other financial1iabilities 

Note 26: F iund"l risk manll:c me nt objtttive$ an d polid~ 

33,795.94 

5,610.67 

20.001 

&1.71 
35, 168.79 

Ltvcl I Ltvel2 w 'el3 

33,795.94 

5.610.67 

20.001 

81 .71 
35,168.79 

The tT\lSt's risk management policies arC established to idcnwy and analyse the risks faced by the trust, to sel aWropriate risk limits I nd controls,.nd to monilOr risks and adherence to 
limits. Risk management policies and systems Ire reviewed regt.lllrly to reflect changes in mmet conditions and the tl1.lSl'S activities. 

TIle Board of Direct on oflnvestmcnt Manager have ovcr.tll re$ponsibility for the establi~cnt and o-.:"ight ofllw: t=1'5 risk mamgement frameWOl"k. 

In performing its operating, investing and financing activities. the tn.I5t is exposed to the Credit risk, l.iquidity risk and Martet ruk. 

a.lIlarket Riik 

Market risk is the risk thaI the fair value of future ~ Oows of a financial instrwnc:nI will OUCU,IIte because of cllangn in market prices. MMket risk compri$C$ ~ ~ of risk: 
interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and rommodity risk. Financial instruments a ffected by market risk include loans borrowings and depo$its. 

endi t risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counlCf party wi ll not m«t its obligations under a financial iMtrumenl or customer conlract, leading to a fi.nanciallou. TIle trust is \\lIposcd to credil risk 
from its inveslinG activities ifl(luding loans to Jubsidiaries. deposits with banks and other financial instMl1ents. As It Mardi 31, 2023, the aedit risk is considered low sintC substantia l 

transactions of the trust are with its subsidiaries. 

I, te rest Rate Ris k 

Interest tate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows ofa financial instrument will Oucluate because of changes in market interest raltS. TIle trust's expOSUre to the risk of 
changes in market interest rates relates primarily 10 the trust's long·term debt obligalions with Ooaling interest rates.. 

~ Uquidity rilk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the trust may not be: able to meet ilS presenl . nd fl/lllfr ush and collateral obligations wilhout incumng IIIIICCeptable Io$se$. TIle INSI'I obj«tive is to, al 

all times maintain optimum level s of liquidity 10 meet its ush and collateral requirements. 

TIle trust closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys . robust cash management system. It maintains adequate JOW"CCS offinancing including debt and overdraft from banks at an 

optimised cost. 

The: liquidity risk is managed on the basis of expected maturity dates of the financial liabilities. The IY'eflIgc a edil period taken to KIlle trade payables is Ibmn 30 to 90 days. The o ther 
payables arc with short.teon durations. Thc ClrT)'ing amounts are lSSWtted 10 be I reasonable approximation orfair value. The following table analyses financial liabilities by remaining 

contractual maturities: 
( Rs.. in Millions) 

On dcmlDd 
Less thaa 3 

Less thn I yur 1 105 yea" IIIlrch 31, 2013 mlllltlls 
> 5 years T oul 

Borrowings 4,872.91 4,172.9 1 

Other financial liabilities 35,77&.03 35.778.03 

TDde payablcs 0,01 SO." 30.78 81..35 

Total ." 4.923.47 ' ....... 40,7:32.29 

Oil demaod 
Less IbID 3 

Less Ihtll 1 year 1 10 5 years lIIarcb 31, 2022 moaths 
> 5years Tou l 

.......... 3,607.93 3,607.93 

Other financi .lli.biliti~ 3~ . 168.79 35.168.79 

Trade payables 3$.28 46.43 81.71 

T .. , 3,643.21 35,215.22 38.858.44 

At present, the tn.I51 docs expects 10 repay all 1iabi litiesll their eon\JIC;1\W maturity. In order 10 mCC1 sl,If;hcash comrnilll1ents, the opct1lting Ktivity is expected (0 gcnen.tc sufficient 

ush inflows. 
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/"lotes to fi nlnd~1 51 ~ I~n,en t for the )'u r ended M.rch 31, 2023 

/"l0l~ 17: Clpjtal m~nagemen t 

Co. 'tal incllllks equity attributable 10 tbe equity holders 10 ensure that il maintains an efficient .... pital .tructure and healthy capital ratios in order to sllppon its busil\Css and maximise 
'~hoLder value. ll!c truSI rnaf'l3S"s ilS capital StNCture and "''''\.:($ adjustments 10 it. in light or ch.ances in «oonomic conditions or its busir>e$S requirements. To mlIintain or . djus! the 
capiul SII'lIC!ure, the lrust may adjuslthe distnbution of ush n ow of retum capit.l 10 shareholders or issue new sha,". No chan!:"s were mruk in tho: objectives., po!Jcies Of prOCesses 

during the year ended March 31, 2023 . . . . . 
The UUSI monilors capital using. gearing utio, which is net debt dlvtded by tot.:J1 ~pllal plus nel debt. Net debt IS calcu lated u loans and borrowmgs Ius cash Ind caSh equivalents. 

Borrowing:s 
Less: ~sh lnd cash equivalenls 

Net deh! (A) 

Unit upital 

0Ihcr equity 
Total equity (B) 
C.pital ud net d~bt C .. A + B 
Gearint ... t;o (04) (C I A) 

As.! 
Much 31, 2023 

4,872.91 

(6.S6) 

4,866.35 
g7,929 .33 

9 ,S26.42 

97,455.iS 

1,02,322.10 
4.76 0/0 

( Rs. in Millions) 

A •• ~ 
March 31,2022 

3,607.93 
(0.2S) 

3,607.69 
&S,S04.33 

S,992.74 
!U,497.Oi 
95,104.76 

3.79% 

In order 10 achieve \hi s overan objeclive, the trust's capital mana~ment, amI)IISSl other things, lims 10 ensure that il mcelS financial COVClWtts ltucked 10 the interest-bearing loans and 
blmowings Ihal define .... pital rouclure requi rcmenlS. Breaches. in mccting the fiTlll1Cial COvelWllS would permit lhe bank 10 immedialely call loans and borrowings. There have been no 
m.c:hcs in the financial covenants ofln}' inlerest-bcaring borrowings in the current year. 

Note 28: Sign ificanl .ccounliDg judgetllcnt, ""limit"" and USlllnpt;ons 

The prcpanlion of the trust's fi""ncial statements requires rnanagemenllO nutkejudgmcnts, estimates andlS$utllptions that affCCI the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, L'l$(:ts and 
liabilities and the ICl1IIS1ing disclosures and the discl<mu"C of contingent liabilities. Uneertainty aoou! these assumptions and cstinutlCS could result in 0111 comes that ~u;re • material 
adjustment 10 lho: unying IITIOUIII of as.scts or liabilities affecled in fut\IfC periods. 

JudgemeDI 
In the process of applying the trust'li ,""""",ling polictcs, ·managcmcnt has made the judgement, wIIich h.av.: the I1\O$I liignifiClnt effecl on the amounts recogni$Cd. in the financial 

statemenlS. 

aa .. ifocatloD of unit holden I ruSIlI 

Under the provisions of the: lnvlT Regulations, trust is required 10 di$tnbute 10 Unit holden not Ie$Ihan ninety percent of the net distributable cash nows of trust fOr each finanei.1 year. 
Accordingly, a portion of the unit holden' trusts contains a conrr.t\ual obliption orthc tr\IStlO pay 10 its Unil holders Ga$h distributions. The Unit holder's trusIS could therefore have 
bcenelusified IS compound fiTlll1Cial instrument which contain both equilY and liability componcnlS in accordance wi\h Ind AS 32-FinancialloslrurncnlS: Presentation, 
Ho"'CVCr in accordance with SEDI Cin::ulan(N .... ClRJ1MD,'Df/ I I~12016 dated 20.0ct.2016 and No.CIRI1MDIDF/ 127f2016 dated 29-Nov.20l6) iilSucd uncler the InvlT Regul.tions. the: 
unit ho~' trusts have been classified as equity in or6er 10 comply wi\h the: manda\OI)' requirements ofSeetion H of Annexure A 10 the SEDI Circular dated 20-0ct·2016 dealing wi\h 
the minimum disclosures for I::ey finaneial statements. In line with \he~, the income distribution p:l.yabl~ 10 o.uUl holtlcrs is rccosnizcd as liability when the same is approved by lhe 

Investment Manager. 

Estimlta lad Issump~ioa , 

The key assumptions concerning thc future and other \.:ey SO\lf«S of estimation uncertainty II the reporting dale, that have a signifi(lnt ris\.: of causing a malerial adjustment 10 the 
unying amounlS of assets and liabilities or fair value disclosures within the next fUWlCiai year, are described below. The trust based its asswnptions and estimates on plmnCters 
available when the fi nancial statements ""= prepared Existi", ~ and assumptions alxtut fururc clevclopmc:ats. ho~, may change due 10 nwl.:o:e ch.anses Of 

circumstances lrising thatlTe beyond tho: control ortbe \nISI. Sueh eharges are reflected in the lS$umplions when they oecur. 

Fair valutioa lad disclo$ua 

SEBI Circulars issued under \he lnvlT Regut.:Jtions required is diclosures relltingto net a.w:ts al fair value and lotal returns II fair value. In estimating the fair value of investments in 
subsidilrie$ (which COnstilute substantial portion of the net assets). the Trust engages independc:nt qualified external valuers to perform lho: valualion. The management worl::s closely 
with the valuers 10 csublish the Ippropri.te valuation techniques and inputS 10 the model. The IfIlIJlagement reports the valuation rqxm and findiop 10 the Board of the InVC$1ment 
Manage1 half yearly to explain the aniSe of flllCf\lJltions in the rlir value of the road projceu. The inputs 10 the v.aluatioD models are taken from ob$etvablc markets where pouiblc, but 
where \his u not feasible, a cIegree ... f judgemctll is required in e$bblisltin&: fair v.alues. Judcements include consideralions of inpulS such 11$ WACC, Tax rales, Inflation rales etc. 
Changes in asswnplions aboul these factors could .!Tect the r.ir v.lue. (refer note 24 for details). 

Impairme1ll of nu-fiuacililasscts 
Non-financial assets ortho: trust primarily comprise: ofinvestmcnlS in subsidiaries, Impairment elUslS whm the carrying value ofan I.S5CI or cash generating unit exeecds its recoverable 
amount, which is the higher of ils rair valuc less costs of disposal and its value in use. 1be recordablc amounts for the inveslmenlS in subsid iaries Ire based on value in use ortlle 
uncIerlyina projoets. The v.aluc in use .... Iculation is based on a DC!' model. 1be CUh nows Ire derived from budgets I forecasts over the life of the projects. 
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NGtes 10 fi uaeil l J t. tt mtn t fGr t he yur ~nded ~brch JI, lOU 

NGte 19: In veSlntcnl Manager FHS 

Pursuanllo the terms of the Investment Managemcm Allrecmcnt, the fees will be paid to the Investment Manager for the services provided by it ("Manallcmem Fees"), The 
Management Fees hive been revised for Ihe Financial Year with tbe approval oflhe UnitholdeB, where lhe ,'otcs cast by Unitholders so enlitled and voting in favor ofa resolution an:: 
IIOtless thIIn one-and-a-halftime:s tbe v~cs cast against su<:h resolution. PuBuani to. resolution of the Unitholdcrs, lhe Management Fees for the Financial Year 2023 has been revis.ed 

10 Rs.47.71l millions 

Note 30: Tast:!l 

In accordanCl! with section 10 (23FC) of Ihe Income Tax Act, the income of busir.e:;s trust in the form of interest received Or receivable from Proje\:t Spy ;s e~cmpt from ta~ , 

Acoo.-dingly, the !rust is nOl required to provide any current tax liabili ty. Furthl:r, deferred ta~ Issen on call)' fO ...... 'lIrd losses is not bema: created sill<:c ther~ is no virtual certa inty of 

reversal Gftlle same in the near future. 

Notdl 

On AjXil 7, 2022, the Trust has executed arrangement with the Sponsor for implementat ion ofPals l1 Dankuni Tollway Private limited ('SPY') by the Trust and accordinllly, Ihe project 

IS bei ngcx«uled by Ihe SPY and the Trust. 

There is no subsequent event alier the reporting period which requires adjustments to the financial statements 

l'I'olt JJ: I'reviolu ~riod nmpauli.·es 
P' CVIOllS period ', figures ha\'~ been rCgJoupe:dlrcelassifiro, wl\en::'l'r nox:asary, 10 ~nfinn 10 ClUTenl period'~ cl.as.sirtCation. 

No le 34 : Sub5tqu~n t events 
The Trusl has been lisled on NSE w,e.f. 03.04.2023 

A, per our report ofevfn OOtf Fill and on bclulfofMMK Toll Road Prrvale Limiled 

For Gokhale.s. Sithe (In.'tstmenl Manller of IRB Infr.s tructure Tnst) 

Cha rtered Accounlants 

leA< F'M """""'".7' 1032"W 

<1\ 
C,\. KMU51ubh Dt~hpande 

Partner 
MembcrshipNo,: 1210 11 

Place: Mumhai 

Date - 12,05.2023 

Vircnd ra P, Mhaiskar 

Chairman 

DIN 00 1&3554 

Chi~fFinancill officer 

Plate: Mumbai 
Dale ; 12.05.2023 

P hana njay K. Joshi 

Ch refCl(<<utive officer 

KU51ubh Shcv.d~ 

Company secrelary 

Membership No. A27833 



MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023 

Note No. 

I ASSETS 
(1) Han-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 
Financial assets 
I) Investments 

4 

5 
5.1 

(2) Current assets 
Financial assets 6 

6.1 
6.2 
6.3 
6.4 
6.5 
7 
8 

II 

(1) 

(11 

I) Investments 
II) Trade receivables 
iii) cash and cash equivalents 
Iv) Bank balance other than (Iii) above 
vI Olher financial assets 
Current tax assets (net) 
alfler current assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

EQUITY AND UABllInES 
Equity 
Equity share capital 
Other equity 

Nan-current lIabUltles 
Provisions 

CUrrent lIabliltlel 

9 
10 

11 

Financial liabilities 12 
i) Trade payables 12.1 

a)lotll outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small.enterprlses 
b) total outstanding dues of creditors olfler than micro enterprises and small enlerprl! 

Ii) Other financial liabilities 11.2 
OtfIer liabilities 13 
Provisions 14 

Tatllllllblllties 

TOTAL EQUITY AND UABIUTIES 

Summnry of s gnlficant accountln6 pOlities 3 
The accompanvlng notes are an Inle8ral part of the financial statements. 

As at March 31, 2023 

0.38 

0.10 
0.48 

5.10 
78.54 
5.39 

10.00 
0.01 
4.84 
0.01 

103.89 

104 •• 

70.00 
19.47 
89.47 

8.01 
8.01 

0.11 
3.52 
2.44 
0·e1 
6.88 

14.89 

104.36 

As per our report of even dale 
For Mis AJ.Katwlll& Co. For and on behalf of Ihe 80ard of Directors of 

MMK Toll ROid Private Limited 

Atul V. Pawlr 
artner 

Membership No.: 150328 

Place: Mumbal 
Dale: 12th May 2023 

CIN : U4S100MH1002PTCI3SS12 

V. D. Mh.lskar 
Chairman 
DIN: 00183554 

Place: Mumbal 
Date: 12th May 2023 

D.K.Joshl 
Chief Execullve Officer 

Kaustubh Shellilde 
Company Secretary 

Iu at March 31, 2022 

0.10 
0.10 

4.01 
81.70 
17.18 

0.12 
12.69 
0.00 

115.71 

115.81 

70.00 
32.66 

102.68 

2.71 
2.71 

0.90 
S.27 
4.12 
0.13 

10.42 

13.13 

115.81 



MMK Toll Road Private Limited 
S"tement 01 Prollt and lou lor the year ended March 31, 2023 

Income 
Revenue from operations 
Other Income 
TOTAL INCOME 

ElqIenses 
Employee benefits expense 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 
Other expenses 
TOTAL EXPENSES 
Profit I (iossl before t •• 

Ta.expenses 
Current tax 
TOTAL TAX EXPENSES 
Profit I (iossl fOl' the yeer 

Other compn!henslve Income 
ttam thlt will not to be redasllfled to praflr Dr loss: 

Re·measurement lalns on deflned beneflt plans (net 01 taxes) 
Other comprehensive Income for the year (nit of III() 
Total comprehensive Income for the year 

Elminp per ~ulty share (of Rs. 10 elChl 
Basic 
Olluted 

Nota No. 

15 
16 

17 
18 
19 

20 

21 

Summary 01 slgninC1'"t accountl". policies 3 
The accompanylns notes Ire an Int.sral Plrt of the flnancla l statements. 

Year ended March 
31,1023 

47.90 
1.13 

49.03 

53.61 
0.00 
6.35 

59.96 

110.93) 

2.42 
1.42 

(13.35) 

0.14 
0.14 

(13.211 

(1.91) 
(1.91) 

(Amounlln mililani 

Year ended March 
31,1022 

36.00 
0.49 

36.49 

28.50 

7.42 
35.91 

0.57 

0 .20 
0.20 
0.37 

0.03 
0.03 
uo 

0.05 
0.05 

For Ind on behalf of the BOlrd of DIrectors of 
MMK Toll Road Prlvllle Umlted 

Place: Mumbal 
Date: 12th May 2023 

CIN : U45200MH2002PTC135512 

V. O. Mhalslcar 
Chakmln 
DIN: 00113554 

~, 
Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbal 
Date: 12th May 2023 

1J. 'o(.::r~J~· 
0 .1t Joshi 

Chief EXecutive OffIcer 

~ 
KIUSlubh Shill vide 
Company Secretary 
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